TESI DI DOTTORATO

GIANPAOLO PISCITELLI

Optimization problems for nonlinear eigenvalues

Dottorato in Scienze Matematiche e Informatiche, Napoli «Federico II» (2017). <http://www.bdim.eu/item?id=tesi_2017_PiscitelliGianpaolo_1>

L'utilizzo e la stampa di questo documento digitale è consentito liberamente per motivi di ricerca e studio. Non è consentito l'utilizzo dello stesso per motivi commerciali. Tutte le copie di questo documento devono riportare questo avvertimento.

bdim (Biblioteca Digitale Italiana di Matematica) SIMAI & UMI http://www.bdim.eu/

Università Degli Studi Di Napoli Federico II



Scuola Politecnica e delle Scienze di Base

Dipartimento di Matematica e Applicazioni "Renato Caccioppoli"

Tesi per il dottorato di ricerca in Scienze Matematiche e Informatiche XXIX Ciclo

Optimization problems for nonlinear eigenvalues

GIANPAOLO PISCITELLI

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

- 1 PRELIMINARIES 1
 - 1.1 Rearrangements
 - 1.2 Convex symmetrization 5

i

2 ANISOTROPIC LAPLACIAN EIGENVALUE PROBLEMS 11

- 2.1 Convex Symmetrization for Anisotropic Elliptic Equations with a lower order term 11
 - 2.1.1 Preliminary results 11
 - 2.1.2 Main result 12
 - 2.1.3 Proof of main Theorem 14
- 2.2 On the second Dirichlet eigenvalue of some nonlinear anisotropic elliptic operators 19
 - 2.2.1 The Dirichlet eigenvalue problem for $-Q_p$ 19
 - 2.2.2 The second Dirichlet eigenvalue of $-Q_p$ 23
 - 2.2.3 The limit case $p \rightarrow \infty$ 26
- 2.3 A sharp weighted anisotropic Poincaré inequality for convex domains 33
 - 2.3.1 Definition and statement of the problem 33
 - 2.3.2 Proof of the Payne-Weinberger inequality 34
- 2.4 The anisotropic ∞-Laplacian eigenvalue problem with Neumann boundary conditions 38
 - 2.4.1 The limiting problem 38
 - 2.4.2 Proof of the Main Result 44
 - 2.4.3 Geometric properties of the first ∞ -eigenvalue 48
- 3 NONLOCAL PROBLEMS 55
 - 3.1 A nonlocal anisotropic eigenvalue problem 55
 - 3.1.1 The first eigenvalue of the nonlocal problem 55
 - 3.1.2 On the First Twisted Dirichlet Eigenvalue 59
 - 3.1.3 The Nonlocal Problem 62
 - 3.2 A saturation phenomenon for a nonlinear nonlocal eigenvalue problem 67
 - 3.2.1 Some properties of the first eigenvalue 67
 - 3.2.2 Changing-sign minimizers 70
 - 3.2.3 Proof of the main results 78

INTRODUCTION

This thesis is mainly focused on the study of some variational problems and elliptic partial differential equations that takes in to account a possible anisotropy. This kind of equations and functional arise from a generalization of the Euclidean case and are studied by means of symmetrization techniques, shape optimization and properties of Finsler metrics. On these questions Alvino, Bellettini, Ferone, Kawohl, Lions, Novaga, Trombetti (see e.g. [2, 4, 10, 12]) have obtained relevant results and later many authors have successifully continued the study of anisotropic eigenvalue problems (we refer for example to [44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50]).

In the first Chapter we recall some definitions and properties of rearrangements referring to [16, 31, 78, 83, 94, 102, 107, 109]. We also introduce some notions of Finsler metrics, the definition of the Wulff shape and some "generalized" definitions and properties of perimeter, total variation, coarea formulas, isoperimetric inequalities [6, 4, 33, 103, 112].

In the second chapter we study geometric properties of the eigenvalues of the anisotropic *p*-Laplacian

$$\mathcal{Q}_p u := \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{1}{p} \nabla_{\xi} F^p(\nabla u)\right),\tag{1}$$

with Dirichlet or Neumann boundary conditions, where *F* is a suitable norm (see Chapther 1 for details) and 1 . In this chapter we study some isoperimetric problems, consisting in optimizing a domain dependent functional while keeping its volume fixed. Among the isoperimetric problems, we are interested in those ones linking the shape of domain to the sequence of its eigenvalue. Their study involves different fields of mathematics (spectral theory, partial differential equations, calculus of variations, shape optimization, rearrangement theory). One of the first question on optimization of eigenvalues appeared in the book of Lord Raylegh "The theory of Sound"(1894). He conjectured that the first Dirichlet eigenvalue of Laplacian (*the first frequency of the fixed membrane*) is minimal for the disk. Thirty years later, Faber [61] and Krahn [86] proved this result with the means of rearrangements techniques, in particular by the Pólya-Szegö inequality [102]. Later Krahn [87], proved that for the second eigenvalue the minimizer is the union of two identic balls.

Minimization of the first nontrivial Neumann eigenvalue of the Laplacian (*the frequencies of the free membrane*) among open sets of a given measure is a trivial problem, since the infimum is zero (even among convex sets). But it is bounded away from zero among convex sets with given diameter (Payne and Weinberger [97]). Moreover, contrary to the first Dirichlet eigenvalue, Szegö [106] (in the plane) and Weinberger [115] (in higher dimensions) proved that balls maximize the first notrivial Neumann eigenvalue among the open sets with given volume.

One of the first attempt to solve a problem with an anisotropic function F, is contained in a paper of Wulff [116] dating back to 1901. However, only in 1944 A. Dinghas [54] proved that the set minimizing a generalized perimeter among open set with fixed volume is set homothetic to the unit ball of F^o , the dual norm of F, i.e.

$$\mathcal{W} := \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n : F^o(x) \le 1 \},\tag{2}$$

that is the so-called Wulff shape, centered in the origin. Moreover, we denote by $W_r(x_0)$ the set $rW + x_0$, that is the Wulff shape centered in x_0 with radius r and we put $W_r := W_r(x_0)$ if no misunderstanding occurs.

This chapter is divided in four Section. In Section 2.1, by means of Schwarz (or spherical) symmetrization, it is possible to obtain comparison results for solutions to linear elliptic problems:

$$-\operatorname{div}(a(x, u, \nabla u)) = f \quad \text{in } \Omega, \quad u \in H^1_0(\Omega)$$
(3)

where

$$a(x,\eta,\xi)\cdot\xi \ge F^2(\xi)$$
 a.e. $x\in\Omega$, $\eta\in\mathbb{R}$, $\xi\in\mathbb{R}^n$. (4)

The authors in [4], using convex symmetrization, estimate a solution of (3) in terms of a function v that solves

$$-\Delta v = f^{\#}$$
 in $\Omega^{\#}$, $v \in H^1_0(\Omega^{\#})$,

where $f^{\#}$ is the spherically decreasing rearrangemetrs of f (i.e. the function such that its level sets are balls which have the same measure as the level sets of f) and $\Omega^{\#}$ is the ball centered in the origin such that $|\Omega^{\#}| = |\Omega|$.

In [99], we have considered a lower order term $b(x, \nabla u)$ for (3), that is

$$-\operatorname{div}(a(x, u, \nabla u)) + b(x, \nabla u) = f \quad \text{in } \Omega, \quad u \in H^1_0(\Omega)$$
(5)

where a satisfies the ellipticity condition (4) and on b we assume that

$$|b(x,\xi)| \le B(x)F(\xi)$$

where B(x) is an integrable function. We have used convex symmetrization, to obtain comparison results with solutions of the convexly symmetric problem

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(F(\nabla v)\nabla F_{\xi}(\nabla v)) + \tilde{b}(F^{o}(x))F(\nabla v)(\nabla F^{o}_{\xi}(x) \cdot \nabla F_{\xi}(\nabla v)) = f^{\star} \text{ in } \Omega^{\star} \\ v \in H^{1}_{0}(\Omega^{\star}), \end{cases}$$

where F^o is polar to F, \tilde{b} is an auxiliary function related to B, f^* is the convex rearrangement of f with respect to F (i.e. the function such that its level sets are Wulff shape which have the same measure as the level sets of f) and Ω^* is the set homothetic to the Wulff shape centered at the origin having the same measure as Ω .

We have obtained the following estimates:

$$u^{\star} \le v \tag{6}$$

$$\int_{\Omega} F^{q}(\nabla u) \le \int_{\Omega^{\star}} F^{q}(\nabla v), \tag{7}$$

where $0 < q \leq 2$ and u^* is the convex rearrangement of u. The proof is based on some differential inequalities for rearranged functions obtained using Schwarz and Hardy inequalities and the properties of homogeneity and convexity of the function F. Finally we consider the case where \tilde{b} is essentially bounded by a constant β ; we compare solutions of (5) with solutions to

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(F(\nabla v)\nabla F_{\xi}(\nabla v)) - \beta F(\nabla v)(\nabla F^{o}_{\xi}(x) \cdot \nabla F_{\xi}(\nabla v)) = f^{\star} \text{ in } \Omega^{\star} \\ v \in H^{1}_{0}(\Omega^{\star}) \end{cases}$$

and we obtain same estimates similar to (6) and (7) of the preceding case.

In Section 2.2, our main aim is to study some properties of the Dirichlet eigenvalues of the anisotropic *p*-Laplacian operator (1). Namely, in [51], we analyze the values λ such that the problem

$$\begin{cases} -\mathcal{Q}_p u = \lambda(p, \Omega) |u|^{p-2} u & \text{in } \Omega\\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(8)

admits a nontrivial solution in $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$. Let us observe that the operator in (1) reduces to the *p*-Laplacian when *F* is the Euclidean norm on \mathbb{R}^n and, for a general norm *F*, \mathcal{Q}_p is anisotropic and can be highly nonlinear. In literature, several papers are devoted to the study of the smallest eigenvalue of (8), denoted by $\lambda_1(p, \Omega)$, in bounded domains, which has the variational characterization

$$\lambda_1(p,\Omega) = \min_{arphi \in W^{1,p}_0(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}} rac{\int_\Omega F^p(
abla arphi) \, dx}{\int_\Omega |arphi|^p \, dx}.$$

Let Ω be a bounded domain (i.e. an open connected set). It is known (see [12]) that $\lambda_1(p, \Omega)$ is simple, the eigenfunctions have constant sign and it is isolated and the only positive eigenfunctions are the first eigenfunctions. Furthermore, the Faber-Krahn inequality holds:

$$\lambda_1(p, \Omega) \geq \lambda_1(p, \Omega^*).$$

Many other results are known for $\lambda_1(p, \Omega)$. The interested reader may refer, for example, to [12, 15, 28, 48, 84]. As matter of fact, also different kind of boundary conditions have been considered as, for example, in the papers [44, 52] (Neumann case), [47] (Robin case).

Among the results contained in the quoted papers, we recall that if Ω is a bounded domain, it has been proved in [15] that

$$\lim_{p\to\infty}\lambda_1(p,\Omega)^{\frac{1}{p}}=\frac{1}{\rho_F(\Omega)},$$

where $\rho_F(\Omega)$ is the radius of the bigger Wulff shape contained in Ω , generalizing a well-known result in the Euclidean case contained in [82].

Actually, very few results are known for higher eigenvalues in the anisotropic case. In [69] the existence of a infinite sequence of eigenvalues is proved, obtained by means of a min – max characterization. As in the Euclidean case, it is not known if this sequence exhausts all the set of the eigenvalues. Here we will show that the spectrum of $-Q_p$ is a closed set, that the eigenfunctions are in $C^{1,\alpha}(\Omega)$ and admit a finite number of nodal domains. We recall the reference [92], where many results for the spectrum of the *p*-Laplacian in the Euclidean case have been summarized.

The core of the result of this Section relies in the study of the second eigenvalue $\lambda_2(p, \Omega), p \in]1, +\infty[$, in bounded open sets, defined as

$$\lambda_2(p,\Omega) := \begin{cases} \min\{\lambda > \lambda_1(p,\Omega) \colon \lambda \text{ is an eigenvalue} \} & \text{if } \lambda_1(p,\Omega) \text{ is simple} \\ \lambda_1(p,\Omega) & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

and in analyzing its behavior when $p \rightarrow \infty$.

First of all, we show that if Ω is a domain, then $\lambda_2(p, \Omega)$ admits exactly two nodal domains. Moreover, for a bounded open set Ω , we prove a sharp lower bound for λ_2 , namely the Hong-Krahn-Szego inequality

$$\lambda_2(p,\Omega) \geq \lambda_2(p,\mathcal{W}),$$

where $\widetilde{\mathcal{W}}$ is the union of two disjoint Wulff shapes, each one of measure $\frac{|\Omega|}{2}$.

In the Euclidean case, such inequality is well-known for p = 2, and it has been recently studied for any 1 in [20].

Finally, we address our attention to the behavior of $\lambda_2(p, \Omega)$ when Ω is a bounded open set and $p \to +\infty$. In particular, we show that

$$\lim_{p\to\infty}\lambda_2(p,\Omega)^{\frac{1}{p}}=\frac{1}{\rho_{2,F}(\Omega)},$$

where $\rho_{2,F}(\Omega)$ is the radius of two disjoint Wulff shapes W_1, W_2 such that $W_1 \cup W_2$ is contained in Ω . Furthermore, the normalized eigenfunctions of $\lambda_2(p, \Omega)$ converge to a function u_∞ that is a viscosity solution to the fully nonlinear elliptic problem:

$$\begin{cases}
A(u, \nabla u, \nabla^2 u) = \min\{F(\nabla u) - \lambda u, -Q_{\infty}u\} = 0 & \text{in } \Omega, \text{ if } u > 0, \\
B(u, \nabla u, \nabla^2 u) = \max\{-F(\nabla u) - \lambda u, -Q_{\infty}u\} = 0 & \text{in } \Omega, \text{ if } u < 0, \\
-Q_{\infty}u = 0 & \text{in } \Omega, \text{ if } u = 0, \\
u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega,
\end{cases}$$
(9)

where

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}u = F^2(\nabla u)(\nabla^2 u \ \nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla u)) \cdot \nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla u).$$
⁽¹⁰⁾

In the Euclidean case, this kind of result has been proved for bounded domains in [81]. We consider both the nonconnected case and general norm F because our aim is twofold: first, to consider the case of a general Finsler norm F; second, to extend also the results known in the case of domains, to the case of nonconnected sets.

In Section 2.3, we consider the set $\mathscr{F}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ of lower semicontinuous functions, positive in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ and positively 1-homogeneous and we denote by $L^p_{\omega}(\Omega)$ the weighted $L^p(\Omega)$ space, where ω is a log concave function.

In a general anisotropic case and for bounded convex domains Ω of \mathbb{R}^n , we prove a sharp lower bound for the optimal constant $\Lambda_{p,\mathcal{F},\omega}(\Omega)$ in the Poincaré-type inequality

$$\inf_{t\in\mathbb{R}}\|u-t\|_{L^p_{\omega}(\Omega)}\leq \frac{1}{[\Lambda_{p,\mathcal{F},\omega}(\Omega)]^{\frac{1}{p}}}\|\mathcal{F}(\nabla u)\|_{L^p_{\omega}(\Omega)},$$

with $1 and <math>\mathcal{F} \in \mathscr{F}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

If \mathcal{F} is the Euclidean norm of \mathbb{R}^n and $\omega = 1$, then $\Lambda(p, \Omega) = \Lambda_{p, \mathcal{E}, \omega}(\Omega)$ is the first nontrivial eigenvalue of the Neumann *p*–Laplacian:

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta_p u = \Lambda(p, \Omega) |u|^{p-2} u & \text{in } \Omega, \\ |\nabla u|^{p-2} \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} = 0 & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$

then for a convex set Ω , it holds that

$$\Lambda(p,\Omega) \geq \left(\frac{\pi_p}{\operatorname{diam}_{\mathcal{E}}(\Omega)}\right)^p,$$

where

$$\pi_p = 2 \int_0^{+\infty} \frac{1}{1 + \frac{1}{p-1}s^p} ds = 2\pi \frac{(p-1)^{\frac{1}{p}}}{p \sin \frac{\pi}{p}}, \qquad \text{diam}_{\mathcal{E}}(\Omega) \text{ Euclidean diameter of } \Omega.$$

For other properties of π_p and of generalized trigonometric functions, we refer to [91].

This estimate, proved in the case p = 2 in [97] (see also [9]), has been generalized the case $p \neq 2$ in [1, 58, 66, 111] and for $p \rightarrow \infty$ in [57, 104]. Moreover the constant $\left(\frac{\pi_p}{\operatorname{diam}_{\mathcal{E}}(\Omega)}\right)^p$ is the optimal constant of the one-dimensional Poincaré-Wirtinger inequality, with $\omega = 1$, on a segment of length diam_{$\mathcal{E}}(\Omega)$. When p = 2 and $\omega = 1$, in [17] an extension of the estimate in the class of suitable non-convex domains has been proved.</sub>

Our aim, in [52], is to prove an analogous sharp lower bound for $\Lambda_{p,\mathcal{F},\omega}(\Omega)$, in a general anisotropic case. More precisely, we prove the following inequality in a bounded convex domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\Lambda_{p,\mathcal{F},\omega}(\Omega) = \inf_{\substack{u \in W^{1,\omega}(\Omega)\\ \int_{\Omega} |u|^{p-2}u\omega\,dx=0}} \frac{\int_{\Omega} \mathcal{F}(\nabla u)^p \omega\,dx}{\int_{\Omega} |u|^p \omega\,dx} \ge \left(\frac{\pi_p}{\operatorname{diam}_{\mathcal{F}}(\Omega)}\right)^p,\tag{11}$$

where diam_{\mathcal{F}}(Ω) = sup_{*x,y* \in \Omega} $\mathcal{F}^{o}(y - x)$, $1 and <math>\omega$ is a positive log-concave function defined in Ω . This result has been proved in the case p = 2 and $\omega = 1$, when \mathcal{F} is a strongly convex, smooth norm of \mathbb{R}^{n} in [113] with a completely different method than the one presented here.

In Section 2.4, we study the limiting problem of the anisotropic *p*-Laplacian eigenvalue with Neumann boundary condition:

$$\begin{cases} -\mathcal{Q}_p u = \Lambda(p,\Omega) |u|^{p-2} u & \text{in } \Omega\\ \nabla_{\zeta} F^p(\nabla u) \cdot v = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(12)

This problem is related to the Payne-Weinberger inequality (11). In [101], we study the the limit as $p \to \infty$ of eigenvalue problem (12), we consider

$$\begin{cases}
A(u, \nabla u, \nabla^2 u) = \min\{F(\nabla u) - \Lambda u, -\mathcal{Q}_{\infty} u\} = 0 & \text{in } \Omega, \text{ if } u > 0, \\
B(u, \nabla u, \nabla^2 u) = \max\{-F(\nabla u) - \Lambda u, -\mathcal{Q}_{\infty} u\} = 0 & \text{in } \Omega, \text{ if } u < 0, \\
-\mathcal{Q}_{\infty} u = 0 & \text{in } \Omega, \text{ if } u = 0, \\
\nabla F(\nabla u) \cdot v = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega,
\end{cases}$$
(13)

where ν is the outer normal to $\partial\Omega$ and Q_{∞} is defined as in (10). In the euclidean case $(F(\cdot) = |\cdot|)$ this problem has been treated in [57, 104]. The solutions of (13) have be treated in viscosity sense and we refer to [32] and references therein for viscosity solutions theory and to [74] for Neumann problems condition in viscosity sense.

Let us observe that for $\Lambda = 0$ problem (13) has trivial solutions.

We prove that all nontrivial eigenvalues Λ of (13) are greater or equal than:

$$\Lambda(\infty,\Omega):=rac{2}{\operatorname{diam}_F(\Omega)}.$$

This result has lots of interesting consequences. The first one is a Szegö-Weinberger inequality for convex sets, i.e. we prove that the Wulff shape Ω^* , that has the same measure of Ω , maximizes the first ∞ -eigenvalue among sets with prescribed measure:

$$\Lambda(\infty,\Omega) \leq \Lambda(\infty,\Omega^{\star}).$$

Then we prove that the first positive Neumann eigenvalue of (13) is never larger than the first Dirichlet eigenvalue of (9):

$$\Lambda(\infty,\Omega) \leq \lambda(\infty,\Omega),$$

and that the equality holds if and only if Ω is a Wulff shape. Finally we prove two important results regarding the geometric properties of the first nontrivial ∞ -eigenfunction. The first one shows that closed nodal domain cannot exist in Ω ; the second one says that the first ∞ -eigenfunction attains its maximum only on the boundary of Ω .

In the third chapter we are interested in variational problems that are called "non-local". This kind of problems are associated to non-standard Euler-Lagrange equations, in particular we consider equations perturbed with an integral term of the unknown function calculated on the entire domain. This kind of equations and functionals leads to a generalization of Sobolev inequality. On one hand, we introduce the non linearity with the means of a convex function *F*, on the other hand we add an integral term that represents the non-locality. Therefore, we study the optimal constant $\lambda(\alpha, \Omega)$ in the following Sobolev-Poincaré inequality:

$$\int_{\Omega} u^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \leq \left[\frac{1}{\lambda(\alpha,\Omega)}\right] \left(\int_{\Omega} (F(\nabla u))^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \alpha \left(\int_{\Omega} u \, \mathrm{d}x\right)^2\right), \quad u \in H^1_0(\Omega).$$

In Section 3.1, we consider the following minimization problem

$$\lambda(\alpha, \Omega) = \inf_{u \in H^1_0(\Omega)} \mathscr{Q}_{\alpha}(u, \Omega)$$
(14)

with

$$\mathscr{Q}_{\alpha}(u,\Omega) = \frac{\int_{\Omega} (F(\nabla u))^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \alpha (\int_{\Omega} u \, \mathrm{d}x)^2}{\int_{\Omega} u^2 \, \mathrm{d}x}$$

where α is a real parameter. In this case, the Euler-Lagrange equation associated to problem (14) presents an integral term calculated over all Ω , indeed the minimization problem (14) leads to the following eigenvalue problem

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(F(\nabla u)\nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla u)) + \alpha \int_{\Omega} u \, \mathrm{d}x = \lambda u & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(15)

In the euclidean case, when $F(\xi) = |\xi|$, problems like the above ones arise, for example, in the study of reaction-diffusion equations describing chemical processes (see [105]). More examples can be found in [19], [29], [43], [70] and [98].

The extension to a general $F(\xi)$ is considered here as it has been made in other contexts to take into account a possible anisotropy of the problem. Typical examples are anisotropic elliptic equations ([4], [12]), anisotropic eigenvalue problems ([47], [48]), anisotropic motion by mean curvature ([10], [11]).

We also observe that, when $\alpha \to +\infty$, problem (14) becomes a twisted problem in the form (see [72] for the euclidean case)

$$\lambda^{T}(\Omega) = \inf_{u \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega)} \left\{ \frac{\int_{\Omega} F^{2}(\nabla u) \, \mathrm{d}x}{\int_{\Omega} u^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x}, \int_{\Omega} u \, \mathrm{d}x = 0 \right\}.$$

As in [72], we prove the following isoperimetric inequality

$$\lambda^T(\Omega) \geq \lambda^T(\mathcal{W}_1 \cup \mathcal{W}_2),$$

where W_1 and W_2 are two disjoint Wulff shape, each one with measure $|\Omega|/2$.

Now, our principal objective consists in finding an optimal domain Ω which minimizes $\lambda(\alpha, \cdot)$ among all bounded open sets with a given measure. If we denote with κ_n the measure of W, in the local case ($\alpha = 0$) we have a Faber-Krahn type inequality

$$\lambda(0,\Omega) \geq \lambda(0,\Omega^{\star}) = \frac{\kappa_n^{2/n} j_{n/2-1,1}}{|\Omega|^{2/n}},$$

where $j_{\nu,1}$ is the first positive zero of $J_{\nu}(z)$, the ordinary Bessel function of order ν , and Ω^* is the Wulff shape centered at the origin with the same measure of Ω . Hence, when α vanishes, the optimal domain is a Wulff shape. We show that the non local term affects the minimizer of problem (14) in the sense that, up to a critical value of α , the minimizer is again a Wulff shape, but, if α is big enough, the minimizer becomes the union of two disjoint Wulff shapes of equal radii. This is a consequence of the fact that the problem (14) have an unusual rescaling with respect to the domain. Indeed, we have

$$\lambda(\alpha, t\Omega) = \frac{1}{t^2} \lambda(t^{n+2}\alpha, \Omega),$$

which, for $\alpha = 0$, becomes

$$\lambda(0,t\Omega) = \frac{1}{t^2}\lambda(0,\Omega),$$

that is the rescaling in the local case. Therefore we show that we have a Faber-Krahn-type inequality only up to a critical value. Above this, we show a saturation phenomenon (see [71] for another example), that is the estimate cannot be improved and the optimal value remains constant. More precisely, in [100] we prove, for every $n \ge 2$, that, for every bounded, open set Ω in \mathbb{R}^n and for every real number α , it holds

$$\lambda(\alpha,\Omega) \geq \begin{cases} \lambda(\alpha,\Omega^{\star}) & \text{if } \alpha |\Omega|^{1+2/n} \leq \alpha_{c}, \\ \frac{2^{2/n} \kappa_{n}^{2/n} j_{n/2-1,1}^{2}}{|\Omega|^{2/n}} & \text{if } \alpha |\Omega|^{1+2/n} \geq \alpha_{c}, \end{cases}$$

where

$$\alpha_{c} = \frac{2^{3/n} \kappa_{n}^{2/n} j_{n/2-1,1}^{3} J_{n/2-1,1} (2^{1/n} j_{n/2-1,1})}{2^{1/n} j_{n/2-1,1} J_{n/2-1} (2^{1/n} j_{n/2-1,1}) - n J_{n/2} (2^{1/n} j_{n/2-1,1})}$$

If equality sign holds when $\alpha |\Omega|^{1+2/n} < \alpha_c$ then Ω is a Wulff shape, while if inequality sign holds when $\alpha |\Omega|^{1+2/n} > \alpha_c$ then Ω is the union of two disjoint Wulff shapes of equal measure. In Figure 1 we illustrate the transition between the two minimizers.



The continuous line represents the minimum of $\lambda(\alpha, \Omega)$, among the open bounded sets of measure κ_n , as a function of α .

In Section 3.2, we consider the following one-dimensional problem:

$$\lambda(\alpha,q) = \inf\left\{\mathcal{Q}[u,\alpha], \ u \in H_0^1(-1,1), \ u \neq 0\right\},\tag{16}$$

where $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $1 \leq q \leq 2$ and

$$\mathcal{Q}[u,\alpha] := \frac{\int_{-1}^{1} |u'|^2 dx + \alpha \left| \int_{-1}^{1} |u|^{q-1} u \, dx \right|^{\frac{2}{q}}}{\int_{-1}^{1} |u|^2 dx}.$$

Let us observe that $\lambda(\alpha, q)$ is the optimal value in the inequality

$$\lambda(\alpha,q)\int_{-1}^{1}|u|^{2}dx\leq\int_{-1}^{1}|u'|^{2}dx+\alpha\left|\int_{-1}^{1}|u|^{q-1}u\,dx\right|^{\frac{2}{q}}.$$

which holds for any $u \in H_0^1(-1, 1)$. Moreover, in the local case ($\alpha = 0$), this inequality reduces to the classical one-dimensional Poincaré inequality; in particular,

$$\lambda(0,q) = \frac{\pi^2}{4}$$

for any *q*.

The minimization problem (16) leads, in general, to a nonlinear nonlocal eigenvalue problem. Indeed, supposing $\int_{-1}^{1} y|y|^{q-1} dx \ge 0$, the associated Euler-Lagrange equation is

$$\begin{cases} -y'' + \alpha \left(\int_{-1}^{1} y |y|^{q-1} dx \right)^{\frac{2}{q}-1} |y|^{q-1} = \lambda(\alpha, q) y \text{ in }] -1, 1[\\ y(-1) = y(1) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Our purpose, in [53], is to study some properties of $\lambda(\alpha, q)$. In particular, depending on α and q, we aim to prove symmetry results for the minimizers of (16).

Under this point of view, in the multidimensional case ($N \ge 2$) the problem has been settled out in [19] (when q = 1) and in [43] (when q = 2).

We show that the nonlocal term affects the minimizer of problem (16) in the sense that it has constant sign up to a critical value of α and, for α larger than the critical value, it has to change sign, and a saturation effect occurs. For $1 \le q \le 2$, we prove that there exists a positive number α_q such that, if $\alpha < \alpha_q$, then $\lambda(\alpha, q) < \pi^2$, and any minimizer y of $\lambda(\alpha, q)$ has constant sign in] - 1, 1[. If $\alpha \ge \alpha_q$, then $\lambda(\alpha, q) = \pi^2$. Moreover, if $\alpha > \alpha_q$, the function $y(x) = \sin \pi x$, $x \in [-1, 1]$, is the only minimizer, up to a multiplicative constant, of $\lambda(\alpha, q)$. Hence it is odd, $\int_{-1}^{1} |y(x)|^{q-1}y(x) dx = 0$, and $\overline{x} = 0$ is the only point in] - 1, 1[such that $y(\overline{x}) = 0$.

Furthermore, we analyze the behaviour of the minimizers for the critical value $\alpha = \alpha_q$. If q = 1, we have $\alpha_1 = \frac{\pi^2}{2}$. Moreover, if $\alpha = \alpha_1$, there exists a positive minimizer of $\lambda(\alpha_1, 1)$, and for any $\overline{x} \in]-1, 1[$ there exists a minimizer y of $\lambda(\alpha_1, 1)$ which changes sign in \overline{x} , non-symmetric and with $\int_{-1}^{1} y(x) dx \neq 0$ when $\overline{x} \neq 0$. If $1 < q \leq 2$ and $\alpha = \alpha_q$, then $\lambda(\alpha_q, q)$ in [-1, 1] admits both a positive minimizer and the minimizer $y(x) = \sin \pi x$, up to a multiplicative constant. Hence, any minimizer has constant sign or it is odd. Let us observe that, for any $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, it holds that

$$\lambda(\alpha,q)\leq\Lambda_q=\pi^2,$$

where

$$\Lambda_q := \min\left\{\frac{\int_{-1}^1 |u'|^2 dx}{\int_{-1}^1 |u|^2 dx}, \ u \in H_0^1(-1,1), \ \int_{-1}^1 |u|^{q-1} u \, dx = 0, \ u \neq 0\right\}.$$
(17)

It is known that, when $q \in [1, 2]$, then $\Lambda_q = \Lambda_1 = \pi^2$, and the minimizer of (17) is, up to a multiplicative constant, $y(x) = \sin \pi x$, $x \in [-1, 1]$ (see for example [34]).

Problems with prescribed averages of u and boundary value conditions have been studied in several papers. We refer the reader, for example, to [13, 27, 34, 55, 56, 75, 95]. In recent literature, also the multidimensional case has been adressed (see, for example [18, 72, 35, 36, 96]).

Finally, I wish to express my deep gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Vincenzo Ferone, for his valuable teaching during my three years work under his guidance. I am grateful to Cristina Trombetti, Carlo Nitsch, Francesco Della Pietra and Nunzia Gavitone for their helpful suggestions during the preparation of the present thesis. I gratefully acknowledge Professor Bernd Kawohl for all the useful scientific advices and for the support that he gave me at the time of my stay in Cologne.

1 | PRELIMINARIES

1.1 REARRANGEMENTS

Let Ω be a measurable and not negligible subset of \mathbb{R}^n . We denote with $|\Omega|$ its *n*-dimensional Lebesgue measure. Let $\mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ the space of real matrices, we denote the matrix product between two matrices $A, B \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ by (AB). Let $\xi, \zeta \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we denote the scalar product between ξ and ζ by $\xi \cdot \zeta$. We recall some definitions and properties of rearrangements (we refer to [31, 65, 85, 83]).

Definition 1.1. Let $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ be a measurable function. We define the distribution function of u as the map $\mu : [0, \infty[\to [0, \infty[$ such that

$$\mu(t) := |\{x \in \Omega : |u(x)| > t\}|.$$
(18)

Such function represents the measure of the level sets of u and satisfies the following properties.

Proposition 1.2. Let μ defined as in (18), then

- 1. $\mu(\cdot)$ is monotone decreasing;
- 2. $\mu(0) = |\operatorname{supp} u|;$
- 3. supp $\mu = [0, \text{ess sup } |u|];$
- 4. $\mu(\cdot)$ is right-continuous;
- 5. $\mu(t^{-}) \mu(t) = |\{x \in \Omega : |u(x)| = t\}|.$

Proof. Properties (1), (2) and (3) follows immediately from the definition. To prove (4) and (5), let us observe that

$$\{x \in \Omega : |u(x)| > t\} = \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} \left\{x \in \Omega : |u(x)| > t + \frac{1}{k}\right\}$$

and

$$\left\{x\in\Omega:|u(x)|>t\right\}=\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty}\left\{x\in\Omega:|u(x)|>t-\frac{1}{k}\right\}.$$

Therefore

$$\mu(t^+) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \left| \left\{ x \in \Omega : |u(x)| > t + \frac{1}{k} \right\} \right| = \mu(t),$$

and

$$\mu(t^{-}) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \left| \left\{ x \in \Omega : |u(x)| > t + \frac{1}{k} \right\} \right| = \mu(t) + \left| \left\{ x \in \Omega : |u(x)| = t \right\} \right|.$$

We stress that the distribution function μ is discontinuous only for the value t such that $|\{x \in \Omega : |u(x)| = t\}| \neq 0$.

Definition 1.3. Let $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ be a measurable function. We define the decreasing rearrangement of u as the map $u^* : [0, \infty[\to [0, \infty[$ such that

$$u^*(s) = \sup\{t > 0 : \mu(t) > s\}.$$

The decreasing rearrangements is a "generalization" of the inverse of μ in the sense that u^* is the distribution function of μ . Therefore u^* satisfies the following:

- 1. u^* is monotone decreasing;
- 2. u^* is right-continuous;
- 3. $u^*(0) = \operatorname{ess\,sup} u;$
- 4. supp $u^* = [0, | \operatorname{supp} u |];$
- 5. $u^*(\mu(t)) \le t$ and $\mu(u^*(s)) \le s$.

Definition 1.4. Let u and $v : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ two measurable function, we say that u and v are equimisurable *if they have the same distribution function*.

Proposition 1.5. *The functions* $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ *and* $u^* : [0, |\Omega|] \to [0, \infty[$ *are equimisurable, that is for all* $t \ge 0$ *,*

$$|\{x \in \Omega : |u(x)| > t\}| = |\{s \in [0, |\Omega|] : u^*(s) > t\}|.$$
⁽¹⁹⁾

Proof. By the definition of u^* , it follows that

if
$$u^*(s) > t$$
, then $s < \mu(t)$;
if $u^*(s) \le t$, then $s \ge \mu(t)$.

Hence we have

$${s \ge 0: u^*(s) > t} = [0, \mu(t)],$$

that gives (19).

Proposition 1.6. Let $u \in L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ and $1 \le p \le \infty$, then $u^* \in L^p(0, |\Omega|)$, and

$$||u||_{L^{p}(\Omega)} = ||u^{*}||_{L^{p}(0,|\Omega|)}.$$
(20)

Proof. If $p < \infty$, then, by Cavalieri's principle we have

$$\int_{\Omega} u^p \, dx = \int_0^{+\infty} \mu(t) d(t^p).$$

Hence (20) follows from Proposition 1.5. If $p = \infty$, the result follows from the definition of rearrangement.

Corollary 1.7. Let $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ be a measurable function, we have

$$|\{x \in \Omega : |u(x)| \ge t\}| = |\{s \in [0, |\Omega|] : u^*(s) \ge t\}|.$$
(21)

$$|\{x \in \Omega : |u(x)| < t\}| = |\{s \in [0, |\Omega|] : u^*(s) < t\}|.$$
(22)

$$|\{x \in \Omega : |u(x)| \le t\}| = |\{s \in [0, |\Omega|] : u^*(s) \le t\}|.$$
(23)

Proof. Since (23) is equivalent to (19) and (21) is equivalent to (22), then it is sufficient to prove that (19) and (21) are equivalent. Indeed, being

$$\lim_{h \to 0^+} |\{x \in \Omega : |u(x)| > t + h\}| = |\{x \in \Omega : |u(x)| > t\}|$$

and

$$\lim_{h\to 0^+} |\{x\in\Omega: |u(x)| > t-h\}| = |\{x\in\Omega: |u(x)| \ge t\}|,\$$

we get the thesis.

Definition 1.8. We denote by $\Omega^{\#}$ the ball centered in the origin having the same measure as Ω . Let $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$, we define the sferically decreasing rearrangement or Schwarz symmetrization of u, as the map $u^{\#} : \Omega^{\#} \to [0, \infty[$ such that

$$u^{\#}(x) = u^*(\omega_n |x|^n), \quad x \in \Omega^{\#},$$

where ω_n is the measure of the unit ball in \mathbb{R}^n , namely

$$\omega_n = \frac{\pi^{\frac{n}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{n}{2}+1\right)}.$$

For other details we refer to [83]. Now we state the following Theorem, which says that a function in $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ is also in $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega^{\#})$ and that the L^p -norm of the gradient decreases under the effect of rearrangement.

Theorem 1.9. If $u \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $1 \leq p < +\infty$, is a nonnegative function with compact support, then $u^{\#}W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u^{\#}|^p \, dx \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u|^p \, dx$$

To introduce the notion of perimeter given by De Giorgi in [42], we define the bounded variation function. For these results we mainly refer to [63, 60, 7, 117]. We denote by $\mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ the σ -algebra of all Borel subsets of Ω .

Definition 1.10. Let $\nu : \mathcal{B}(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}^k$ a vector-valued Radon measure on Ω , we define the total variation of ν in Ω by

$$|\nu|(\Omega) = \sup\left\{\sum_{i=1}^k \int_{\Omega} \varphi(x) \, d\nu_i(x) \; : \; \varphi \in C_0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^k), \; ||\varphi||_{\infty} \leq 1\right\}.$$

Definition 1.11. Let $u \in L^1(\Omega)$, we say that u is a function with bounded variation in Ω , shortly a BV function, if there exists a Radon measure λ with values in \mathbb{R}^n such that for any i = 1, ..., n and any $\varphi \in C_0^1(\Omega)$

$$\int_{\Omega} u \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x_i} \, dx = - \int_{\Omega} \varphi \, d\lambda_i.$$

The measure λ is also called the *measure derivative* of u and is denoted by the symbol Du. By $BV(\Omega)$ we denote the vector space of functions with bounded variations in Ω . This space can be endowed with the norm $||u||_{BV(\Omega)} = ||u||_{L^1(\Omega)} + |Du|(\Omega)$, thus becoming a Banach space. We mainly use the following characterization of the BV functions.

Theorem 1.12. Let $u \in L^1(\Omega)$. Then $u \in BV(\Omega)$ if and only if

$$V = \sup\left\{\int_{\Omega} u(x)\operatorname{div}\varphi(x)\,dx \; : \; \varphi \in C_0^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^n), ||\varphi||_{\infty} \le 1\right\} < \infty.$$
(24)

Moreover the supremum V in (24) is equal to the total variation $|Du|(\Omega)$ of Du in Ω .

We recall that a sequence ν_h of Radon measures is said to converge weakly* to a Radon measure ν if $\lim_{h\to\infty} \sum_{i=1}^k \int_{\Omega} \varphi_i d(\nu_h)_i = \sum_{i=1}^k \int_{\Omega} \varphi_i d\nu_i$ for any $\varphi \in C_c(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^k)$. Moreover a sequence u_h in $BV(\Omega)$ converges weakly* to a $BV(\Omega)$ function u if $u_h \to u$ in $L^1(\Omega)$ and Du_h converges to Du weakly* in Ω in the sense of measures. The following approximation theorem states that we can approximate the BV functions by smooth functions in the weak* convergence sense.

Theorem 1.13. Let $u \in BV(\Omega)$. Then, there exists a sequence $\{u_h\}_{h \in \mathbb{N}} \subset C^{\infty}(\Omega) \cap BV(\Omega)$ such that

$$u_h \to u \text{ weakly}^* \text{ in } BV(\Omega), \qquad \lim_{h \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_h| \, dx = |Du|(\Omega)$$

Proof. We give the result in the case $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$. The general case is proved using the same methods, only with some extra technicalities. Let ρ be a positive, radially symmetric function with compact support in B_1 , such that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \rho \, dx = 1$. For all $\varepsilon > 0$, we set $\rho_{\varepsilon}(x) = \varepsilon^{-n} \rho(\frac{x}{\varepsilon})$ and

$$u_{\varepsilon}(x) = (u * \rho_{\varepsilon})(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \rho_{\varepsilon}(x-y)u(y) \, dy.$$

By the properties of mollified functions, we have that $u_{\varepsilon} \to u$ in $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Moreover, for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$

$$\frac{\partial u_{\varepsilon}}{\partial x_{i}}(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} u(y) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \rho_{\varepsilon}(x-y) \, dy = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} u(y) \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{i}} \rho_{\varepsilon}(x-y) \, dy = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \rho_{\varepsilon}(x-y) \, dD_{i}u(y),$$
(25)

for i = 1, ..., n. Now we fix $\varphi \in C_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$, with $||\varphi||_{\infty} \leq 1$ and, from (25), we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi \cdot \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \, dx = -\sum_{i=1}^n \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi_i(x) \, dx \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \rho_{\varepsilon}(x-y) dD_i u(y)$$
$$= -\sum_{i=1}^n \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \, dD_i u(y) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \rho_{\varepsilon}(x-y) \varphi_i(x) \, dx = -\sum_{i=1}^n \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\varphi_i * \rho_{\varepsilon})(y) \, dD_i u(y)$$

Since also $||\varphi * \rho_{\varepsilon}||_{\infty} \leq 1$, we can take the supremum over all such functions φ to obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u_{\varepsilon}| \, dx \le |Du|(\mathbb{R}^n). \tag{26}$$

Therefore the measures $\nabla u_{\varepsilon} dx$ converge weakly* to the measure Du and thus, by the lower semicontinuity of the total variation, we have

$$|Du|(\mathbb{R}^n) \leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u_\varepsilon| \, dx.$$

This inequality, together with (26), concludes the proof.

Now we give the definition of perimeter.

Definition 1.14. Let *E* be a measurable subset of \mathbb{R}^n and Ω an open set. The perimeter of *E* in Ω is defined by the quantity

$$P(E;\Omega) = \sup\left\{\int_E \operatorname{div} \varphi \, dx \, : \, \varphi \in C_0^1(\Omega;\mathbb{R}^n), \, ||\varphi||_{\infty} \leq 1\right\}.$$

If $P(E; \Omega) < \infty$, we say that *E* is a set of finite perimeter in Ω .

We recall that by the use of Theorem 1.13 we have the following approximation result for sets of finite perimeter. We shall write simply P(E) to denote the perimeter of E in \mathbb{R}^n .

Theorem 1.15. Let *E* be a set of finite perimeter in \mathbb{R}^n with $|E| < \infty$. Then, there exists a sequence of bounded open sets E_h with C^{∞} boundaries, such that $\chi_{E_h} \to \chi_E$ in $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $P(E_h) \to P(E)$.

Finally we state the isoperimetric inequality (we refer to [73, 108]).

Theorem 1.16. Let $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a set of finite perimeter with finite measure. Then,

$$P(E) \ge n\omega_n^{\frac{1}{n}} |E|^{1-\frac{1}{n}}.$$

Proof. By Theorem 1.13 we can approximate χ_E by a sequence of function such that

$$u_h(x) \to \chi_E(x) \text{ a.e } x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u_h| \, dx \to |D\chi_E|(\mathbb{R}^n) = P(E).$$

Then follows immediately by the classical Sobolev imbedding Theorem

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u_h| \ dx \ge n \omega_n^{\frac{1}{n}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |u_h|^{\frac{n}{n-1}} \ dx \right)^{\frac{n}{n-1}}.$$

1.2 CONVEX SYMMETRIZATION

Throughout this thesis we will consider a convex even 1-homogeneous function (see also [2, 4, 33, 103])

$$\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \mapsto F(\xi) \in [0, +\infty[,$$

that is a convex function such that

$$F(t\xi) = |t|F(\xi), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}, \, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{27}$$

and such that

$$a|\xi| \le F(\xi), \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{28}$$

for some constant 0 < a. Under this hypothesis it is easy to see that there exists $b \ge a$ such that

$$F(\xi) \leq b|\xi|, \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Moreover, we assume that

$$\nabla^2_{\xi}[F^p](\xi)$$
 is positive definite in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$, (29)

with 1 .

The hypothesis (29) on F assures that the operator

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{p}}[u] := \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{1}{p}\nabla_{\xi}[F^{p}](\nabla u)\right)$$

is elliptic, hence there exists a positive constant γ such that

$$\frac{1}{p}\sum_{i,j=1}^{n}\nabla_{\xi_i\xi_j}^2[F^p](\eta)\xi_i\xi_j \ge \gamma|\eta|^{p-2}|\xi|^2,$$

for some positive constant γ , for any $\eta \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ and for any $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

Remark 1.17. We stress that for $p \ge 2$ the condition

$$abla^2_{\xi}[F^2](\xi)$$
 is positive definite in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$,

implies (29).

The polar function $F^{o} \colon \mathbb{R}^{n} \to [0, +\infty[$ of *F* is defined as

$$F^o(v) = \sup_{\xi
eq 0} rac{\xi \cdot v}{F(\xi)}.$$

It is easy to verify that also F^o is a convex function which satisfies properties (27) and (28). Furthermore,

$$F(v) = \sup_{\xi \neq 0} \frac{\xi \cdot v}{F^o(\xi)}.$$

From the above property it holds that

$$\xi \cdot \eta \le F(\xi) F^o(\eta), \qquad \forall \xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(30)

The set

$$\mathcal{W} = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \colon F^o(\xi) < 1\}$$

is the so-called Wulff shape centered at the origin. We put

 $\kappa_n = |\mathcal{W}|,$

where $|\mathcal{W}|$ denotes the Lebesgue measure of \mathcal{W} . More generally, we denote with $\mathcal{W}_r(x_0)$ the set $r\mathcal{W} + x_0$, that is the Wulff shape centered at x_0 with measure $\kappa_n r^n$, and $\mathcal{W}_r(0) = \mathcal{W}_r$.

The following properties of F and F^{o} hold true (see for example [11]):

$$\nabla_{\xi} F(\xi) \cdot \xi = F(\xi), \quad \nabla_{\xi} F^{o}(\xi) \cdot \xi = F^{o}(\xi), \tag{31}$$

$$F(\nabla_{\xi}F^{o}(\xi)) = F^{o}(\nabla_{\xi}F(\xi)) = 1, \quad \forall \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus \{0\},$$
(32)

$$F^{o}(\xi)\nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla_{\xi}F^{o}(\xi)) = F(\xi)\nabla_{\xi}F^{o}(\nabla_{\xi}F(\xi)) = \xi \qquad \forall \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus \{0\},$$
(33)

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \nabla_{\xi_i \xi_j}^2 F(\xi) \xi_j = 0, \quad \forall \ i = 1, ..., n.$$
(34)

Definition 1.18. Let $u \in BV(\Omega)$, we define the total variation of u with respect to F as

$$\int_{\Omega} |Du|_F = \sup\left\{\int_{\Omega} u \operatorname{div} \sigma \, dx \, : \, \sigma \in C_0^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^n), F^o(\sigma) \leq 1\right\}$$

and the perimeter of a set E with respect to F:

$$P_F(E;\Omega) = \int_{\Omega} |D\chi_E|_F = \sup\left\{\int_E \operatorname{div} \sigma \, dx \, : \, \sigma \in C^1_0(\Omega;\mathbb{R}^n), F^o(\sigma) \le 1\right\}$$

These definition yields to the following co-area formula

$$\int_{\Omega} |Du|_F = \int_0^{\infty} P_F(\{u > s\}; \Omega) \, ds \quad \forall u \in BV(\Omega)$$

and to the equality

$$P_F(E;\Omega) = \int_{\Omega \cap \partial^* E} F(\nu^E) \ d\mathbb{H}^{n-1}(x),$$

where $\partial^* E$ is the reduced boundary of *E* and ν^E is the outer normal to *E* (see also [6]).

Definition 1.19. We denote by Ω^* the Wulff shape centered in the origin having the same measure as Ω . Let $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$, we define the (decreasing) convex rearrangement of u (see [4]) as the map $u^* : \Omega^* \to [0, \infty[$, such that

$$u^{*}(x) = u^{*}(\kappa_{n}(F^{o}(x))^{n}).$$
(35)

By definition it holds

$$||u||_{L^{p}(\Omega)} = ||u^{\star}||_{L^{p}(\Omega^{\star})}, \text{ for } 1 \leq p \leq +\infty.$$

Furthermore, when *u* coincides with its convex rearrangement, we have (see [4])

$$\nabla u^{\star}(x) = u^{\star'}(\kappa_n(F^o(x))^n)n\kappa_n(F^o(x))^{n-1}\nabla_{\xi}F^o(x);$$
(36)

$$F(\nabla u^{\star}(x)) = -u^{\star'}(\kappa_n(F^o(x))^n)n\kappa_n(F^o(x))^{n-1};$$
(37)

$$\nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla u^{\star}(x)) = \frac{x}{F^o(x)}.$$
(38)

Now, we recall here a result about a Pólya-Szegö principle related to H (we refer to [4], [22]) in the equality case (see [59], [64] for further details).

Proposition 1.20. Let $u \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$, $p \ge 1$. Then $u^* \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$

$$\int_{\Omega} (F(\nabla u))^2 \, dx \ge \int_{\Omega^*} (F(\nabla u^*))^2 \, ds.$$
(39)

Furthermore, if u satisfies the equality in (39)*, then, for a.e.* $t \in [0, \operatorname{ess} \sup u]$ *, the set* $\{x \in \Omega : u(x) > t\}$ *is equivalent to a Wulff shape.*

Proposition 1.21. Let *E* be a subset of \mathbb{R}^n . Then $P_F(E; \Omega)$ is finite if and only if the usual perimeter $P(E; \Omega)$ is finite. Moreover we have

$$\alpha P(E;\Omega) \leq P_F(E;\Omega) \leq \beta P(E;\Omega).$$

Proof. By (27) and (28), we have

$$\frac{1}{\beta}|\xi| \leq F^o(\xi) \leq \frac{1}{\alpha}|\xi|, \quad \forall \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

and hence the result follows.

To show an isoperimetric inequality which estimate from below the perimeter with respect to a gauge function F of a set E, we give the following approximation results.

Proposition 1.22. Let $u \in BV(\Omega)$. A sequence $\{u_h\}_{h \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ exists, such that:

$$\lim_{h\to\infty}\int_{\Omega}|u_h-u|=0$$

and

$$\lim_{h\to\infty}\int_{\Omega}|Du_h|_F=\int_{\Omega}|Du|_F.$$

Proof. By mollifying u, we define a sequence $\{u_h\}_{h \in \mathbb{N}}$ with the required properties following the proof of Theorem 1.17 of [76].

Proposition 1.23. Let *E* be a set of finite perimeter in Ω . There exists a sequence $\{E_h\}_{h\in\mathbb{N}}$ of C^{∞} sets such that:

$$\lim_{h\to\infty}\int_{\Omega}|\chi_{E_h}-\chi_E|=0$$

and

$$\lim_{h\to\infty}\int_{\Omega}|D\chi_{E_h}|_F=P_F(E;\Omega)$$

Proof. We find the proof in [4]. We mollify the function χ_E as in Proposition 1.22, hence we find a sequence $\{f_h\}_{h\in\mathbb{N}} \subset C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ such that:

$$\lim_{h\to\infty}\int_{\Omega}|f_h-\chi_E|=0$$

and

$$\lim_{h\to\infty}\int_{\Omega}|Df_h|_F=P_F(E;\Omega).$$

By the coarea formula we have

$$\int_{\Omega} |u_h|_F = \int_0^1 P_F(\{u_h > s\}; \Omega) ds.$$

Sard's theorem implies that the sets $E_s^{(h)} = \{u_h > s\}$ have C^{∞} boundary for almost every $s \in (0, 1)$ and We consider only such levels *s*. Let us fix $\varepsilon \in]0, \frac{1}{4}[$ and $h = h(\varepsilon)$ such that:

$$\int_{\Omega} |f_h - \chi_E| < \varepsilon.$$

Arguing as in [93, Lemma 2, p.299], we get

$$\int_{\Omega} |\chi_E - \chi_{E_s^{(h)}}| < \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}},\tag{40}$$

for every $s \in [\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}, 1 - \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}]$. On the other hand, for every *h* there exists $s_h \in (\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}, 1 - \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})$ such that:

$$(1 - 2\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})P_F(E_{s_h}^{(h)};\Omega) \le \int_0^1 P_F(E_t^{(h)};\Omega) \, dt.$$
(41)

Moreover we have

$$P_F(E;\Omega) = \lim_{h \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} |Df_h|_F = \lim_{h \to \infty} \int_0^1 P_F(E_t^{(h)};\Omega) dt.$$
(42)

By (40), it follows that $\chi_{E_{S_{L}}^{(h)}} \rightarrow \chi_{E}$ in $L^{1}(\Omega)$ and by (41) and (42) we have

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon\to 0} P_F(E_{s_h}^{(h)};\Omega) \leq P_F(E;\Omega).$$

Since P_F is lower semicontinuous, the result follows.

We observe that if $u \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$ then

$$\int_{\Omega} |Du|_F = \int_{\Omega} F(\nabla u) \, dx$$

and it holds

$$-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{u>t}|\nabla u|_F\,dx=P_F(\{u>t\};\Omega).$$
(43)

Another important result that has been generalized to the anisotropic case is the isoperimetric inequality [41, 67, 68].

Proposition 1.24. *If E is a set of finite perimeter in* \mathbb{R}^n *, then:*

$$P_F(E;\mathbb{R}^n) \ge n\kappa_n^{\frac{1}{n}} |E|^{1-1/n}.$$
(44)

Proof. If *E* is a smooth set, then in [26] is proved the following

$$P_F(E;\mathbb{R}^n) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |D\chi_E|_F = \int_E F(\nu^E) \, d\sigma \ge n\kappa_n^{\frac{1}{n}} |E|^{1-1/n},\tag{45}$$

where v^E is the outer normal to *E*. Then by Proposition 1.23 and (45), the result follows.

Now, we recall the useful definitions of anisotropic distance, diameter and inradius. We define the anisotropic distance function (or *F*-distance) to $\partial\Omega$ as

$$d_F(x) := \inf_{y \in \partial \Omega} F^o(x-y), \quad x \in \overline{\Omega},$$

and the anisotropic inradius as

$$\rho_F := \max\{d_F(x), x \in \overline{\Omega}\}.$$

We denote the diameter diam_{*F*} of Ω with respect to the norm *F* on \mathbb{R}^n as

$$\operatorname{diam}_{F}(\Omega) := \sup_{x,y\in\overline{\Omega}} F^{o}(x-y).$$
(46)

It will be useful in the sequel an anisotropic version of the isodiametric inequality.

Proposition 1.25. Let Ω be a convex set in \mathbb{R}^n . Then

$$|\Omega| \le \frac{\kappa_n}{2^n} \operatorname{diam}_F(\Omega)^n. \tag{47}$$

The equality sign holds if and only if Ω *is equivalent to a Wulff shape.*

Proof. We want prove that

$$rac{\mathrm{diam}_F(\Omega)^n}{|\Omega|} \geq rac{2^n}{\kappa_n} = rac{\mathrm{diam}_F(\mathcal{W})^n}{|\mathcal{W}|}.$$

We argue similarly as in [24, Th 11.2.1]. Firstly, we observe that from definitions, it follows that Ω has the same anisotropic diameter of its convex envelope, but it has a lower or equal volume. Hence, if we denote by Ω^{C} the convex envelope of Ω , we have that

$$\frac{\operatorname{diam}_{F}(\Omega)^{n}}{|\Omega|} \ge \frac{\operatorname{diam}_{F}(\Omega^{C})^{n}}{|\Omega^{C}|}.$$
(48)

Therefore, we can suppose that Ω is a convex set and we prove that the minimum of the right hand side of (48) is reached by a Wulff shape.

Let us suppose that diam_{*F*} $\Omega \leq 1$, we denote by Ω' the set that is symmetric to Ω with respect to the origin and put $B := (\Omega + \Omega')/2$. The function $|t\Omega + (1 - t)\Omega'|^{1/n}$, $0 \leq t \leq 1$, is concave so that $|\Omega| = |\Omega'| \leq |B|$ and the equality sign holds only if Ω is homothetic to Ω' , i.e. if Ω has a center of symmetry. Let us call *a* and *b* the point that realize the diameter of *B*: $F^o(a - b) = \text{diam}_F B$. Now, a = x + x'/2, b = y + y'/2, where $x, y \in \Omega$ and $x', y' \in \Omega'$, hence:

$$F^{o}(a-b) = \frac{1}{2}F^{o}(x+x'-y-y') \leq \frac{1}{2}\left(F^{o}(x-y)+F^{o}(x'-y')\right)$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{diam}_{F}\Omega + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{diam}_{F}\Omega'$$

and therefore diam_{*F*} $B \leq 1$. Now, it is sufficient to assume that Ω has a center of symmetry. But then diam_{*F*}(Ω) ≤ 1 implies that Ω is contained in Wulff shape of unit diameter, i.e. $|\Omega| \leq \kappa_n/2^n$. This in turn implies (47).

Finally we observe that, in general, *F* and *F*^o are not rotational invariant. Anyway, let us consider $A \in SO(n)$ and define

$$F_A(x) = F(Ax).$$

Since $A^T = A^{-1}$, then

$$(F_A)^o(\xi) = \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}} \frac{x \cdot \xi}{F_A(x)} = \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}} \frac{A^T y \cdot \xi}{F(y)} = \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}} \frac{y \cdot A\xi}{F(y)} = (F^o)_A(\xi).$$

Moreover, we also have

$$\operatorname{diam}_{F_A}(A^T\Omega) = \sup_{x,y \in A^T\Omega} (F^o)_A(y-x) = \sup_{\bar{x},\bar{y} \in \Omega} F^o(\bar{y}-\bar{x}) = \operatorname{diam}_F(\Omega).$$

2 ANISOTROPIC LAPLACIAN EIGENVALUE PROBLEMS

In this chapther we analyze some properties of the eigenvalues of the anisotropic p-Laplacian operator

$$-\mathcal{Q}_p u := -\operatorname{div}\left(F^{p-1}(\nabla u)\nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla u)\right),\tag{49}$$

where *F* is a suitable smooth norm of \mathbb{R}^n and $p \in]1, +\infty]$. We provide sharp estimates for eigenvalues of $\mathcal{Q}_p u$ with both Dirichlet and Neumann boundary condition.

2.1 CONVEX SYMMETRIZATION FOR ANISOTROPIC ELLIPTIC EQUA-TIONS WITH A LOWER ORDER TERM

2.1.1 Preliminary results

In this Section, we estimate the solution of the eigenvalue problem of the anisotropic Laplacian with a lower order term, when Dirichlet boundary condition holds. We obtain comparison results with solutions of the convexly symmetric problem:

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(F(\nabla v)\nabla F(\nabla v)) - \tilde{b}(F^{o}(x))(\nabla F^{o}(x) \cdot \nabla F(\nabla v))F(\nabla v) = f^{\star} \text{ in } \Omega^{\star} \\ v = 0 \text{ in } \partial\Omega^{\star} \end{cases}$$
(50)

where \tilde{b} is a suitable auxiliary function (see further for details). Firstly, we give three Lemmas, that are basic for our treatment.

Lemma 2.1. If u is any member of $H_0^1(\Omega)$, then

$$\frac{1}{n^2 \kappa_n^{\frac{2}{n}}} \mu(t)^{\frac{2}{n}-2} \left[-\mu'(t)\right] \left[-\frac{d}{dt} \int_{|u|>t} F^2(\nabla u)\right] \ge 1$$
(51)

for a.e. t such that $0 < t < ess \sup |u|$.

Proof. For h > 0, Schwarz inequality gives

$$\frac{1}{h} \int_{t < |u| \le t+h} F(\nabla u) \le \frac{1}{h} \left(\int_{t < |u| \le t+h} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{t < |u| \le t+h} F^2(\nabla u) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

and

$$\frac{1}{h} \int_{t < |u| \le t+h} F(\nabla u) \le \left(\frac{1}{h} (\mu(t) - \mu(t+h))\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{1}{h} \int_{t < |u| \le t+h} F^2(\nabla u)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Therefore, as $h \to 0^+$, we obtain

$$-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}F(\nabla u)\leq \left(-\mu'(t)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}F^{2}(\nabla u)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

By (44) and (43), we have

$$n\kappa_n^{1/n}\mu(t)^{1-\frac{1}{n}} \leq \sqrt{-\mu'(t)} \left(-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}F^2(\nabla u)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Then squaring and dividing by $n^2 \kappa_n^{2/n} \mu(t)^{2-\frac{2}{n}}$, we obtain (51).

Lemma 2.2.

$$\int_{E} |f| \leq \int_{0}^{|E|} f^*(s) \ ds$$

for any measurable set E.

This Lemma is a special case of a theorem by Hardy and Littlewood (*see* [78], Theorem 378).

Lemma 2.3. *If* φ *is bounded and*

$$\varphi(t) \leq \int_t^{+\infty} K(s)\varphi(s) \, ds + \psi(t)$$

for a.e. t > 0, then

$$\varphi(t) \leq \int_{t}^{+\infty} \exp\left(\int_{t}^{s} K(r) dr\right) (-d\psi(s))$$

for a.e. t > 0. Here K is any nonnegative integrable function, ψ has bounded variation and vanishes at $+\infty$.

Lemma 2.3 is a generalization of Gronwall's lemma.

2.1.2 Main result

In this section we discuss our main result. It consists in showing that a solution to (5) can be compared in term of a solution to (50), where the function \tilde{b} is known as a pseudo rearrangement of B(x). It can be defined as

$$\tilde{b}\left(\left(\frac{s}{\kappa_n}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}\right) = \left(\frac{d}{ds}\int_{|u|>u^*(s)}B^2(x)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}},\tag{52}$$

We refer to [5] and [107] for further details.

Theorem 2.4. Let $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ be a solution to the problem

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(a(x, u, \nabla u)) + b(x, \nabla u) = f & \text{in } \Omega\\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \end{cases}$$
(53)

where $a(x, \eta, \xi) \equiv \{a_i(x, \eta, \xi)\}_{i=1,\dots,n}$ are Carathéodory functions satisfying

$$a(x,\eta,\xi)\cdot\xi \ge F^2(\xi) \quad a.e. \quad x \in \Omega, \quad \eta \in \mathbb{R}, \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(54)

and $b(x,\xi)$ is such that:

$$|b(x,\xi)| \le B(x)F(\xi),\tag{55}$$

where $B \in L^{k}(\Omega)$, with k > n. We assume further that $f \in L^{\frac{2n}{n+2}}(\Omega)$ if $n \ge 3$; $f \in L^{p}(\Omega)$, p > 1, if n = 2; $F : \mathbb{R}^{n} \to [0, \infty[$ is a convex function satisfying (27)-(28). Then

$$u^{\star} \le v \tag{56}$$

$$\int_{\Omega} F^{q}(\nabla u) \le \int_{\Omega^{\star}} F^{q}(\nabla v) \tag{57}$$

with $0 < q \leq 2$, and

$$v(x) = \int_{F^{o}(x)}^{\left(\frac{|\Omega|}{\kappa_{n}}\right)^{1/n}} \frac{1}{t^{n-1}} dt \int_{0}^{t} \exp\left(\int_{t}^{r} \tilde{b}(r') dr'\right) f^{*}(\kappa_{n}r^{n})r^{n-1} dr.$$
(58)

where \tilde{b} is defined as in (52).

Remark 2.5. The function in (58) is convexly symmetric, in the sense that $v(x) = v^*(x)$. Indeed the function

$$v^{*}(s) = \int_{s}^{|\Omega|} \frac{1}{n^{2} \kappa_{n}^{2/n}} t^{\frac{2}{n}-2} dt \int_{0}^{t} \exp\left(\int_{\left(\frac{r}{\kappa_{n}}\right)^{1/n}}^{\left(\frac{t}{\kappa_{n}}\right)^{1/n}} \tilde{b}(r') dr'\right) f^{*}(r) dr$$

is decreasing and $v(x) = v^*(\kappa_n(F^o(x))^n)$. We observe that v(x) is a solution in $H^1_0(\Omega^*)$ to the problem

$$\begin{cases} -div(F(\nabla v)\nabla F(\nabla v)) - \tilde{b}(F^{o}(x))(\nabla F^{o}(x) \cdot \nabla F(\nabla v))F(\nabla v) = f^{\star} \text{ in } \Omega^{\star} \\ v = 0 & \text{ on } \partial\Omega^{\star}. \end{cases}$$
(59)

In fact, if we define $\rho = F^o(x)$ and we look for a solution such that $v(\rho) = v(F^o(x))$, we obtain

$$\nabla v = v'(\rho) \nabla_{\xi} F^o(x), \tag{60}$$

$$F(\nabla v) = -v'(\rho)F(\nabla_{\xi}F^{o}(x)) = -v'(\rho), \tag{61}$$

$$\nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla v) = \nabla_{\xi} F(v'(\rho) \nabla_{\xi} F^o(x)) = \nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla_{\xi} F^o(x)) = \frac{x}{F^o(x)}.$$
(62)

A direct computation gives

$$\begin{aligned} -div(F(\nabla v)\nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla v)) &- \tilde{b}(F^{o}(x))F(\nabla v)\nabla_{\xi}F^{o}(x)\cdot\nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla v) \\ &= -v''(\rho) - \frac{n-1}{\rho}v'(\rho) + \tilde{b}(F^{o}(x))v'(\rho). \end{aligned}$$

Using (58), we can write:

$$v(\rho) = \int_{\rho}^{\left(\frac{|\Omega|}{\kappa_n}\right)^{1/n}} \frac{1}{t^{n-1}} dt \int_0^t \exp\left(\int_{\rho}^t g(r') dr'\right) f^*(\kappa_n r^n) r^{n-1} dr$$
(63)

and we have:

$$-v''(\rho) - \frac{n-1}{\rho}v'(\rho) + \tilde{b}(F^{o}(x))v'(\rho) = f^{\star}(\rho).$$
(64)

Collecting (63) and (64) we obtain that the function in (58) solves (59).

Remark 2.6. We can compute $\int_{\Omega^*} F^q(\nabla v)$. By (61) we have

$$[F(\nabla v(x))]^{q} = [v'(\rho)]^{q} = \left[-\frac{1}{\rho^{n-1}}\int_{0}^{\rho}\exp\left(\int_{r}^{\rho}\tilde{b}(r')dr'\right)f^{*}(\kappa_{n}r^{n})r^{n-1}dr\right]^{q}$$

where $\rho = F^{o}(x)$. An integration by the substitution $s = \kappa_{n}r^{n}$ gives

$$[F(\nabla v(x))]^q = \left[-\frac{1}{n\kappa_n\rho^{n-1}}\int_0^{\kappa_n\rho^n}\exp\left(\int_{\left(\frac{s}{\kappa_n}\right)^{1/n}}^{\rho}\tilde{b}(r')dr'\right)f^*(s)ds\right]^q,$$

therefore, by an integration on Ω^* , we have

$$\int_{\Omega^{\star}} [F(\nabla v(x))]^{q}$$

= $\int_{0}^{|\Omega|} \left[-\frac{1}{n\kappa_{n}\rho^{n-1}} \int_{0}^{\kappa_{n}\rho^{n}} \exp\left(\int_{\left(\frac{s}{\kappa_{n}}\right)^{1/n}}^{\rho} \tilde{b}(r')dr'\right) f^{*}(s)ds \right]^{q} d\rho.$

Hence, by the sustitution $\tau = \kappa_n \rho^n$ *, we have*

$$\int_{\Omega^*} [F(\nabla v(x))]^q$$

$$= \int_0^{|\Omega|} \left[-\frac{1}{n\kappa_n^{1/n}} \tau^{\frac{1}{n}-1} \int_0^\tau \exp\left(\int_{\left(\frac{s}{\kappa_n}\right)^{1/n}}^{\left(\frac{\tau}{\kappa_n}\right)^{1/n}} \tilde{b}(r')dr'\right) f^*(s)ds \right]^q d\tau$$

Theorem 2.7. Let $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ be a solution to problem (53) under the assumption (54). Furthermore we suppose that (55) holds with

$$||B||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} = \beta \leq \infty;$$

 $f \in L^{\frac{2n}{n+2}}(\Omega)$ if $n \ge 3$; $f \in L^p(\Omega)$, p > 1, if n = 2; $F : \mathbb{R}^n \to [0, \infty[$ is a convex function satisfying (27)-(28).

Then (56) and (57) holds with

$$v(x) = \int_{F^{o}(x)}^{\left(\frac{|\Omega|}{\kappa_{n}}\right)^{1/n}} \frac{1}{t^{n-1}} dt \int_{0}^{t} e^{\beta(r-t)} f^{*}(\kappa_{n}r^{n}) r^{n-1} dr.$$
(65)

Remark 2.8. The function v(x) in (65) is a solution in $H_0^1(\Omega^*)$ to the problem

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(F(\nabla v)\nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla v)) - \beta F(\nabla v)\nabla_{\xi}F^{o}(x) \cdot \nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla v) = f^{\star} \text{ in } \Omega^{\star} \\ v = 0 & \text{ on } \partial\Omega^{\star}. \end{cases}$$

The proof of Theorem 2.7 is similar to that of Theorem 2.4 and it can be obtained from it considering the function B(x) *as a constant.*

2.1.3 Proof of main Theorem

Let us start by proving a preliminary result about the function \tilde{b} (see [107]).

Lemma 2.9. If \tilde{b} is defined by (52), then

$$\left(-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}B^2(x)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} = \sqrt{-\mu'(t)}\,\tilde{b}\left(\left(\frac{\mu(t)}{\kappa_n}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}\right) \tag{66}$$

and

$$-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}B(x)F(\nabla u) \le \left(-\frac{d}{dt}\int_0^{\left(\frac{\mu(t)}{\kappa_n}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}}\tilde{b}(r)dr\right)\left(-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}F^2(\nabla u)\right)$$
(67)

for almost every $t \in [0, \operatorname{ess} \sup_{\Omega} |u|]$ *.*

Proof. Let p(t) and q(s) be the integrals of B(x) over $\{|u| > t\}$ and $\{|u| > u^*(s)\}$ respectively, hence $p'(t) = q'(\mu(t))\mu'(t)$ for almost every $t \in [0, \operatorname{ess} \sup_{\Omega} u]$. So equality (66) is proved.

By Hölder inequality, we have

$$-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}B(x)F(\nabla u)\leq \left(-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}B(x)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}F^{2}(\nabla u)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

by (66) we obtain

$$-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}B(x)F(\nabla u)\leq \sqrt{-\mu'(t)}\,\,\tilde{b}\left(\left(\frac{\mu(t)}{\kappa_n}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}\right)\left(-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}F^2(\nabla u)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

hence, by Lemma 2.1,

$$\begin{aligned} -\frac{d}{dt} \int_{|u|>t} B(x) F(\nabla u) \\ &\leq -\mu'(t) \frac{\mu(t)^{\frac{1}{n}-1}}{n\kappa_n^{1/n}} \, \tilde{b}\left(\left(\frac{\mu(t)}{\kappa_n}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}\right) \left(-\frac{d}{dt} \int_{|u|>t} F^2(\nabla u)\right), \end{aligned}$$

that is equal to the right-hand side of (67).

Proof of Theorem 2.4. Suppose *u* is a weak solution of problem (53), then

$$\int_{\Omega} a(x, u, \nabla u) \cdot \nabla \varphi + \int_{\Omega} b(x, \nabla u) \varphi = \int_{\Omega} f \varphi, \qquad \forall \varphi \in H_0^1(\Omega).$$
(68)

For h > 0, t > 0, let φ be the following test function

$$\varphi_h(x) = \begin{cases} h, & \text{if } |u| > t + h \\ |u| - t, & \text{if } t < |u| \le t + h \\ 0, & \text{if } |u| \le t, \end{cases}$$

then

$$\nabla_i \varphi_h(x) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } |u| > t + h \\ \nabla_i u, & \text{if } t < |u| \le t + h \\ 0, & \text{if } |u| \le t. \end{cases}$$

Inserting this test function in (68), we have

$$\int_{t<|u|\leq t+h} a(x,u,\nabla u) \cdot \nabla u + \int_{|u|>t+h} b(x,\nabla u)h$$

= $\int_{|u|>t+h} fh + \int_{t<|u|\leq t+h} (f - b(x,\nabla u))(|u| - t) \operatorname{sign} u.$

The last term is smaller than $\int_{t < |u| \le t+h} (f - b(x, \nabla u))(|u| - t)$ and, by hypothesis (54) and (55), we have

$$\int_{t < |u| \le t+h} F^{2}(\nabla u) - h \int_{|u| > t+h} B(x) F(\nabla u) \le \int_{|u| > t+h} fh + \int_{t < |u| \le t+h} (f - b(x, \nabla u))(|u| - t).$$
(69)

Dividing each term by *h*, as $h \rightarrow 0^+$, (69) becomes

$$-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}F^2(\nabla u) - \int_{|u|>t}B(x)F(\nabla u) \le \int_{|u|>t}f_{u},$$

and, by Lemma 2.2,

$$-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}F^{2}(\nabla u) - \int_{|u|>t}B(x)F(\nabla u) \le \int_{0}^{\mu(t)}f^{*}(s)ds.$$
(70)

Now, we can write

$$\int_{|u|>t} B(x)F(\nabla u) = \int_t^{+\infty} \left(-\frac{d}{ds} \int_{|u|>s} B(x)F(\nabla u)\right) ds$$

and hence, by Lemma 2.9, we have

$$\int_{|u|>t} B(x)F(\nabla u) \leq \int_{t}^{+\infty} \left(-\frac{d}{dt} \int_{0}^{\left(\frac{\mu(t)}{\kappa_{n}}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}} \tilde{b}(r)dr \right) \left(-\frac{d}{ds} \int_{|u|>s} F^{2}(\nabla u) \right) ds.$$
(71)

Inserting (71) in (70) we obtain

$$-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}F^{2}(\nabla u)$$

$$\leq \int_{t}^{+\infty} \left(-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{0}^{\left(\frac{\mu(t)}{\kappa_{n}}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}}\tilde{b}(r)dr\right) \left(-\frac{d}{ds}\int_{|u|>s}F^{2}(\nabla u)\right)ds + \int_{0}^{\mu(t)}f^{*}(s)ds$$

Now we can use Lemma 2.3 with $\varphi(t) = -\frac{d}{dt} \int_{|u|>t} F^2(\nabla u)$. We have

$$-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}F^2(\nabla u) \leq \int_t^{+\infty} \exp\left(\int_t^s -\frac{d}{dr}\int_0^{\left(\frac{\mu(r)}{\kappa_n}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}}\tilde{b}(r')dr'\right)\left[-d\psi(s)ds\right],$$

where $\psi(s) = \int_0^{\mu(s)} f^*(\xi) d\xi$. Using the substitution $\rho = \mu(s)$ and $\sigma = \mu(r)$, we obtain

$$-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}F^{2}(\nabla u) \leq \int_{0}^{\mu(t)} \exp\left(\int_{\left(\frac{\sigma}{\kappa_{n}}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}}^{\left(\frac{\mu(t)}{\kappa_{n}}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}}\tilde{b}(\rho)d\rho\right)f^{*}(\sigma)d\sigma.$$
(72)

Inequality (72) and Lemma 2.1 give

$$1 \leq \frac{1}{n^2 \kappa_n^{2/n}} \mu(t)^{\frac{2}{n}-2} (-\mu'(t)) \int_0^{\mu(t)} \exp\left(\int_{\left(\frac{\sigma}{\kappa_n}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}}^{\left(\frac{\mu(t)}{\kappa_n}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}} \tilde{b}(\rho) d\rho\right) f^*(\sigma) d\sigma.$$

for a.e. $t \in [0, ess \sup |u|]$, then integration of both sides with respect to t over the interval $[0, u^*(s)]$ yields

$$u^*(s) \le \int_s^{|\Omega|} dt \frac{1}{n^2 \kappa_n^{2/n}} t^{\frac{2}{n}-2} \int_0^t \exp\left(\int_{\left(\frac{\sigma}{\kappa_n}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}}^{\left(\frac{t}{\kappa_n}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}} \tilde{b}(\rho) d\rho\right) f^*(\sigma) d\sigma \tag{73}$$

From formula (58), we learn that $v^*(s)$ is the right-hand side of (73), so (56) is satisfied. In order to prove (57), we observe that Hölder inequality gives

$$\frac{1}{h} \int_{t < |u| \le t+h} F^q(\nabla u) \le \left(\frac{1}{h} \int_{t < |u| \le t+h} dx\right)^{1-\frac{q}{2}} \left(\frac{1}{h} \int_{t < |u| \le t+h} F^2(\nabla u)\right)^{\frac{q}{2}}$$

and hence, for $t \to 0^+$,

$$-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}F^{q}(\nabla u) \le \left(-\mu'(t)\right)^{1-\frac{q}{2}} \left(-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}F^{2}(\nabla u)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$
(74)

provided that $0 < q \le 2$. Lemma 2.1 gives

$$\left[-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}F^{2}(\nabla u)\right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq \frac{1}{n\kappa_{n}^{1/n}}\mu(t)^{\frac{1}{n}-1}(-\mu'(t))^{\frac{1}{2}}\left[-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}F^{2}(\nabla u)\right],$$

hence by inequality (72)

$$\left[-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|u|>t}F^{2}(\nabla u)\right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq \frac{1}{n\kappa_{n}^{1/n}}\mu(t)^{\frac{1}{n}-1}(-\mu'(t))^{\frac{1}{2}}\int_{0}^{\mu(t)}\exp\left(\int_{\left(\frac{\sigma}{\kappa_{n}}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}}^{\left(\frac{\mu(t)}{\kappa_{n}}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}}\tilde{b}(\rho)d\rho\right)f^{*}(\sigma)d\sigma.$$
(75)

Coupling (75) with (74)

$$\begin{aligned} &-\frac{d}{dt} \int_{|u|>t} F^{q}(\nabla u) \\ &\leq (-\mu'(t))^{1-q/2} \left[\left(-\frac{d}{dt} \int_{|u|>t} F^{2}(\nabla u) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right]^{q} \\ &\leq (-\mu'(t))^{1-q/2} \\ &\left[\frac{1}{n\kappa_{n}^{(1/n)}} \mu(t)^{\frac{1}{n}-1} (-\mu'(t))^{\frac{1}{2}} \int_{0}^{\mu(t)} \exp\left(\int_{\left(\frac{\sigma}{\kappa_{n}}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}}^{\left(\frac{\mu(t)}{\kappa_{n}}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}} \tilde{b}(\rho) d\rho \right) f^{*}(\sigma) d\sigma \right]^{q}. \end{aligned}$$

Consequently

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega} F^{q}(\nabla u) \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{|\Omega|} -\mu'(t) \\ & \left[\frac{1}{n\kappa_{n}^{(1/n)}} \mu(t)^{\frac{1}{n}-1} \int_{0}^{\mu(t)} \exp\left(\int_{\left(\frac{\sigma}{\kappa_{n}}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}}^{\left(\frac{\mu(t)}{\kappa_{n}}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}} \tilde{b}(\rho) d\rho \right) f^{*}(\sigma) d\sigma \right]^{q} dt, \end{split}$$

and hence, by the substitution $\tau = \mu(t)$,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} F^{q}(\nabla u) \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{|\Omega|} \left[\frac{1}{n\kappa_{n}^{(1/n)}} \tau^{\frac{1}{n}-1} \int_{0}^{\tau} \exp\left(\int_{\left(\frac{\sigma}{\kappa_{n}}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}}^{\left(\frac{\sigma}{\kappa_{n}}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}} \tilde{b}(\rho) d\rho \right) f^{*}(\sigma) d\sigma \right]^{q} d\tau \\ &= \int_{\Omega^{\star}} F^{q}(\nabla v), \end{split}$$

so the theorem is proved.

2.2 ON THE SECOND DIRICHLET EIGENVALUE OF SOME NONLIN-EAR ANISOTROPIC ELLIPTIC OPERATORS

2.2.1 The Dirichlet eigenvalue problem for $-Q_v$

In this Section, we study the second eigenvalue $\lambda_2(p, \Omega)$ of the anisotropic *p*-Laplacian operator (49) with Dirichlet condition:

$$\begin{cases} -\mathcal{Q}_{p} u = \lambda(p, \Omega) |u|^{p-2} u & \text{in } \Omega \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

We provide a lower bound of $\lambda_2(p, \Omega)$ among bounded open sets of given measure, showing the validity of a Hong-Krahn-Szego type inequality. Furthermore, we investigate the limit problem as $p \to +\infty$. Firstly, we recall the following

Definition 2.10. *A domain of* \mathbb{R}^n *is a connected open set.*

Here we state the eigenvalue problem for Q_p . Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^n , $n \ge 2, 1 , and consider the problem$

$$\begin{cases} -\mathcal{Q}_{p} u = \lambda |u|^{p-2} u & \text{in } \Omega \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$
(76)

Definition 2.11. We say that $u \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$, $u \neq 0$, is an eigenfunction of (76), if

$$\int_{\Omega} F^{p-1}(\nabla u) \nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla u) \cdot \nabla \varphi \, dx = \lambda \int_{\Omega} |u|^{p-2} u\varphi \, dx \tag{77}$$

for all $\varphi \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$. The corresponding real number λ is called an eigenvalue of (76).

Obviously, if *u* is an eigenfunction associated to λ , then

$$\lambda = \frac{\int_{\Omega} F^p(\nabla u) \, dx}{\int_{\Omega} |u|^p \, dx} > 0$$

The first eigenvalue

Among the eigenvalues of (76), the smallest one, denoted here by $\lambda_1(p, \Omega)$, has the following well-known variational characterization:

$$\lambda_1(p,\Omega) = \min_{\varphi \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\int_{\Omega} F^p(\nabla \varphi) \, dx}{\int_{\Omega} |\varphi|^p \, dx}.$$
(78)

In the following theorems its main properties are recalled.

Theorem 2.12. If Ω is a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^n , $n \ge 2$, there exists a function $u_1 \in C^{1,\alpha}(\Omega) \cap C(\overline{\Omega})$ which achieves the minimum in (78), and satisfies the problem (76) with $\lambda = \lambda_1(p, \Omega)$. Moreover, if Ω is connected, then $\lambda_1(p, \Omega)$ is simple, that is the corresponding eigenfunctions are unique up to a multiplicative constant, and the first eigenfunctions have constant sign in Ω .

Proof. The proof can be immediately adapted from the case of Ω connected and we refer the reader, for example, to [89, 12].

Theorem 2.13. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^n , $n \ge 2$. Let $u \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ be an eigenfunction of (76) associated to an eigenvalue λ . If u does not change sign in Ω , then there exists a connected component Ω_0 of Ω such that $\lambda = \lambda_1(p, \Omega_0)$ and u is a first eigenfunction in Ω_0 . In particular, if Ω is connected then $\lambda = \lambda_1(p, \Omega)$ and a constant sign eigenfunction is a first eigenfunction.

Proof. If Ω is connected, a proof can be found in [89, 47]. Otherwise, if $u \ge 0$ in Ω disconnected, by the maximum principle u must be either positive or identically zero in each connected component of Ω . Hence there exists a connected component Ω_0 such that u coincides in Ω_0 with a positive eigenfunction relative to λ . By the previous case, $\lambda = \lambda_1(p, \Omega_0)$ and the proof is completed.

Here we list some other useful and interesting properties that can be proved in a similar way than the Euclidean case.

Proposition 2.14. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^n , $n \geq 2$, the following properties hold.

- 1. For t > 0 it holds $\lambda_1(p, t\Omega) = t^{-p}\lambda_1(p, \Omega)$.
- 2. If $\Omega_1 \subseteq \Omega_2 \subseteq \Omega$, then $\lambda_1(p, \Omega_1) \ge \lambda_1(p, \Omega_2)$.
- 3. For all $1 we have <math>p[\lambda_1(p, \Omega)]^{1/p} < s[\lambda_1(s, \Omega)]^{1/s}$.

Proof. The first two properties are immediate from (78). As regards the third property, the inequality derives from the Hölder inequality, similarly as in [90]. Indeed, taking $\phi = |\psi|^{\frac{s}{p}-1}\psi, \psi \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega) \cap L^{\infty}(\Omega), \psi \ge 0$, we have by (27) that

$$[\lambda_1(p,\Omega)]^{\frac{1}{p}} \leq \frac{s}{p} \left(\frac{\int_{\Omega} |\psi|^{s-p} F^p(\nabla \psi) dx}{\int_{\Omega} |\psi|^s dx} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \leq \frac{s}{p} \left(\frac{\int_{\Omega} F^s(\nabla \psi) dx}{\int_{\Omega} |\psi|^s dx} \right)^{\frac{1}{s}}$$

By minimizing with respect to ψ , we get the thesis.

In addition, the Faber-Krahn inequality for $\lambda_1(p, \Omega)$ holds.

Theorem 2.15. Let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^n , $n \ge 2$, then

$$|\Omega|^{p/N}\lambda_1(p,\Omega) \ge \kappa_N^{p/N}\lambda_1(p,\mathcal{W}).$$
(79)

Moreover, equality sign in (79) holds if Ω is homothetic to the Wulff shape.

The proof of this inequality, contained in [12], is based on a symmetrization technique introduced in [4] (see [59, 64] for the equality cases).

Using the previous result we can prove the following property of $\lambda_1(p, \Omega)$.

Proposition 2.16. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n , $n \geq 2$. The first eigenvalue of (76), $\lambda_1(p, \Omega)$, is isolated.

Proof. We argue similarly as in [92]. For completeness we give the proof. For convenience we write λ_1 instead of $\lambda_1(p, \Omega)$. Let $\lambda_k \neq \lambda_1$ a sequence of eigenvalues such that

$$\lim_{k\to+\infty}\lambda_k=\lambda_1$$

Let u_k be a normalized eigenfunction associated to λ_k that is,

$$\lambda_k = \int_{\Omega} F^p(\nabla u_k) \, dx \quad \text{and} \quad \int_{\Omega} |u_k|^p \, dx = 1$$
 (80)

By (80), there exists a function $u \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ such that, up to a subsequence

$$u_k \to u$$
 in $L^p(\Omega)$ $\nabla u_k \rightharpoonup \nabla u$ weakly in $L^p(\Omega)$.

By the strong convergence of u_k in $L^p(\Omega)$ and, recalling that *F* is convex, by weak lower semicontinuity, it follows that

$$\int_{\Omega} |u|^p dx = 1$$
 and $\int_{\Omega} F^p(\nabla u) dx \leq \lim_{k \to \infty} \lambda_k = \lambda_1.$

Hence, *u* is a first eigenfunction. On the other hand, being u_k not a first eigenfunction, by Theorem 2.13 it has to change sign. Hence, the sets $\Omega_k^+ = \{u_k > 0\}$ and $\Omega_k^- = \{u_k < 0\}$ are nonempty and, as a consequence of the Faber-Krahn inequality and of Theorem 2.13, it follows that

$$\lambda_k = \lambda_1(p, \Omega_k^+) \ge \frac{C_{n,F}}{|\Omega_k^+|^{\frac{p}{n}}}, \qquad \lambda_k = \lambda_1(p, \Omega_k^-) \ge \frac{C_{n,F}}{|\Omega_k^-|^{\frac{p}{n}}}.$$

This implies that both $|\Omega_k^+|$ and $|\Omega_k^-|$ cannot vanish as $k \to +\infty$ and finally, that u_k converges to a function u which changes sign in Ω . This is in contradiction with the characterization of the first eigenfunctions, and the proof is completed.

Higher eigenvalues

First of all, we recall the following result (see [69, Theorem 1.4.1] and the references therein), which assures the existence of infinite eigenvalues of $-Q_p$. We use the following notation. Let S^{n-1} be the unit Euclidean sphere in \mathbb{R}^n , and

$$M = \{ u \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega) \colon \int_{\Omega} |u|^p dx = 1 \}.$$
(81)

Moreover, let C_n be the class of all odd and continuous mappings from S^{n-1} to M. Then, for any fixed $f \in C_n$, we have $f : \omega \in S^{n-1} \mapsto f_\omega \in M$.

Proposition 2.17. *Let* Ω *be a bounded open set of* \mathbb{R}^n *, for any* $k \in \mathbb{N}$ *, the value*

$$\tilde{\lambda}_k(p,\Omega) = \inf_{f \in \mathcal{C}_n} \max_{\omega \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}} \int_{\Omega} F^p(\nabla f_\omega) dx$$

is an eigenvalue of $-Q_p$. Moreover,

$$0 < \tilde{\lambda}_1(p,\Omega) = \lambda_1(p,\Omega) \le \tilde{\lambda}_2(p,\Omega) \le \ldots \le \tilde{\lambda}_k(p,\Omega) \le \tilde{\lambda}_{k+1}(p,\Omega) \le \ldots,$$

and

$$\tilde{\lambda}_k(p,\Omega) \to \infty \text{ as } k \to \infty.$$

Hence, we have at least a sequence of eigenvalues of $-Q_p$. Furthermore, the following proposition holds.

Proposition 2.18. Let Ω be a bounded open set of \mathbb{R}^n . The spectrum of $-\mathcal{Q}_p$ is a closed set.
Proof. Let λ_k be a sequence of eigenvalues converging to $\mu < +\infty$ and let u_k be the corresponding normalized eigenfunctions, that is such that $||u_k||_{L^p(\Omega)} = 1$. We have to show that μ is an eigenvalue of $-Q_p$.

We have that

$$\int_{\Omega} F^{p-1}(\nabla u_k) \nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla u_k) \cdot \nabla \varphi dx = \lambda_k \int_{\Omega} |u_k|^{p-2} u_k \varphi \, dx \tag{82}$$

for any test function $\varphi \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$. Since

$$\lambda_k = \int_{\Omega} F^p(\nabla u_k) \, dx,$$

and being λ_k a convergent sequence, up to a subsequence we have that there exists a function $u \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ such that $u_k \to u$ strongly in $L^p(\Omega)$ and $\nabla u_k \to \nabla u$ weakly in $L^p(\Omega)$. Our aim is to prove that u is an eigenfunction relative to λ .

Choosing $\varphi = u_k - u$ as test function in the equation solved by u_k , we have

$$\int_{\Omega} (F^{p-1}(\nabla u_k) \nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla u_k) - F^{p-1}(\nabla u) \nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla u)) \cdot \nabla (u_k - u) dx$$

= $\lambda_k \int_{\Omega} |u_k|^{p-2} u_k (u_k - u) dx - \int_{\Omega} F^{p-1}(\nabla u) \nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla u) \cdot \nabla (u_k - u) dx.$

By the strong convergence of u_k and the weak one of ∇u_k , the right-hand side of the above identity goes to zero as *k* diverges. Hence

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} (F^{p-1}(\nabla u_k) \nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla u_k) - F^{p-1}(\nabla u) \nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla u)) \cdot \nabla (u_k - u) dx = 0$$

By nowadays standard arguments, this limit implies the strong convergence of the gradient, hence we can pass to the limit under the integral sign in (82) to obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} F^{p-1}(\nabla u) F_{\xi}(\nabla u) \cdot \nabla \varphi \, dx = \lambda \int_{\Omega} |u|^{p-2} u \varphi \, dx$$

This shows that λ is an eigenvalue and the proof is completed.

Finally, we list some properties of the eigenfunctions, well-known in the Euclidean case (see for example [92, 3]). Recall that a nodal domain of an eigenfunction u is a connected component of $\{u > 0\}$ or $\{u < 0\}$.

Proposition 2.19. Let p > 1, and let Ω be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^n . Then the following facts hold.

- (i) Any eigenfunction of $-Q_p$ has only a finite number of nodal domains.
- (ii) Let λ be an eigenvalue of $-Q_p$, and u be a corresponding eigenfunction. The following estimate holds:

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \le C_{n,p,F} \lambda^{\frac{n}{p}} \|u\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)}$$

$$\tag{83}$$

where $C_{n,p,F}$ is a constant depending only on n, p and F.

(iii) All the eigenfunctions of (1) are in $C^{1,\alpha}(\Omega)$, for some $\alpha \in (0,1)$.

Proof. Let λ be an eigenvalue of $-Q_p$, and u a corresponding eigenfunction.

In order to prove (*i*), let us denote by Ω_j^+ a connected component of the set $\Omega^+ := \{u > 0\}$. Being $\lambda = \lambda_1(\Omega_i^+)$, then by (79)

$$|\Omega_i^+| \geq C_{n,p,F} \lambda^{-\frac{n}{p}}.$$

Then, the thesis follows observing that

$$|\Omega| \geq \sum_{j} |\Omega_{j}^{+}| \geq C_{n,p,F} \lambda^{-\frac{n}{p}} \sum_{j} 1.$$

In order to prove (*ii*), let k > 0, and choose $\varphi(x) = \max\{u(x) - k, 0\}$ as test function in (77). Then

$$\int_{A_k} F^p(\nabla u) \, dx = \lambda \int_{A_k} |u|^{p-2} u(u-k) \, dx \tag{84}$$

where $A_k = \{x \in \Omega: u(x) > k\}$. Being $k|A_k| \le ||u||_{L^1(\Omega)}$, then $|A_k| \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$. By the inequality $a^{p-1} \le 2^{p-1}(a-k)^{p-1} + 2^{p-1}k^{p-1}$, we have

$$\int_{A_k} |u|^{p-2} u(u-k) \, dx \le 2^{p-1} \int_{A_k} (u-k)^p \, dx + 2^{p-1} k^{p-1} \int_{A_k} (u-k) \, dx. \tag{85}$$

By Poincaré inequality and property (28), then (84) and (85) give that

$$(1 - \lambda C_{n,p,F} |A_k|^{p/n}) \int_{A_k} (u - k)^p \, dx \le \lambda |A_k|^{p/n} C_{n,p,F} k^{p-1} \int_{A_k} (u - k) \, dx.$$

By choosing *k* sufficiently large, the Hölder inequality implies

$$\int_{A_k} (u-k) \, dx \leq \tilde{C}_{n,p,F} \lambda^{\frac{1}{p-1}} k |A_k|^{1+\frac{p}{n(p-1)}}$$

This estimate allows to apply [88, Lemma 5.1, p. 71] in order to get the boundedness of ess sup u. Similar argument gives that ess inf u is bounded.

Since (83) holds, by standard elliptic regularity theory (see e.g. [88]) the eigenfunction is $C^{1,\alpha}(\Omega)$.

2.2.2 The second Dirichlet eigenvalue of $-Q_p$

If Ω is a bounded domain, Proposition 2.16 assures that the first eigenvalue $\lambda_1(p, \Omega)$ of (1) is isolated. This suggests the following definition.

Definition 2.20. Let Ω be a bounded open set of \mathbb{R}^n . Then the second eigenvalue of $-\mathcal{Q}_p$ is

$$\lambda_2(p,\Omega) := \begin{cases} \min\{\lambda > \lambda_1(p,\Omega) \colon \lambda \text{ is an eigenvalue} \} & \text{if } \lambda_1(p,\Omega) \text{ is simple} \\ \lambda_1(p,\Omega) & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Remark 2.21. If Ω is connected, by theorems 2.12 and 2.13 we deduce the following characterization of the second eigenvalue:

$$\lambda_2(p,\Omega) = \min\{\lambda : \lambda \text{ admits a sign-changing eigenfunction}\}.$$
(86)

We point out that in [69] it is proved that in a bounded open set it holds

$$\lambda_2(p,\Omega) = \tilde{\lambda}_2(p,\Omega) = \inf_{\gamma \in \Gamma_\Omega(u_1, -u_1)} \max_{u \in \gamma([0,1])} \int_\Omega F^p(\nabla u(x)) \, dx \tag{87}$$

where $\tilde{\lambda}_2(p, \Omega)$ is given in Proposition 2.17, and

 $\Gamma_{\Omega}(u,v) = \{\gamma : [0,1] \to M \colon \gamma \text{ is continuous and } \gamma(0) = u, \ \gamma(1) = v\},\$

with M as in (81). As immediate consequence of (87) we get

Proposition 2.22. If $\Omega_1 \subseteq \Omega_2 \subseteq \Omega$, then $\lambda_2(p, \Omega_1) \ge \lambda_2(p, \Omega_2)$.

By adapting the method contained in [37, 38], it is possible to prove the following result.

Proposition 2.23. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n . The eigenfunctions associated to $\lambda_2(p, \Omega)$ admit exactly two nodal domains.

Proof. We will proceed as in the proof of [38, Th. 2.1]. In such a case, $\lambda_2(p, \Omega)$ is characterized as in (86). Then any eigenfunction u_2 has to change sign, and it admits at least two nodal domains $\Omega_1 \subset \Omega^+$ and $\Omega_2 \subset \Omega^-$. Let us assume, by contradiction, the existence of a third nodal domain Ω_3 and let us suppose, without loss of generality, that $\Omega_3 \subset \Omega^+$.

Claim. There exists a connected open set $\widetilde{\Omega}_2$, with $\Omega_2 \subset \widetilde{\Omega}_2 \subset \Omega$ such that $\widetilde{\Omega}_2 \cap \Omega_1 = \emptyset$ or $\widetilde{\Omega}_2 \cap \Omega_3 = \emptyset$.

The proof of the claim follows line by line as in [38, Th. 2.1]. One of the main tool is the Hopf maximum principle, that for the operator $-Q_p$ is proved for example in [39, Th. 2.1].

Now, without loss of generality, we assume that $\hat{\Omega}_2$ is disjoint of Ω_1 and from this fact a contradiction is derived.

By the fact that u_2 does not change sign on the nodal domains and by Proposition 2.22, we have that $\lambda_1(p,\Omega_1) = \lambda_2(p,\Omega)$ and that $\lambda_1(p,\widetilde{\Omega}_2) < \lambda_1(p,\Omega_2) = \lambda_2(p,\Omega)$. Now, we may construct the disjoint sets $\widetilde{\widetilde{\Omega}}_2$ and $\widetilde{\Omega}_1$ such that $\Omega_2 \subset \widetilde{\widetilde{\Omega}}_2 \subset \widetilde{\Omega}_2$ and $\Omega_1 \subset \widetilde{\Omega}_1$, in order to have

$$\lambda_1(p, \widetilde{\Omega}_1) < \lambda_2(p, \Omega), \qquad \lambda_1(p, \widetilde{\widetilde{\Omega}}_2) < \lambda_2(p, \Omega).$$

Now let v_1 and v_2 be the extension by zero outside $\tilde{\Omega}_1$ and $\tilde{\Omega}_2$, respectively, of the positive normalized eigenfunctions associated to $\lambda_1(p, \tilde{\Omega}_1)$ and $\lambda(p, \tilde{\tilde{\Omega}}_2)$. Hence we easily verify that the function $v = v_1 - v_2$ belongs to $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$, it changes sign and satisfies

$$\frac{\int_{\Omega} F^p(\nabla v_+) \, dx}{\int_{\Omega} v_+^p \, dx} < \lambda_2(p, \Omega), \quad \frac{\int_{\Omega} F^p(\nabla v_-) \, dx}{\int_{\Omega} v_-^p \, dx} < \lambda_2(p, \Omega).$$

The final aim is to construct a path $\gamma([0, 1])$ such

$$\max_{u\in\gamma([0,1])}\int_{\Omega}F^p(\nabla u(x))\,dx<\lambda_2(p,\Omega),$$

obtaining a contradiction from (87). The construction of this path follows adapting the method contained in [37, 38].

Remark 2.24. In order to better understand the behavior of $\lambda_1(p, \Omega)$ and $\lambda_2(p, \Omega)$ on disconnected sets, a meaningful model is given when

$$\Omega = \mathcal{W}_{r_1} \cup \mathcal{W}_{r_2}$$
, with $r_1, r_2 > 0$ and $\mathcal{W}_{r_1} \cap \mathcal{W}_{r_2} = \emptyset$.

We distinguish two cases.

CASE $r_1 < r_2$. We have

$$\lambda_1(p,\Omega) = \lambda_1(p,\mathcal{W}_{r_2}).$$

Hence $\lambda_1(p, \Omega)$ *is simple, and any eigenfunction is identically zero on* W_1 *and has constant sign in* W_2 *. Moreover,*

 $\lambda_2(p,\Omega) = \min\{\lambda_1(p,\mathcal{W}_{r_1}),\lambda_2(p,\mathcal{W}_{r_2})\}.$

Hence, if r_1 is not too small, then the second eigenvalue is $\lambda_1(p, W_{r_1})$, and the second eigenfunctions of Ω coincide with the first eigenfunctions of W_{r_1} , that do not change sign in W_{r_1} , and vanish on W_{r_2} .

CASE $r_1 = r_2$. We have

 $\lambda_1(p,\Omega) = \lambda_1(p,\mathcal{W}_{r_i}), \quad i = 1,2.$

The first eigenvalue $\lambda_1(p, \Omega)$ is not simple: choosing, for example, the function $U = u_1 \chi_{W_{r_1}} - u_2 \chi_{W_{r_2}}$, where u_i , i = 1, 2, is the first normalized eigenfunction of $\lambda_1(p, W_{r_i})$, and $V = u_1 \chi_{W_{r_1}}$, then U and V are two nonproportional eigenfunctions relative to $\lambda_1(p, \Omega)$. Hence, in this case, by definition,

$$\lambda_2(p,\Omega) = \lambda_1(p,\Omega) = \lambda_1(p,\mathcal{W}_{r_i}).$$

In order to prove the Hong-Krahn-Szego inequality, we need the following key lemma.

Proposition 2.25. Let Ω be an open bounded set of \mathbb{R}^n . Then there exists two disjoint domains Ω_1, Ω_2 of Ω such that

$$\lambda_2(p,\Omega) = \max\{\lambda_1(p,\Omega_1), \lambda_1(p,\Omega_2)\}.$$

Proof. Let $u_2 \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ be a second normalized eigenfunction. First of all, suppose that u_2 changes sign in Ω . Then, consider two nodal domains $\Omega_1 \subseteq \Omega_+$ and $\Omega_2 \subseteq \Omega_-$. By definition, Ω_1 and Ω_2 are connected sets. The restriction of u_2 to Ω_1 is, by Theorem 2.13, a first eigenfunction for Ω_1 and hence $\lambda_2(p, \Omega) = \lambda_1(p, \Omega_1)$. Analogously for Ω_2 , hence

$$\lambda_2(p,\Omega) = \lambda_1(p,\Omega_1) = \lambda_1(p,\Omega_2),$$

and the proof of the proposition is completed, in the case u_2 changes sign.

In the case that u_2 has constant sign in Ω , for example $u_2 \ge 0$, then by Theorem 2.13 Ω must be disconnected. If $\lambda_1(p,\Omega)$ is simple, by definition $\lambda_2(p,\Omega) > \lambda_1(p,\Omega)$. Otherwise, $\lambda_1(p,\Omega) = \lambda_2(p,\Omega)$. Hence in both cases, we can consider a first nonnegative normalized eigenfunction u_1 not proportional to u_2 .

Observe that in any connected component of Ω , by the Harnack inequality, u_i , i = 1, 2, must be positive or identically zero. Hence we can choose two disjoint connected open sets Ω_1 and Ω_2 , contained respectively in $\{x \in \Omega : u_1(x) > 0\}$ and $\{x \in \Omega : u_2(x) > 0\}$. Then, u_1 and u_2 are first Dirichlet eigenfunctions in Ω_1 and Ω_2 , respectively, and

 $\lambda_1(p,\Omega) = \lambda_1(p,\Omega_1) \le \lambda_2(p,\Omega), \qquad \lambda_2(p,\Omega) = \lambda_1(p,\Omega_2),$

and the proof is completed.

Now we are in position to prove the Hong-Krahn-Szego inequality for $\lambda_2(p, \Omega)$.

Theorem 2.26. Let Ω be a bounded open set of \mathbb{R}^n . Then

$$\lambda_2(p,\Omega) \ge \lambda_2(p,\mathcal{W}),\tag{88}$$

where \widetilde{W} is the union of two disjoint Wulff shapes, each one of measure $\frac{|\Omega|}{2}$. Moreover equality sign in (88) occurs if Ω is the disjoint union of two Wulff shapes of the same measure.

Proof. Let Ω_1 and Ω_2 given by Proposition 2.25. By the Faber-Krahn inequality we have

$$\lambda_2(p,\Omega) = \max\{\lambda_1(p,\Omega_1),\lambda_1(p,\Omega_2)\} \ge \max\{\lambda_1(p,\mathcal{W}_{r_1}),\lambda_1(p,\mathcal{W}_{r_2})\}$$

with $|W_{r_i}| = |\Omega_i|$. By the rescaling property of $\lambda_1(p, \cdot)$, and observing that, being Ω_1 and Ω_2 disjoint subsets of Ω , $|\Omega_1| + |\Omega_2| \le |\Omega|$, we have that

$$\max \left\{ \lambda_1(p, \mathcal{W}_{r_1}), \lambda_1(p, \mathcal{W}_{r_2}) \right\} = \lambda_1(p, \mathcal{W}) \kappa_n^{\frac{p}{n}} \max \left\{ |\Omega_1|^{-\frac{p}{n}}, |\Omega_2|^{-\frac{p}{n}} \right\} \ge \\ \ge \lambda_1(p, \mathcal{W}) \kappa_n^{\frac{p}{n}} \left(\frac{|\Omega|}{2} \right)^{-\frac{p}{n}} = \lambda_1(p, \widetilde{\mathcal{W}}).$$

2.2.3 The limit case $p \to \infty$

In this section we derive some information on $\lambda_2(p, \Omega)$ as p goes to infinity. First of all we recall some known result about the limit of the first eigenvalue. Let us consider a bounded open set Ω .

The anisotropic distance of $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ to the boundary of Ω is the function

$$d_F(x) = \inf_{y \in \partial \Omega} F^o(x-y), \quad x \in \overline{\Omega}.$$

We stress that when $F = |\cdot|$ then $d_F = d_{\mathcal{E}}$, the Euclidean distance function from the boundary.

It is not difficult to prove that d_F is a uniform Lipschitz function in $\overline{\Omega}$ and

 $F(\nabla d_F(x)) = 1$ a.e. in Ω .

Obviously, $d_F \in W_0^{1,\infty}(\Omega)$. Let us consider the quantity

$$\rho_F = \max\{d_F(x), x \in \Omega\}.$$

If Ω is connected, ρ_F is called the anisotropic inradius of Ω . If not, ρ_F is the maximum of the inradii of the connected components of Ω .

For further properties of the anisotropic distance function we refer the reader to [33].

Remark 2.27. It is easy to prove (see also [82, 15]) that the distance function satisfies

$$\frac{1}{\rho_F(\Omega)} = \frac{1}{\|d_F\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}} = \min_{\varphi \in W_0^{1,\infty}(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\|F(\nabla \varphi)\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}}{\|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}}.$$
(89)

Indeed it is sufficient to observe that if $\varphi \in C_0^1(\Omega) \cap C(\overline{\Omega})$, then $\varphi \in C_0^1(\Omega_i) \cap C(\overline{\Omega}_i)$, for any connected component Ω_i of Ω . Then for a.e. $x \in \Omega_i$, for $y \in \partial \Omega_i$ which achieves $F^o(x - y) = d_F(x)$, it holds

$$\begin{aligned} |\varphi(x)| &= |\varphi(x) - \varphi(y)| = |\nabla \varphi(\xi) \cdot x - y| \leq \\ &\leq F(\nabla \varphi(\xi)) \, F^o(x - y) \leq \|F(\nabla \varphi)\|_{L^\infty(\Omega)} d_F(x). \end{aligned}$$

Passing to the supremum and by density we get (89).

The following result holds (see [15, 82]).

Theorem 2.28. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n , and let $\lambda_1(p, \Omega)$ be the first eigenvalue of (76). Then

$$\lim_{p o\infty}\lambda_1(p,\Omega)^{rac{1}{p}}=rac{1}{
ho_F(\Omega)}.$$

Now let us define

$$\lambda_1(\infty,\Omega) = rac{1}{
ho_F(\Omega)}$$

The value $\lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)$ is related to the so-called anisotropic infinity Laplacian operator defined in [15], that is

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}u = F^2(\nabla u)(\nabla^2 u \ \nabla F(\nabla u)) \cdot \nabla F(\nabla u).$$

Indeed, in [15] the following result is proved.

Theorem 2.29. Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n . Then, there exists a positive solution $u_{\infty} \in W_0^{1,\infty}(\Omega) \cap C(\overline{\Omega})$ which satisfies, in the viscosity sense, the following problem:

$$\begin{cases} \min\{F(\nabla u) - \lambda u, -Q_{\infty}u\} = 0 & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(90)

with $\lambda = \lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)$. Moreover, any positive solution $v \in W_0^{1,\infty}(\Omega)$ to (90) with $\lambda = \lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)$ satisfies

$$\frac{\|F(\nabla v)\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}}{\|v\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}} = \min_{\varphi \in W_0^{1,\infty}(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\|F(\nabla \varphi)\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}}{\|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}} = \lambda_1(\infty, \Omega) = \frac{1}{\rho_F(\Omega)}.$$

Finally, if problem (90) admits a positive viscosity solution in Ω , then $\lambda = \lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)$.

Proposition 2.30. Theorem 2.28 holds also when Ω is a bounded open set of \mathbb{R}^n .

Proof. Suppose that Ω is not connected, and consider a connected component Ω₀ of Ω with anisotropic inradius $\rho_F(\Omega)$. By the monotonicity property of $\lambda_1(p, \Omega)$ given in Proposition 2.14, we have

$$\lambda_1(p,\Omega) \leq \lambda_1(p,\Omega_0).$$

Then up to a subsequence, passing to the limit as $p \rightarrow +\infty$ and using Theorem 2.28 we have

$$\tilde{\lambda} = \lim_{p_j \to \infty} \lambda_1(p_j, \Omega)^{\frac{1}{p_j}} \le \frac{1}{\rho_F(\Omega)}.$$
(91)

In order to prove that $\tilde{\lambda} = \rho_F(\Omega)^{-1}$, let u_{p_j} the first nonnegative normalized eigenfunction associated to $\lambda_1(p_j, \Omega)$. Reasoning as in [15], the sequence u_{p_j} converges to a function u_{∞} in $C^0(\Omega)$ which is a viscosity solution of (90) associated to $\tilde{\lambda}$. Then by the maximum principle contained in [8, Lemma 3.2], in each connected component of Ω , u_{∞} is either positive or identically zero. Denoting by $\tilde{\Omega}$ a connected component of $\{u_{\infty} > 0\}$, by the uniform convergence, for p_j large, also u_{p_j} is positive in $\tilde{\Omega}$. Then by Theorem 2.13 we have

$$\lambda_1(p_j, \tilde{\Omega}) = \lambda_1(p_j, \Omega), \text{ and then } \frac{1}{\rho_F(\tilde{\Omega})} = \tilde{\lambda}.$$

By (91) and by definition of ρ_F , $\tilde{\lambda} \leq \rho_F(\Omega)^{-1} \leq \rho_F(\tilde{\Omega})^{-1} = \tilde{\lambda}$; then necessarily $\tilde{\lambda} = \rho_F(\Omega)^{-1}$.

In order to define the eigenvalue problem for \mathcal{Q}_{∞} , let us consider the following operator

$$\mathcal{A}_{\lambda}(s,\xi,X) = \begin{cases} \min\{F(\xi) - \lambda s, -F^{2}(\xi)(X \nabla F(\xi)) \cdot \nabla F(\xi)\} & \text{if } s > 0, \\ -F^{2}(\xi)(X \nabla F(\xi)) \cdot \nabla F(\xi) & \text{if } s = 0, \\ \max\{-F(\xi) - \lambda s, -F^{2}(\xi)(X \nabla F(\xi)) \cdot \nabla F(\xi)\} & \text{if } s < 0, \end{cases}$$

with $(s, \xi, X) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^n \times S^{n \times n}$, where $S^{n \times n}$ denotes the space of real, symmetric matrices of order *n*. Clearly \mathcal{A}_{λ} is not continuous in s = 0.

For completeness we recall the definition of viscosity solution for the operator A_{λ} .

Definition 2.31. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ a bounded open set. A function $u \in C(\Omega)$ is a viscosity subsolution (resp. supersolution) of $\mathcal{A}_{\lambda}(x, u, \nabla u) = 0$ if

$$\mathcal{A}_{\lambda}(\phi(x), \nabla \phi(x), \nabla^2 \phi(x)) \leq 0 \quad (resp. \ \mathcal{A}_{\lambda}(\phi(x), \nabla \phi(x), \nabla^2 \phi(x)) \geq 0),$$

for every $\phi \in C^2(\Omega)$ such that $u - \phi$ has a local maximum (resp. minimum) zero at x. A function $u \in C(\Omega)$ is a viscosity solution of $\mathcal{A}_{\lambda} = 0$ if it is both a viscosity subsolution and a viscosity supersolution and in this case the number λ is called an eigenvalue for \mathcal{Q}_{∞} .

Definition 2.32. We say that $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$, $u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0$, $u \neq 0$ is an eigenfunction for the anisotropic ∞ -Laplacian if there exists $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\mathcal{A}_{\lambda}(u, \nabla u, \nabla^2 u) = 0 \quad in \ \Omega \tag{92}$$

in the viscosity sense. Such value λ *will be called an eigenvalue for the anisotropic* ∞ -Laplacian.

In order to define the second eigenvalue for \mathcal{Q}_{∞} we introduce the following number:

 $\rho_{2,F}(\Omega) = \sup\{\rho > 0: \text{ there are two disjoint Wulff shapes } W_1, W_2 \subset \Omega \text{ of radius } \rho\},\$

and let us define

$$\lambda_2(\infty,\Omega) = \frac{1}{\rho_{2,F}(\Omega)}.$$

Clearly

$$\lambda_1(\infty, \Omega) \leq \lambda_2(\infty, \Omega).$$

Remark 2.33. It is easy to construct open sets Ω such that $\lambda_1(\infty, \Omega) = \lambda_2(\infty, \Omega)$. For example, this holds when Ω coincides with the union of two disjoint Wulff shapes with same measure, or their convex envelope.

Remark 2.34. A simple example of $\rho_{2,F}(\Omega)$ is given when Ω is the union of two disjoint Wulff shapes, $\Omega = W_{r_1} \cup W_{r_2}$, with $r_2 \leq r_1$. In this case, $\lambda_1(\infty, \Omega) = \frac{1}{r_1}$ and, if r_2 is not too small, then $\lambda_2(\infty, \Omega) = \frac{1}{r_2}$.

Theorem 2.35. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a bounded open set and let $\lambda_2(p, \Omega)$ be the second Dirichlet eigenvalue of $-Q_p$ in Ω . Then

$$\lim_{p\to\infty}\lambda_2(p,\Omega)^{\frac{1}{p}}=\lambda_2(\infty,\Omega)=\frac{1}{\rho_{2,F}(\Omega)}.$$

Moreover $\lambda_2(\infty, \Omega)$ is an eigenvalue of Q_{∞} , that is $\lambda_2(\infty, \Omega)$ is an eigenvalue for the anisotropic infinity Laplacian in the sense of Definition 2.32.

Proof. First we observe that $\lambda_2(p, \Omega)^{\frac{1}{p}}$ is bounded from above with respect to p. More precisely we have

$$\lambda_1(\infty,\Omega) \le \limsup_{p \to \infty} \lambda_2(p,\Omega)^{\frac{1}{p}} \le \lambda_2(\infty,\Omega).$$
(93)

Indeed if we consider two disjoint Wulff shapes W_1 and W_2 of radius $\rho_{2,F}(\Omega)$, clearly $W_1 \cup W_2 \subset \Omega$ and then by monotonicity property (Proposition 2.22) of $\lambda_2(p, \Omega)$ we have

$$\lambda_1(p,\Omega)^{\frac{1}{p}} \leq \lambda_2(p,\Omega)^{\frac{1}{p}} \leq \lambda_2(p,\mathcal{W}_1\cup\mathcal{W}_2)^{\frac{1}{p}} = \lambda_1(p,\mathcal{W}_1)^{\frac{1}{p}},$$

where last equality follows from Remark 2.24. Then passing to the limit as $p \to \infty$ in the right hand side, by Theorem 2.28 we have (93). Hence there exists a sequence p_j such that $p_j \to +\infty$ as $j \to \infty$, and

$$\frac{1}{\rho_F(\Omega)} = \lambda_1(\infty, \Omega) \le \lim_{j \to \infty} \lambda_2(p_j, \Omega)^{\frac{1}{p_j}} = \overline{\lambda} \le \lambda_2(\infty, \Omega) = \frac{1}{\rho_{2,F}(\Omega)}.$$
(94)

In order to conclude the proof we have to show that $\overline{\lambda}$ is an eigenvalue for Q_{∞} and that $\overline{\lambda} = \lambda_2(\infty, \Omega)$.

Let us consider $u_j \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ eigenfunction of $\lambda_2(p_j, \Omega)$ such that $||u_j||_{L^{p_j}(\Omega)} = 1$. Then by standard arguments u_j , converges, up to a subsequence of p_j , uniformly to a function $u \in W_0^{1,\infty}(\Omega) \cap C(\overline{\Omega})$. The function u is a viscosity solution of (92) with $\lambda = \overline{\lambda}$. Indeed, let $x_0 \in \Omega$. If $u(x_0) > 0$, being u continuous, it is positive in a sufficiently small ball centered at x_0 . Then it is possible to proceed exactly as in [15] in order to obtain that, in the viscosity sense,

$$\min\{F(\nabla u(x_0)) - \overline{\lambda}u(x_0), -\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}u(x_0)\} = 0.$$

Similarly, if $u(x_0) < 0$ then

$$\max\{-F(\nabla u(x_0)) - \overline{\lambda}u(x_0), -\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}u(x_0)\} = 0.$$

It remains to consider the case $u(x_0) = 0$. We will show that *u* is a subsolution of (92).

Let φ a $C^2(\Omega)$ function such that $u - \varphi$ has a strict maximum point at x_0 . By the definition of $\mathcal{A}_{\bar{\lambda}}$, we have to show that $-\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}\varphi(x_0) \leq 0$.

For any *j*, let x_j be a maximum point of $u_j - \varphi$, so that $x_j \to x_0$ as $j \to \infty$. Such sequence exists by the uniform convergence of u_j . By [15, Lemma 2.3] u_j verifies in the viscosity sense $-Q_p u_j = \lambda_2(p_j, \Omega) |u_j|^{p_j-2} u_j$. Then

$$\begin{aligned} &-\mathcal{Q}_p\varphi_j(x_j) = \\ &= -(p_j-2)F^{p_j-4}(\nabla\varphi(x_j))\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}\varphi(x_j) - F^{p_j-2}(\nabla\varphi(x_j))\mathcal{Q}_2\varphi(x_j) \leq \\ &\leq \lambda_2(p_j,\Omega)|u_j(x_j)|^{p_j-2}u_j(x_j); \end{aligned}$$

If $\nabla \varphi(x_0) \neq 0$, then dividing the above inequality by $(p_j - 2)F^{p_j - 4}(\nabla \varphi)$ we have

$$-\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}\varphi(x_j) \leq \frac{F^2(\nabla\varphi(x_j))\mathcal{Q}_2\varphi(x_j)}{p_j-2} + \left(\frac{\lambda_2(p_j,\Omega)^{\frac{1}{p_j-4}}|u_j(x_j)|}{F(\nabla\varphi(x_j))}\right)^{p_j-4}\frac{u_j(x_j)^3}{p_j-2} =:\ell_j.$$

Passing to the limit as $j \to \infty$, recalling that $\varphi \in C^2(\Omega)$, $F \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$, $\lambda_2(p_j, \Omega)^{\frac{1}{p_j}} \to \bar{\lambda}$, $\nabla \varphi(x_0) \neq 0$ and $u_j(x_j) \to 0$ we get

$$-\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}\varphi(x_0)\leq 0.$$

Finally, we note that if $\nabla \varphi(x_0) = 0$, the above inequality is trivially true. Hence, we can conclude that *u* is a viscosity subsolution.

The proof that u is also a viscosity supersolution can be done by repeating the same argument than before, considering -u.

Last step of the proof of the Theorem consists in showing that $\bar{\lambda} = \lambda_2(\infty, \Omega)$. We distinguish two cases.

Case 1: The function u changes sign in Ω .

Let us consider the following sets

$$\Omega^{+} = \{ x \in \Omega \colon u(x) > 0 \} \qquad \Omega^{-} = \{ x \in \Omega \colon u(x) < 0 \}.$$

Being $u \in C^0(\Omega)$ then Ω^+, Ω^- are two disjoint open sets of \mathbb{R}^n and $|\Omega^+| > 0$ and $|\Omega^-| > 0$.

By Theorem 2.29 we have

$$\overline{\lambda} = \lambda_1(\infty, \Omega^+)$$
 and $\overline{\lambda} = \lambda_1(\infty, \Omega^-).$

Then by definition of $\rho_{2,F}$ we get

$$ho_F(\Omega^+)=
ho_F(\Omega^-)=rac{1}{\overline{\lambda}}\leq
ho_{2,F}(\Omega),$$

that implies, by (94) that

$$\overline{\lambda} = \lambda_2(\infty, \Omega).$$

Case 2: The function u does not change sign in Ω .

We first observe that in this case Ω cannot be connected. Indeed since u_j converges to u in $C^0(\overline{\Omega})$, for sufficiently large p we have that there exist second eigenfunctions relative to $\lambda_2(p, \Omega)$ with constant sign in Ω and this cannot happen if Ω is connected.

Then in this case, we have to replace the sequence u_j (and then the function u) in order to find two disjoint connected open subsets Ω_1, Ω_2 of Ω , such that

$$\lambda_1(\infty, \Omega) = \lambda_1(\infty, \Omega_1) \tag{95}$$

and

$$\lambda = \lambda_1(\infty, \Omega_2). \tag{96}$$

Once we prove that such subsets exist, by (94) and the definition of $\rho_{2,F}$ we obtain

$$ho_F(\Omega_2) = rac{1}{\overline{\lambda}} \leq
ho_{2,F}(\Omega) \leq
ho_F(\Omega) =
ho_F(\Omega_1),$$

that implies, again by (94),

$$\overline{\lambda} = \lambda_2(\infty, \Omega).$$

In order to prove (95) and (96), we consider $u_{1,\infty}$, an eigenfunction associated to $\lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)$, obtained as limit in $C^0(\Omega)$ of a sequence $u_{1,p}$ of first normalized eigenfunctions associated to $\lambda_1(p, \Omega)$, and consider a connected component of Ω , say Ω_1 , where $u_{1,\infty} > 0$ and such that $\lambda_1(\infty, \Omega) = \lambda_1(\infty, \Omega_1)$. The argument of the proof of Proposition 2.30 gives that such $u_{1,\infty}$ and Ω_1 exist. Then, let $u_{2,p} \ge 0$ be a normalized eigenfunction associated to $\lambda_2(p, \Omega)$ such that for any p sufficiently large, $\operatorname{supp}(u_{2,p}) \cap \Omega_1 = \emptyset$.

The existence of such a sequence is guaranteed from this three observations:

- if *u*_{2,*p*} changes sign for a divergent sequence of *p*'s, then we come back to the case 1;
- by the maximum principle, in each connected component of Ω u_{2,p} is either positive or identically zero;
- the condition supp(u_{2,p}) ∩ Ω₁ = Ø depends from the fact that u_{2,p} can be chosen not proportional to u_{1,p}.

Hence, there exists Ω_2 connected component of Ω disjoint from Ω_1 , such that $u_{2,p}$ converges to $u_{2,\infty}$ (up to a subsequence) in $C^0(\Omega_2)$, and where $u_{2,\infty} > 0$. By Theorem 2.29, (96) holds.

Theorem 2.36. Given Ω bounded open set of \mathbb{R}^n , let $\lambda > \lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)$ be an eigenvalue for \mathcal{Q}_{∞} . Then $\lambda \ge \lambda_2(\infty, \Omega)$ and $\lambda_2(\infty, \Omega)$ is the second eigenvalue of \mathcal{Q}_{∞} , in the sense that there are no eigenvalues of \mathcal{Q}_{∞} between $\lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)$ and $\lambda_2(\infty, \Omega)$.

Proof. Let u_{λ} be an eigenfunction corresponding to λ . We distinguish two cases.

Case 1: The function u_{λ} changes sign in Ω .

$$\Omega^+ = \{ x \in \Omega \colon u_\lambda(x) > 0 \} \qquad \Omega^- = \{ x \in \Omega \colon u_\lambda(x) < 0 \}$$

Being $u_{\lambda} \in C^{0}(\Omega)$ then Ω^{+}, Ω^{-} are two disjoint open sets of \mathbb{R}^{n} and $|\Omega^{+}| > 0$ and $|\Omega^{-}| > 0$.

By Theorem 2.29 we have

$$\lambda = \lambda_1(\infty, \Omega^+)$$
 and $\lambda = \lambda_1(\infty, \Omega^-)$.

Then by definition of $\rho_{2,F}$ we get

$$ho_F(\Omega^+)=
ho_F(\Omega^-)=rac{1}{\lambda}\leq
ho_{2,F}(\Omega),$$

that implies, by (94) that

$$\lambda \geq \lambda_2(\infty, \Omega).$$

Case 2: The function u_{λ} does not change sign in Ω .

By Theorem 2.29 Ω cannot be connected being $\lambda > \lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)$.

In this case, again by Theorem 2.29 we can find two disjoint connected open subsets Ω_1, Ω_2 of Ω , such that

$$\lambda_1(\infty,\Omega) = \lambda_1(\infty,\Omega_1)$$

and

$$\lambda = \lambda_1(\infty, \Omega_2).$$

Being $\lambda > \lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)$, we obtain

$$ho_F(\Omega_2) = rac{1}{\lambda} <
ho_F(\Omega) =
ho_F(\Omega_1),$$

that by the definition of $\rho_{2,F}$ implies,

$$\lambda \geq \lambda_2(\infty, \Omega).$$

Remark 2.37. We observe that if Ω is a bounded open set and \widetilde{W} is the union of two disjoint Wulff shapes with the same measure $|\Omega|/2$, it holds that

$$\rho_{2,F}(\Omega) \leq \rho_{2,F}(\widetilde{\mathcal{W}}),$$

that is,

 $\lambda_2(\infty,\Omega) \geq \lambda_2(\infty,\widetilde{\mathcal{W}}),$

that is the Hong-Krahn-Szego inequality for the second eigenvalue of $-Q_{\infty}$.

2.3 A SHARP WEIGHTED ANISOTROPIC POINCARÉ INEQUALITY FOR CONVEX DOMAINS

2.3.1 Definition and statement of the problem

In this Section we prove, in a general anisotropic case, an optimal lower bound for the best constant in a class of weighted anisotropic Poincaré inequalities. We prove a sharp lower bound for the optimal constant $\Lambda_{p,\mathcal{F},\omega}(\Omega)$ in the Poincaré-type inequality

$$\inf_{t\in\mathbb{R}}\|u-t\|_{L^p_{\omega}(\Omega)}\leq \frac{1}{\left[\Lambda_{p,\mathcal{F},\omega}(\Omega)\right]^{\frac{1}{p}}}\|\mathcal{F}(\nabla u)\|_{L^p_{\omega}(\Omega)},$$

with $1 , <math>\Omega$ is a bounded convex domain of \mathbb{R}^n , $\mathcal{F} \in \mathscr{F}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where $\mathscr{F}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is the set of lower semicontinuous functions, positive in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ and positively 1-homogeneous; moreover, let ω be a log-concave function. A function

$$\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \mapsto \mathcal{F}(\xi) \in [0, +\infty[$$

belongs to the set $\mathscr{F}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if it verifies the following assumptions:

1. \mathcal{F} is positively 1-homogeneous, that is

if
$$\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$$
 and $t \ge 0$, then $\mathcal{F}(t\xi) = t\mathcal{F}(\xi)$;

- 2. if $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$, then $\mathcal{F}(\xi) > 0$;
- 3. \mathcal{F} is lower semi-continuous.

If $\mathcal{F} \in \mathscr{F}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, properties (1), (2), (3) give that there exists a positive constant *a* such that

$$|a|\xi| \leq \mathcal{F}(\xi), \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

The polar function $\mathcal{F}^{o} \colon \mathbb{R}^{n} \to [0, +\infty[\text{ of } \mathcal{F} \in \mathscr{F}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \text{ is defined as }$

$$\mathcal{F}^o(\eta) = \sup_{\xi
eq 0} rac{\xi \cdot \eta}{\mathcal{F}(\xi)}.$$

The function \mathcal{F}^o belongs to $\mathscr{F}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Moreover it is convex on \mathbb{R}^n , and then continuous. If \mathcal{F} is convex, it holds that

$$\mathcal{F}(\xi) = (\mathcal{F}^o)^o(\xi) = \sup_{\eta
eq 0} rac{\xi \cdot \eta}{\mathcal{F}^o(\eta)}.$$

If \mathcal{F} is convex and $\mathcal{F}(\xi) = \mathcal{F}(-\xi)$ for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$, then \mathcal{F} is a norm on \mathbb{R}^n , and the same holds for \mathcal{F}^o .

We recall that if \mathcal{F} is a smooth norm of \mathbb{R}^n such that $\nabla^2(\mathcal{F}^2)$ is positive definite on $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$, then \mathcal{F} is called a Finsler norm on \mathbb{R}^n .

If $\mathcal{F} \in \mathscr{F}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, by definition we have

$$\xi \cdot \eta \le \mathcal{F}(\xi) \mathcal{F}^{o}(\eta), \qquad \forall \xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^{n}.$$
(97)

Remark 2.38. Let $\mathcal{F} \in \mathscr{F}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and consider the convex envelope of \mathcal{F} , that is the largest convex function $\overline{\mathcal{F}}$ such that $\overline{\mathcal{F}} \leq \mathcal{F}$. It holds that $\overline{\mathcal{F}}$ and \mathcal{F} have the same polar function:

$$(\overline{\mathcal{F}})^o = \mathcal{F}^o \quad in \ \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Indeed, being $\overline{\mathcal{F}} \leq \mathcal{F}$, by definition it holds that $(\overline{\mathcal{F}})^o \geq \mathcal{F}^o$. To show the reverse inequality, it is enough to prove that $(\mathcal{F}^o)^o \leq \mathcal{F}$. Then, being $\overline{\mathcal{F}}$ the convex envelope of \mathcal{F} , it must be $(\mathcal{F}^o)^o \leq \overline{\mathcal{F}}$, that implies $(\overline{\mathcal{F}})^o \leq \mathcal{F}^o$. Denoting by $G(x) = (\mathcal{F}^o)^o(x)$, for any x there exists \overline{v}_x such that

$$G(x) = \frac{x \cdot v_x}{\mathcal{F}^o(\overline{v}_x)}, \quad and \quad x \cdot \overline{v}_x \le \mathcal{F}^o(\overline{v}_x)\mathcal{F}(x), \quad that implies \quad G(x) \le \mathcal{F}(x).$$

Let $\mathcal{F} \in \mathscr{F}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and consider a bounded convex domain Ω of \mathbb{R}^n . Throughout the chapther $D_{\mathcal{F}}(\Omega) \in]0, +\infty[$ will be

$$D_{\mathcal{F}}(\Omega) = \sup_{x,y\in\Omega} \mathcal{F}^o(y-x).$$

We explicitly observe that since \mathcal{F}^o is not necessarily even, in general $\mathcal{F}^o(y-x) \neq \mathcal{F}^o(x-y)$. When \mathcal{F} is a norm, then $D_{\mathcal{F}}(\Omega)$ is the so called anisotropic diameter of Ω with respect to \mathcal{F}^o . In particular, if $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{E}$ is the Euclidean norm in \mathbb{R}^n , then $\mathcal{E}^o = \mathcal{E}$ and $D_{\mathcal{E}}(\Omega)$ is the standard Euclidean diameter of Ω . We refer the reader, for example, to [30, 62] for remarkable examples of convex not even functions in $\mathscr{F}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. On the other hand, in [112] some results on isoperimetric and optimal Hardy-Sobolev inequalities for a general function $\mathcal{F} \in \mathscr{F}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ have been proved, by using a generalization of the so called convex symmetrization introduced in [4] (see also [47, 48, 49]).

Remark 2.39. In general \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{F}° are not rotational invariant. Anyway, if $A \in SO(n)$, defining

$$\mathcal{F}_A(x) = \mathcal{F}(Ax),\tag{98}$$

and being $A^T = A^{-1}$, then $\mathcal{F}_A \in \mathscr{F}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and

$$(\mathcal{F}_A)^o(\xi) = \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}} \frac{x \cdot \xi}{\mathcal{F}_A(x)} = \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}} \frac{A^1 y \cdot \xi}{\mathcal{F}(y)} = \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}} \frac{y \cdot A\xi}{\mathcal{F}(y)} = (\mathcal{F}^o)_A(\xi).$$

Moreover,

$$D_{\mathcal{F}_A}(A^T\Omega) = \sup_{x,y \in A^T\Omega} (\mathcal{F}^o)_A(y-x) = \sup_{\bar{x},\bar{y} \in \Omega} \mathcal{F}^o(\bar{y}-\bar{x}) = D_{\mathcal{F}}(\Omega).$$
(99)

2.3.2 Proof of the Payne-Weinberger inequality

To state and prove Theorem 2.42, the following Wirtinger-type inequality, contained in [66] is needed.

Proposition 2.40. *Let* f *be a positive log-concave function defined on* [0, L] *and* p > 1*, then*

$$\inf\left\{\frac{\int_{0}^{L}|u'|^{p}f\,dx}{\int_{0}^{L}|u|^{p}f\,dx},\ u\in W^{1,p}(0,L),\ \int_{0}^{L}|u|^{p-2}ufdx=0\right\}\geq \frac{\pi_{p}^{p}}{L^{p}}.$$

The proof of the main result is based on a slicing method introduced in [97] in the Laplacian case. The key ingredient is the following Lemma. For a proof, we refer the reader, for example, to [97, 9, 66].

Lemma 2.41. Let Ω be a convex set in \mathbb{R}^n having (Euclidean) diameter $D_{\mathcal{E}}(\Omega)$, let ω be a positive log-concave function on Ω , and let u be any function such that $\int_{\Omega} |u|^{p-2}u\omega dx = 0$. Then, for all positive ε , there exists a decomposition of the set Ω in mutually disjoint convex sets Ω_i (i = 1, ..., k) such that

$$\bigcup_{i=1}^{k} \overline{\Omega} = \overline{\Omega}$$
$$\int_{\Omega_{i}} |u|^{p-2} u\omega \, dx = 0$$

and for each i there exists a rectangular system of coordinates such that

$$\Omega_i \subset \{(x_1,\ldots,x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n : 0 \le x_1 \le d_i, |x_l| \le \varepsilon, l = 2,\ldots,n\},\$$

where $d_i \leq D_{\mathcal{E}}(\Omega)$, $i = 1, \ldots, k$.

Our aim is to prove an analogous sharp lower bound for $\Lambda_{p,\mathcal{F},\omega}(\Omega)$, in a general anisotropic case. More precisely, our main result is:

Theorem 2.42. Let $\mathcal{F} \in \mathscr{F}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, \mathcal{F}^o be its polar function. Let us consider a bounded convex domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, $1 , and take a positive log-concave function <math>\omega$ defined in Ω . Then, given

$$\Lambda_{p,\mathcal{F},\omega}(\Omega) = \inf_{\substack{u \in W^{1,\omega}(\Omega) \\ \int_{\Omega} |u|^{p-2}u\omega \, dx = 0}} \frac{\int_{\Omega} \mathcal{F}(\nabla u)^p \omega \, dx}{\int_{\Omega} |u|^p \omega \, dx}$$

it holds that

$$\Lambda_{p,\mathcal{F},\omega}(\Omega) \ge \left(\frac{\pi_p}{\operatorname{diam}_{\mathcal{F}}(\Omega)}\right)^p,\tag{100}$$

where $\operatorname{diam}_{\mathcal{F}}(\Omega) = \sup_{x,y\in\Omega} \mathcal{F}^o(y-x)$ and

$$\pi_p = 2 \int_0^{+\infty} \frac{1}{1 + \frac{1}{p-1}s^p} ds = 2\pi \frac{(p-1)^{\frac{1}{p}}}{p \sin \frac{\pi}{p}}, \qquad \text{diam}_{\mathcal{E}}(\Omega) \text{ Euclidean diameter of } \Omega.$$

This result has been proved in the case p = 2 and $\omega = 1$, when \mathcal{F} is a strongly convex, smooth norm of \mathbb{R}^n in [113] with a completely different method than the one presented here.

Proof. By density, it is sufficient to consider a smooth function u with uniformly continuous first derivatives and $\int_{\Omega} |u|^{p-2} u\omega dx = 0$.

Hence, we can decompose the set Ω in k convex domains Ω_i as in Lemma 2.41. In order to prove (100), we will show that for any $i \in \{1, ..., k\}$ it holds that

$$\int_{\Omega_i} F^p(\nabla u) \omega \, dx \ge \frac{\pi_p^p}{D_{\mathcal{F}}(\Omega)^p} \int_{\Omega_i} |u|^p \omega \, dx. \tag{101}$$

By Lemma 2.41, for each fixed $i \in \{1, ..., k\}$, there exists a rotation $A_i \in SO(n)$ such that

$$A_i\Omega_i \subset \{(x_1,\ldots,x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n \colon 0 \le x_1 \le d_i, \ |x_l| \le \varepsilon, \ l=2,\ldots,n\}.$$

By changing the variable $y = A_i x$, recalling the notation (98) and using (99) it holds that

$$\int_{\Omega_i} \mathcal{F}^p(\nabla u(x))\,\omega(x)\,dx = \int_{A_i\Omega_i} \mathcal{F}_{A_i^T}(\nabla u(A_i^T y))^p\,\omega(A_i^T y)\,dy; \qquad D_{\mathcal{F}}(\Omega) = D_{\mathcal{F}_{A_i^T}}(A_i\Omega).$$

We deduce that it is not restrictive to suppose that for any $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ A_i is the identity matrix, and the decomposition holds with respect to the x_1 -axis.

Now we may argue as in [66]. For any $t \in [0, d_i]$ let us denote by v(t) = u(t, 0, ..., 0), and $f_i(t) = g_i(t)\omega(t, 0, ..., 0)$, where $g_i(t)$ will be the (n - 1) volume of the intersection of Ω_i with the hyperplane $x_1 = t$. By Brunn-Minkowski inequality g_i , and then f_i , is a log-concave function in $[0, d_i]$. Since u, u_{x_1} and ω are uniformly continuous in Ω there exists a modulus of continuity $\eta(\cdot)$ with $\eta(\varepsilon) \searrow 0$ for $\varepsilon \to 0$, indipendent of the decomposition of Ω and such that

$$\left|\int_{\Omega_i} |u_{x_1}|^p \omega \, dx - \int_0^{d_i} |v'|^p f_i \, dt\right| \le \eta(\varepsilon) |\Omega_i|, \qquad \left|\int_{\Omega_i} |u|^p \omega \, dx - \int_0^{d_i} |v|^p f_i \, dt\right| \le \eta(\varepsilon) |\Omega_i|,$$

and

$$\left|\int_0^{d_i} |v|^{p-2} v f_i \, dt\right| \leq \eta(\varepsilon) |\Omega_i|.$$

Now, by property (97) we deduce that for any vector $\eta \in \mathbb{R}^n$

$$|\nabla u \cdot \eta| \leq \mathcal{F}(\nabla u) \max\{\mathcal{F}^o(\eta), \mathcal{F}^o(-\eta)\}$$

Then choosing $\eta = e_1$ and denoting by $M = \max\{\mathcal{F}^o(e_1), \mathcal{F}^o(-e_1)\}$, Proposition 2.40 gives

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega_i} \mathcal{F}^p(\nabla u) \omega \, dx &\geq \frac{1}{M^p} \int_{\Omega_i} |u_{x_1}|^p \omega \, dx \geq \frac{1}{M^p} \int_0^{d_i} |v'|^p f_i \, dt - \frac{\eta(\varepsilon) |\Omega_i|}{M^p} \\ &\geq \frac{\pi_p}{d_i^p M^p} \int_0^{d_i} |v|^p f_i \, dt + C\eta(\varepsilon) |\Omega_i| \geq \frac{\pi_p^p}{d_i^p M^p} \int_{\Omega_i} |u|^p \omega \, dx + C\eta(\varepsilon) |\Omega_i|, \end{split}$$

where *C* is a constant which does not depend on ε . Being $d_i \leq D_{\mathcal{E}}(\Omega)$, and then $d_i M \leq D_{\mathcal{F}}(\Omega)$, by letting ε to zero we get (101). Hence, by summing over *i* we get the thesis.

Remark 2.43. In order to prove an estimate for $\Lambda_{p,\mathcal{F},\omega}$, we could use directly property (97) with $v = \frac{\nabla u}{|\nabla u|}$, and the Payne-Weinberger inequality in the Euclidean case, obtaining that

$$\int_{\Omega} \mathcal{F}^{p}(\nabla u) \omega \, dx \ge \int_{\Omega} \frac{|\nabla u|^{p}}{\mathcal{F}^{o}(v)^{p}} \omega \, dx \ge \frac{\pi_{p}^{p}}{D_{\mathcal{E}}(\Omega)^{p} \mathcal{F}^{o}(v_{m})^{p}} \int_{\Omega} |u|^{p} \omega \, dx$$

where $\mathcal{F}^{o}(v_{m}) = \max_{|\nu|=1} \mathcal{F}^{o}(\nu)$. However, we have a worst estimate than (100) because $D_{\mathcal{E}}(\Omega) \cdot \mathcal{F}^{o}(v_{m})$ is, in general, strictly larger than $D_{\mathcal{F}}(\Omega)$, as shown in the following example.

Example 2.44. Let $\mathcal{F}(x,y) = \sqrt{a^2x^2 + b^2y^2}$, with a < b. Then \mathcal{F} is a even, smooth norm with $\mathcal{F}^o(x,y) = \sqrt{\frac{x^2}{a^2} + \frac{y^2}{b^2}}$ and the Wulff shapes $\{\mathcal{F}^o(x,y) < R\}$, R > 0, are ellipses. Clearly we have:

$$D_{\mathcal{E}}(\Omega) = 2b$$
 and $D_{\mathcal{F}}(\Omega) = 2$

Let us compute $\mathcal{F}^{o}(v_m)$. We have:

$$\max_{|v|=1} \mathcal{F}^{o}(v) = \max_{\vartheta \in [0,2\pi]} \sqrt{\frac{(\cos \vartheta)^{2}}{a^{2}} + \frac{(\sin \vartheta)^{2}}{b^{2}}} = \mathcal{F}^{o}(0,\pm 1) = \frac{1}{a}.$$

Then $D_{\mathcal{E}}(\Omega) \cdot \mathcal{F}^{o}(v_{m}) = 2\frac{b}{a} > 2.$

2.4 THE ANISOTROPIC ∞ -LAPLACIAN EIGENVALUE PROBLEM WITH NEUMANN BOUNDARY CONDITIONS

2.4.1 The limiting problem

Throughout this section, we denote by $|| \cdot ||_p^p$ the main norm of functions in L^p -space, i.e. $||f||_p^p = \frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} |f|^p dx$ for all $f \in L^p(\Omega)$. We study the minimum problem

$$\Lambda_1(p,\Omega) = \min\left\{\frac{\int_\Omega F^p(\nabla u) \, dx}{\int_\Omega |u|^p \, dx} : \ u \in W^{1,p}(\Omega), \int_\Omega u|u|^{p-2} \, dx = 0\right\}.$$
 (102)

Let us consider a minimizer u_p of (102) such that $||u_p||_p = 1$ and Q_p the operator defined in (1). Then, for every p > 1, u_p solves the Neumann eigenvalue problem:

$$\begin{cases} -\mathcal{Q}_p u_p = \Lambda_1(p,\Omega) |u_p|^{p-2} u_p & \text{in } \Omega \\ \nabla_{\xi} F^p(\nabla u) \cdot \nu = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

where ν is the euclidean outer normal to $\partial \Omega$.

Definition 2.45. Let $u \in W^{1,p}(\Omega)$. We say that u is a weak solution of (12) if it holds the following inequality:

$$\int_{\Omega} F^{p-1}(\nabla u) \nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla u) \cdot \nabla \varphi \, dx = \Lambda \int_{\Omega} |u|^{p-2} u \varphi \, dx \tag{103}$$

for all $\varphi \in W^{1,p}(\Omega)$. The corresponding real number Λ is called an eigenvalue of (12).

We analyze the Neumann eigenvalue problem (12) with the means of viscosity solutions and we use the following notation

$$G_p(u, \nabla u, \nabla^2 u) := -(p-2)F^{p-4}(\nabla u)\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}u - F^{p-2}(\nabla u)\Delta_F(\nabla u) - \Lambda_1(p,\Omega)|u|^{p-2}u$$

where $\Delta_F(\nabla u) = \operatorname{div}(F(\nabla u)\nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla u))$ is the anisotropic Laplacian. Following for instance [74], we define the viscosity (sub- and super-) solutions to the following Neumann eigenvalue problem

$$\begin{cases} G_p(u, \nabla u, \nabla^2 u) = 0 & \text{in } \Omega \\ \nabla_{\xi} F^p(\nabla u) \cdot \nu = 0 & \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$
(104)

Definition 2.46. A lower semicontinuous function u is a viscosity supersolution (subsolution) to (104) if for every $\phi \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ such that $u - \phi$ has a strict minimum (maximum) at the point $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$ with $u(x_0) = \phi(x_0)$ we have that:

if $x_0 \in \Omega$ *, we require*

$$G_p(\phi(x_0), \nabla\phi(x_0), \nabla^2\phi(x_0)) \ge 0 \tag{105}$$

$$(G_p(\phi(x_0), \nabla\phi(x_0), \nabla^2\phi(x_0)) \le 0) \tag{106}$$

and if $x_0 \in \Omega$, then the inequality holds

$$\max\{G_p(\phi(x_0), \nabla\phi(x_0), \nabla^2\phi(x_0)), \nabla_{\xi}F^p(\nabla\phi(x_0)) \cdot \nu\} \ge 0$$
(107)

$$(\min\{G_p(\phi(x_0), \nabla\phi(x_0), \nabla^2\phi(x_0)), \nabla_{\xi}F^p(\nabla u\phi(x_0)) \cdot \nu\} \le 0)$$
(108)

Definition 2.47. A continuous function *u* is a viscosity solution to (104) if and only if it is both a viscosity supersolution and a viscosity subsolution to (104).

Now we prove that a weak solution to the Neumann anisotropic p-Laplacian problem (12) is also a viscosity solution to (104).

Lemma 2.48. Let $u \in W^{1,p}(\Omega)$ be a weak solution to

$$\begin{cases} -\mathcal{Q}_p u = \Lambda_1(p,\Omega) |u|^{p-2} u & \text{in } \Omega \\ \nabla_{\zeta} F^p(\nabla u) \cdot v = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

then u is a viscosity solution to

$$\begin{cases} G_p(u, \nabla u, \nabla^2 u) = 0 & \text{in } \Omega \\ \nabla_{\xi} F^p(\nabla u) \cdot v = 0 & \text{on } \partial \Omega \end{cases}$$

Proof. In [15, Lemma 2.3] it is proved that every weak solution to $-Q_p u = \Lambda_1(p, \Omega)|u|^{p-2}u$ is a viscosity solution to $G_p(u, \nabla u, \nabla^2 u) = 0$ in Ω . It remains to show that the Neumann boundary condition is satisfied in the viscosity sense, as defined in (107) - (108). We firstly prove that u is a supersolution. Hence, let $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$, $\phi \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ such that $u(x_0) = \phi(x_0)$ and $\phi(x) < u(x)$ when $x \neq x_0$. By contradiction we assume that

$$\max\{G_p(\phi(x_0), \nabla\phi(x_0), \nabla^2\phi(x_0)), \nabla_{\xi}F^p(\nabla\phi(x_0)) \cdot \nu\} < 0.$$
(109)

Therefore, there exists r > 0 such that (109) holds for all $x \in \overline{\Omega} \cap W_r(x_0)$. We set $m := \inf_{\overline{\Omega} \cap \partial W_r(x_0)} (u - \phi) > 0$ and by $\psi(x) := \phi(x) + \frac{m}{2}$. If we take $(\psi - u)^+$ as test function in (103), we have both

$$\int_{\{\psi>u\}} F^{p-1}(\nabla\psi)\nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla\psi)\nabla(\psi-u) \, dx < \Lambda_1(p,\Omega) \int_{\{\psi>u\}} |\phi|^{p-2}\phi(\psi-u) \, dx$$

and

$$\int_{\{\psi>u\}} F^{p-1}(\nabla u) \nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla u) \nabla(\psi-u) \, dx = \Lambda_1(p,\Omega) \int_{\{\psi>u\}} |u|^{p-2} u(\psi-u) \, dx.$$

If we subtract these last two relation each other, by the convexity of F^p , we have

$$0 \leq \int_{\{\psi>u\}} \left(F^{p-1}(\nabla\psi) \nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla\psi) - F^{p-1}(\nabla u) \nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla u) \right) \nabla(\psi-u) \, dx$$
$$< \Lambda_1(p,\Omega) \int_{\{\psi>u\}} \left(|\phi|^{p-2} \phi - |u|^{p-2} u \right) (\psi-u) \, dx < 0.$$

This is absurd and hence conclude the proof.

The eigenvalue problem (13) arises as an asymptotic limit of the nonlinear eigenvalue problem (12). Indeed, on covex sets, the first nontrivial eigenfunction of the Neumann eigenvalue problem (12) converges to a viscosity solution of (13) and the limiting eigenvalue of (12) as $p \rightarrow \infty$ is the first nontrivial eigenvalue of the limit problem (13). Moreover this eigenvalue is closely related to the geometry of the considered domain Ω and, to give a geometric characterization, we define

$$\Lambda_1(\infty,\Omega) := \frac{2}{\operatorname{diam}_F(\Omega)},\tag{110}$$

where the anisotropic diameter is defined as in (46). Moreover, in the convex set Ω , we define the anisotropic distance between two points $x, y \in \Omega$ as

$$d_F(x,y) = F^o(x-y)$$

and the anisotropic distance between a point $x \in \Omega$ and a set $E \subset \Omega$ as

$$d_F(x,E) = \inf_{y\in E} F^o(x-y).$$

In the following Lemma we prove that (110) is the first nontrivial Neumann eigenvalue of (13).

Lemma 2.49. Let Ω be a bounded open connected set in \mathbb{R}^n with Lipschitz boundary, then

$$\lim_{p\to\infty}\Lambda_1(p,\Omega)^{\frac{1}{p}}=\Lambda_1(\infty,\Omega)$$

Proof. We will proceed by adapting the proof of [57, Lem. 1]. We divide the proof in two steps.

Step 1. $\limsup_{p\to\infty} \Lambda_1(p,\Omega)^{\frac{1}{p}} \leq \frac{2}{\operatorname{diam}_F(\Omega)}$.

We fix $x_0 \in \Omega$ and $c_p \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $w(x) := d_F(x, x_0) - c_p$ is an admissible test function in (102), that is $\int_{\Omega} |w|^{p-2}w \, dx = 0$. Recalling that $F(\nabla d_F(x, x_0)) = 1$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus 0$, we get

$$\Lambda_1(p,\Omega)^{rac{1}{p}} \leq rac{1}{\left(rac{1}{|\Omega|}\int_{\Omega}|d_F(x,x_0)-c_p|^p dx
ight)^{rac{1}{p}}}.$$

Since $0 \le c \le \text{diam}_F(\Omega)$, then there exists a constant *c* such that, up to a subsequence, $c_p \to c$ and $0 \le c \le \text{diam}_F(\Omega)$. Therefore we have that

$$\liminf_{p \to \infty} \left(\frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} |d_F(x, x_0) - c_p|^p dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} = \sup_{x \in \Omega} |d_F(x, x_0) - c| \ge \frac{\sup_{x \in \Omega} |d_F(x, x_0)|^p}{2}$$

for all $x_0 \in \Omega$, hence

$$\liminf_{p\to\infty}\Lambda_1(p,\Omega)^{-\frac{1}{p}}\geq \frac{\operatorname{diam}_F(\Omega)}{2}.$$

Step 2. $\limsup_{p\to\infty} \Lambda_1(p,\Omega)^{\frac{1}{p}} \ge \frac{2}{\operatorname{diam}_F(\Omega)}$. The minimum u_p of (102) is such that

$$\left(\frac{1}{|\Omega|}\int_{\Omega}F^{p}(\nabla u_{p})\ dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}=\Lambda_{1}(p,\Omega)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

Let us fix *m* such that n < m < p, then, by Hölder inequality we have

$$\left(\frac{1}{|\Omega|}\int_{\Omega}F^m(\nabla u_p)\ dx\right)^{\frac{1}{m}}\leq \Lambda_1(p,\Omega)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

Hence $\{u_p\}_{p \ge m}$ is uniformly bounded in $W^{1,m}(\Omega)$ and therefore weakly converges in $W^{1,m}(\Omega)$ to a function $u_{\infty} \in C_c(\Omega)$. By lower semicontinuity of $\int_{\Omega} F(\cdot)$ and by Hölder inequality, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{||F(u_{\infty})||_{m}}{||u_{\infty}||_{m}} &\leq \limsup_{p \to \infty} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} F^{m}(\nabla u_{p}) dx\right)^{\frac{1}{m}}}{\left(\frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} |u_{p}|^{m} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{m}}} \leq \\ &\leq \limsup_{p \to \infty} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} F^{p}(\nabla u_{p}) dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}}{\left(\frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} |u_{p}|^{m} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{m}}} = \\ &= \limsup_{p \to \infty} \Lambda_{1}(p, \Omega)^{\frac{1}{p}} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} |u_{p}|^{m} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{m}}}{\left(\frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} |u_{p}|^{m} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{m}}} = \limsup_{p \to \infty} \Lambda_{1}(p, \Omega)^{\frac{1}{p}} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} |u_{p}|^{m} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{m}}}{\left(\frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} |u_{p}|^{m} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{m}}} = \limsup_{p \to \infty} \Lambda_{1}(p, \Omega)^{\frac{1}{p}} \frac{||u_{\infty}||_{\infty}}{||u_{\infty}||_{m}}. \end{aligned}$$

Sending $m \to \infty$, we get

$$\frac{||F(u_{\infty})||_{\infty}}{||u_{\infty}||_{\infty}} \leq \limsup_{p \to \infty} \Lambda_1(p, \Omega)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

Now we show that condition $\int_{\Omega} |u_p|^{p-2} u_p \, dx = 0$ leads to

$$\sup u_{\infty} = -\inf u_{\infty} u_{\infty}. \tag{111}$$

Indeed, we have

$$0 \leq |||(u_{\infty})^{+}||_{p-1} - ||(u_{\infty})^{-}||_{p-1}| = = |||(u_{\infty})^{+}||_{p-1} - ||(u_{p})^{+}||_{p-1} + ||(u_{p})^{-}||_{p-1} - ||(u_{\infty})^{-}||_{p-1}| \leq \leq |||(u_{\infty})^{+}||_{p-1} - ||(u_{p})^{+}||_{p-1}| + ||(u_{\infty})^{-}||_{p-1} - ||(u_{p})^{-}||_{p-1}| \leq \leq ||(u_{\infty})^{+} - (u_{p})^{+}||_{p-1} + ||(u_{\infty})^{-} - (u_{p})^{-}||_{p-1}.$$

Letting $p \to \infty$, we obtain (111). Now, let us fix $x, y \in \Omega$ and let us define $v(t) = u_{\infty}(tx + (1-t)y)$. Using the scalar product property (30), we get

$$\begin{aligned} |u_{\infty}(x) - u_{\infty}(y)| &= |v(1) - v(0)| = \left| \int_{0}^{1} v'(t) dt \right| = \left| \int_{0}^{1} \nabla u_{\infty}(tx + (1 - t)y) \cdot (x - y) dt \right| \leq \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1} F(\nabla u_{\infty}(tx + (1 - t)y)) F^{o}(x - y) dt \leq \\ &\leq ||F(\nabla u_{\infty})||_{\infty} \int_{0}^{1} F^{o}(x - y) dt \leq ||F(\nabla u_{\infty})||_{\infty} d_{F}(x, y). \end{aligned}$$

Hence we conclude by observing that

$$2||u||_{\infty} = \sup u_{\infty} - \inf u_{\infty} \le |u_{\infty}(x) - u_{\infty}(y)| \le \\ \le ||F(\nabla u_{\infty})||_{\infty} d_F(x,y) \le ||F(\nabla u_{\infty})||_{\infty} \operatorname{diam}_F(\Omega).$$

We also treat the eigenvalue problem (13) in viscosity sense, hence now we recall the definition of viscosity supersolutions and viscosity subsolutions to this problem.

Definition 2.50. An upper semicontinuous function u is a viscosity subsolution to (13) if whenever $x_0 \in \Omega$ and $\phi \in C^2(\Omega)$ are such that

$$u(x_0) = \phi(x_0)$$
, and $u(x) < \phi(x)$ if $x \neq x_0$,

then

$$\begin{aligned} A(\phi(x_0), \nabla \phi(x_0), \nabla^2 \phi(x_0)) &\leq 0 \quad \text{if } u(x_0) > 0 \\ B(\phi(x_0), \nabla \phi(x_0), \nabla^2 \phi(x_0)) &\leq 0 \quad \text{if } u(x_0) < 0 \\ -\mathcal{Q}_{\infty} \phi(x_0) &\leq 0 \quad \text{if } u(x_0) = 0 \end{aligned}$$

while if $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$ *and* $\phi \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ *are such that*

$$u(x_0) = \phi(x_0)$$
, and $u(x) < \phi(x)$ if $x \neq x_0$,

then

$$\min\{A(\phi(x_0), \nabla\phi(x_0), \nabla^2\phi(x_0)), \nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla\phi(x_0)) \cdot \nu\} \le 0 \quad \text{if } u(x_0) > 0 \\ \min\{B(\phi(x_0), \nabla\phi(x_0), \nabla^2\phi(x_0)), \nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla\phi(x_0)) \cdot \nu\} \le 0 \quad \text{if } u(x_0) < 0 \\ \min\{-\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}\phi(x_0), \nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla\phi(x_0)) \cdot \nu\} \le 0 \quad \text{if } u(x_0) = 0 \\ \end{cases}$$

Definition 2.51. A lower semicontinuous function u is a viscosity supersolution to (13) if whenever $x_0 \in \Omega$ and $\phi \in C^2(\Omega)$ are such that

$$u(x_0) = \phi(x_0)$$
, and $u(x) > \phi(x)$ if $x \neq x_0$,

then

$$A(\phi(x_0), \nabla\phi(x_0), \nabla^2\phi(x_0)) \ge 0 \quad \text{if } u(x_0) > 0 \tag{112}$$

 $B(\phi(x_0), \nabla \phi(x_0), \nabla^2 \phi(x_0)) \ge 0 \quad \text{if } u(x_0) < 0 \tag{113}$

$$-\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}\phi(x_0) \ge 0 \quad \text{if } u(x_0) = 0 \tag{114}$$

while if $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$ *and* $\phi \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ *are such that*

$$u(x_0) = \phi(x_0)$$
, and $u(x) > \phi(x)$ if $x \neq x_0$,

then

$$\max\{A(\phi(x_0), \nabla\phi(x_0), \nabla^2\phi(x_0)), \nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla\phi(x_0)) \cdot \nu\} \ge 0 \quad \text{if } u(x_0) > 0 \tag{115}$$

$$\max\{B(\phi(x_0), \nabla\phi(x_0), \nabla^2\phi(x_0)), \nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla\phi(x_0)) \cdot \nu\} \ge 0 \quad \text{if } u(x_0) < 0 \tag{116}$$

$$\max\{-\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}\phi(x_0), \nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla\phi(x_0))\cdot\nu\} \ge 0 \quad \text{if } u(x_0) = 0 \tag{117}$$

Definition 2.52. A continuous function u is a viscosity solution to (13) if and only if it is both a viscosity subsolution and a viscosity supersolution to (13).

Definition 2.53. We say that a function $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ is an eigenfunction of (13) if there exists $\Lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ such that u solves (13) in viscosity sense. The number Λ is called an ∞ -eigenvalue.

Theorem 2.54. Let Ω be an open bounded connected set \mathbb{R}^n . If u_{∞} and $\Lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)$ are defined as in Lemma 2.49 above, then u_{∞} satisfies (13) in viscosity sense with $\Lambda = \Lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)$.

Proof. In Lemma 2.49 we have proved that there exists a subsequence u_{p_i} uniformly converging to u_{∞} in Ω . To prove that u_{∞} is a viscosity supersolution to (13) in Ω , we fix $x_0 \in \Omega$, $\phi \in C^2(\Omega)$ such that $\phi(x_0) = u_{\infty}(x_0)$ and $\phi(x) < u_{\infty}(x)$ for $x \in \Omega \setminus \{x_0\}$.

There exists r > 0 such that $u_{p_i} \to u_{\infty}$ uniformly in the Wulff shape $W_r(x_0)$, therefore it can be proved that $u_{p_i} - \phi$ has a local minimum in x_i such that $\lim_{i\to\infty} x_i = x_0$. By Lemma 2.49 again, we observe that u_{p_i} is a viscosity solution to (104) and in particular is a viscosity supersolution. Choosing $\psi(x) = \phi(x) - \phi(x_i) + u_{p_i}(x_i)$ as test function in (103), we obtain that (105) holds, therefore

$$-(p_i-2)F^{p_i-4}(\nabla\phi(x_i))\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}\phi(x_i) - F^{p_i-2}(\nabla\phi(x_i))\Delta_F(\phi(x_i)) \ge \Lambda_1(p_i,\Omega)|u_{p_i}(x_i)|^{p_i-2}u_{p_i}(x_i).$$
(118)

Hence three cases can occur.

Case 1: $u_{\infty}(x_0) > 0$. If p_i is sufficiently large then also $\phi(x_i) > 0$ and $\nabla \phi(x_i) \neq 0$ otherwise we reach a contradiction in (118). Dividing by $(p_i - 2)F^{p_i - 4}(\nabla \phi(x_i))$ both members of (118), we have

$$-\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}\phi(x_{i}) - \frac{\Delta_{F}(\phi(x_{i}))}{p_{i}-2} \ge \left(\frac{\Lambda_{1}(p_{i},\Omega)^{\frac{1}{p_{i}}}u_{p_{i}}(x_{i})}{F(\nabla\phi(x_{i}))}\right)^{p_{i}-4} \frac{\Lambda_{1}(p_{i},\Omega)^{\frac{4}{p_{i}}}u_{p_{i}}^{3}(x_{i})}{p_{i}-2}.$$
 (119)

Sending $p_i \rightarrow \infty$, we obtain the necessary condition

$$\frac{\Lambda_1(\infty,\Omega)\phi(x_0)}{F(\nabla\phi(x_0))} < 1.$$
(120)

Taking into account (120) and sending $p_i \rightarrow \infty$ in (119), we obtain

$$-\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}\phi(x_0) \ge 0. \tag{121}$$

Inequalities (120) and (121) must hold together, and therefore we have

$$\min\{F(\nabla\phi(x_0)) - \Lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)\phi(x_0), -\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}\phi(x_0)\} \ge 0.$$

Case 2: $u_{\infty}(x_0) < 0$. Let us observe that, by definition, also $\phi(x_0) < 0$. We have to show that

$$\max\{-F(\nabla\phi(x_0))-\Lambda_1(\infty,\Omega)\phi(x_0), -\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}\phi(x_0)\}\geq 0.$$

If $-F(\nabla \phi(x_0)) - \Lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)\phi(x_0) \ge 0$, the proof is terminated. Therefore we assume $-F(\nabla \phi(x_0)) - \Lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)\phi(x_0) < 0$, that is

$$0 > \frac{\Lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)\phi(x_0)}{F(\nabla\phi(x_0))} > -1.$$

Now let us observe that also in this case, if p_i is sufficiently large, then $\nabla \phi(x_i) \neq 0$. Therefore

$$0>\lim_{p_i o\infty}\Lambda_1(p_i,\Omega)^{rac{1}{p_i}}\lim_{x_i o x_0}rac{u_{p_i}(x_i)}{F(
abla\phi(x_i))}>-1$$

and hence, if *p* is sufficiently large, by continuity of ϕ , this inequality holds

$$0 > \frac{\Lambda_1(p_i, \Omega)^{\frac{1}{p_i}} u_{p_i}(x_i)}{F(\nabla \phi(x_i))} > -1.$$
(122)

Dividing again by $(p_i - 2)F(\nabla \phi(x_i))^{p_i-4}$ both members of (118), we have

$$-\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}\phi(x_{i}) - \frac{\Delta_{F}(\phi(x_{i}))}{p_{i}-2} \geq -\frac{\Lambda_{1}(p_{i},\Omega)^{\frac{4}{p_{i}}}u_{p_{i}}^{3}(x_{i})}{p_{i}-2} \left(-\frac{\Lambda_{1}(p_{i},\Omega)^{\frac{1}{p_{i}}}u_{p_{i}}(x_{i})}{F(\nabla\phi(x_{i}))}\right)^{p_{i}-4}.$$
 (123)

Taking into account (122) and sending $p_i \rightarrow \infty$ in (123), we obtain

 $-\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}\phi(x_0)\geq 0.$

that ends the proof in the case 2.

Case 3: $u_{\infty}(x_0) = 0$. If $\nabla \phi(x_0) = 0$ then, by definition, $-Q_{\infty}\phi(x_0) = 0$ and $A(\phi(x_0), \nabla \phi(x_0), \nabla^2 \phi(x_0))$. On the other hand, if $\nabla \phi(x_0) \neq 0$ we have that $\lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{\Lambda_1(p_i, \Omega)^{\frac{1}{p_i}} \phi(x_i)}{F(\nabla \phi(x_i))} = 0$. Then, again dividing by $(p_i - 2)F^{p_i - 4}(\nabla \phi(x_i))$ both members of (118) and sending $p_i \to \infty$ in (119), we obtain

$$-\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}\phi(x_0) \geq 0.$$

Finally we prove that u_{∞} satisfies also the boundary condition in viscosity sense. We assume that $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$, $\phi \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ is such that $\phi(x_0) = u_{\infty}(x_0)$ and $\phi(x) < u_{\infty}(x)$ in $\overline{\Omega} \setminus \{0\}$. Using again the uniform convergence of u_{p_i} to u_{∞} we obtain that $u_{p_i} - \phi$ has a minimum point $x_i \in \overline{\Omega}$, with $\lim_{i\to\infty} x_i = x_0$.

When $x_i \in \Omega$ for infinitely many *i*, arguing as before, we get

$$\min\{F(\nabla\phi(x_0)) - \Lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)\phi(x_0), -\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}\phi(x_0)\} \ge 0, \quad \text{if } u_{\infty}(x_0) > 0, \\ \max\{-F(\nabla\phi(x_0)) - \Lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)\phi(x_0), -\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}\phi(x_0)\} \ge 0, \quad \text{if } u_{\infty}(x_0) < 0, \\ -\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}\phi(x_0) \ge 0, \quad \text{if } u_{\infty}(x_0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

When $x_i \in \partial \Omega$, since u_{p_i} is a viscosity solution to (104), for infinitely many *i* we have

$$\max\{G_p(\phi(x_i), \nabla\phi(x_i), \nabla^2\phi(x_i)), \nabla_{\xi}F^p(\nabla\phi(x_i)) \cdot \nu\} \ge 0.$$

If $G_p(\phi(x_i), \nabla \phi(x_i), \nabla^2 \phi(x_i)) \ge 0$, we argue again as before, otherwise we have that $\nabla_{\xi} F^p(\nabla \phi(x_i)) \cdot \nu \ge 0$, i.e. $F^{p-1}(\nabla \phi(x_i)) \nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla \phi(x_i)) \cdot \nu \ge 0$. This implies $\nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla \phi(x_i)) \cdot \nu \ge 0$ and passing to the limit for $i \to \infty$ we have $\nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla \phi(x_0)) \cdot \nu \ge 0$, that concludes the proof. Arguing in the same way we can prove that u_{∞} is a viscosity subsolution to (13) in Ω .

2.4.2 Proof of the Main Result

In this Section we will use some comparison result for viscosity solutions. Let us observe that uniqueness and comparison theorems for elliptic equations of second order (see for example [32]) of the form $G(x, u, \nabla u, \nabla^2 u) = 0$ require that the function G(x, r, p, X) has to satisfy a fundamental monotonicity condition:

$$G(x, r, p, X) \le G(x, s, p, Y)$$
 whenever $r \le s$ and $Y \le X$,

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $r, s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $X, Y \in S^n$, where S^n is the set of symmetric $n \times n$ matrices. The equation

$$\begin{cases} A(u, \nabla u, \nabla^2 u) = \min\{F(\nabla u) - \Lambda u, -\mathcal{Q}_{\infty} u\} = 0 & \text{in } \Omega, \text{ if } u > 0, \\ B(u, \nabla u, \nabla^2 u) = \max\{-F(\nabla u) - \Lambda u, -\mathcal{Q}_{\infty} u\} = 0 & \text{in } \Omega, \text{ if } u < 0, \\ -\mathcal{Q}_{\infty} u = 0 & \text{in } \Omega, \text{ if } u = 0 \end{cases}$$

does not satisfy this monotonicity condition.

So, for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough, in the sequel we will use a comparison result for lower semicontinuous functions *u* that has a strictly positive minimum *m* in an open bounded set. It is easily seen that if *u* is a viscosity supersolution to the first equation of (13), then it is also a viscosity supersolution to

$$\min\{F(\nabla u) - \varepsilon, -\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}u\} = 0, \tag{124}$$

with $\varepsilon = \Lambda m$.

To state the main Theorem, we give two preliminary results. We can argue as in [57, Lem. 3, Lem. 4, Prop. 1]. For completeness we give the proof.

Lemma 2.55. Let Ω be a smooth open bounded convex set in \mathbb{R}^n , let $\Lambda > 0$ be an eigenvalue for problem (13) that admits a nontrivial eigenfunction u.

- (1) If Ω_1 is an open connected subset Ω such that $u \ge m$ in $\overline{\Omega}_1$ for some positive constant m, then u > m in Ω_1 .
- (2) The eigenfunction u changes sign.

Proof. To prove (*i*), we fix $x_0 \in \Omega_1$ and we prove that $u(x_0) > m$. Firstly, let us observe that u is a viscosity supersolution and that $u \neq m$ for any $W_R(x_0) \subset \Omega_1$. Otherwise $F(\nabla u) - \Lambda u < 0$ (in viscosity sense), that contradicts (112). Therefore, there exists $x_1 \in W_{\frac{R}{4}}(x_0)$ such that $u(x_1) > m$. For $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough, there exists $r \leq d_F(x_0, x_1)$ such that $u > m + \varepsilon$ on $\partial W_r(x_1)$. Therefore the function

$$v(x) = m + \frac{\varepsilon}{\frac{R}{2} - r} \left(\frac{R}{2} - F^o(x - x_1)\right) \quad \text{in } W_{\frac{R}{2}}(x_1) \setminus W_r(x_1),$$

by using (34), satisfies

$$-\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}v = 0$$
 in $W_{\frac{R}{2}}(x_1) \setminus W_r(x_1)$.

Hence v is a solution and in particular a viscosity subsolution to $-Q_{\infty}v = 0$, and therefore v is a viscosity subsolution to (124). Furtherly, u is a viscosity supersolution to (124) with $\varepsilon = \Lambda m$ and

$$u \geq v$$
 in $\partial W_{\frac{R}{2}}(x_1) \setminus \partial W_r(x_1)$.

The comparison principle in [80] implies $u \ge v > m$ in $W_{\frac{R}{2}}(x_1) \setminus W_r(x_1)$. Therefore $u(x_0) > m$ and this conclude the proof of (1).

To prove (2), we observe that the solution u to (13) is a nontrivial solution, so we can assume that it is positive somewhere, at most changing sign. We have to prove that the minimum m of u in $\overline{\Omega}$ is negative. By contradiction we assume $m \ge 0$ and two cases occur.

Case 1: m > 0. By (1), the minimum cannot be obtained in Ω .

Case 2: m = 0. Since $u \neq 0$, if the minimum is reached in Ω , then there would exists a point $x_0 \in \Omega$ and a Wulff shape $W_R(x_0) \subset \Omega$ such that $u(x_0) = 0$ and $\max_{W_{\frac{R}{4}}(x_0)} u > 0$. Now let $x_1 \in W_{\frac{R}{4}}(x_0)$ such that $u(x_1) > 0$. The continuity of u implies that there exists $r \leq d_F(x_0, x_1)$ such that $u > \frac{u(x_1)}{2}$ on $\partial W_r(x_1)$. Therefore the function

$$v(x) = \frac{u(x_1)}{R-2r} \left(\frac{R}{2} - F^o(x-x_1) \right)$$
 in $W_{\frac{R}{2}}(x_1) \setminus W_r(x_1)$,

is such that

$$-\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}v=0$$
 in $W_{\frac{R}{2}}(x_1)\setminus W_r(x_1)$.

Hence v is a solution and in particular a viscosity subsolution to $-Q_{\infty}v = 0$, therefore v is a viscosity subsolution to (124). Furtherly, u is a viscosity supersolution to (124) with $\varepsilon = \Lambda m$ and

$$u \geq v$$
 in $\partial W_{\frac{R}{2}}(x_1) \setminus \partial W_r(x_1)$.

The comparison principle in [80] implies $u \ge v > 0$ in $W_{\frac{R}{2}}(x_1) \setminus W_r(x_1)$, and therefore $u(x_0) > 0$.

We have proved that there exists a nonnegative minimum point $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$. We shall prove that u does not satisfies the boundary condition (115)-(117) for viscosity supersolutions. Indeed there certainly exists $\bar{x} \in \Omega$ and r > 0 such that the Wulff shape $W_r(x_0)$ is inner tangential to $\partial \Omega$ at x_0 and $\partial W_r(\bar{x}) \cap \partial \Omega = \{x_0\}$. Then the function

$$v(x) = u(\bar{x}) - \left(\frac{u(\bar{x}) - u(x_0)}{r}\right) F^o(x - \bar{x}) \quad \text{in } W_r(\bar{x}) \setminus \{\bar{x}\}$$

is such that

$$-\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}v=0$$
 in $W_r(\bar{x})\setminus\{\bar{x}\}$.

Hence v is a solution and in particular is a viscosity subsolution to $-Q_{\infty}v = 0$, therefore v is a viscosity subsolution to (124). Furtherly, u is a viscosity supersolution to (124) with $\varepsilon = \Lambda m$ and

$$u \ge v$$
 in $\partial W_r(\bar{x}) \cup \{\bar{x}\}$.

The comparison principle in [80] implies $u \ge v > 0$ in $\overline{W_r(\bar{x})}$. Therefore the function

$$\phi(x) = u(\bar{x}) - (u(\bar{x}) - u(x_0)) \left(\frac{F^o(x - \bar{x})}{r}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

is such that $\phi \in C^2(\overline{\Omega} \setminus \{\bar{x}\})$,

$$\phi < v \le u$$
 in $W_r(\bar{x}) \setminus \{\bar{x}\}$,
 $\phi(x) < u(x_0) \le u(x)$ in $\Omega \setminus W_r(\bar{x})$

and

$$u(x_0) = \phi(x_0).$$

Hence ϕ gives a contradiction with the boundary condition for viscosity supersolution. Indeed we have that $-Q_{\infty}\phi(x_0) = \frac{1}{8r^4\sqrt{r}}(u(\bar{x}) - u(x_0))^3 < 0$ that is in contradiction with (117) if $u(x_0) = 0$. Otherwise, if $u(x_0) > 0$, we have that

$$A(\phi(x_0), \nabla \phi(x_0), \nabla^2 \phi(x_0)) = \min\{F(\nabla \phi(x_0)) - \Lambda \phi(x_0), -\mathcal{Q}_{\infty} \phi(x_0)\} < 0.$$

Furthermore,

$$\nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla\phi(x_0))\cdot\nu=-\frac{x_0-\bar{x}}{F^o(x_0-\bar{x})}\cdot\nu<0,$$

and hence

$$\max\{A(\phi(x_0), \nabla\phi(x_0), \nabla^2\phi(x_0)), \nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla\phi(x_0)) \cdot \nu\} < 0$$

that contradicts (115).

Now we prove that $\Lambda_{\infty}(\Omega)$ as defined in (110) is the first nontrivial eigenvalue.

Proposition 2.56. Let Ω be a smooth open bounded convex set in \mathbb{R}^n . If for some $\Lambda > 0$ the eigenvalue problem (13) admits a nontrivial eigenfunction u, then $\Lambda \ge \Lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)$.

Proof. Let us denote by $\Omega_+ = \{x \in \Omega : u(x) > 0\}$ and $\Omega_- = \{x \in \Omega : u(x) < 0\}$. By Lemma 2.55, they are both nonempty. Now we call \overline{u} the normalized function of u such that

$$\max_{\overline{\Omega}} \bar{u} = \frac{1}{\Lambda}.$$

The fact that $\Lambda \bar{u} \leq 1$ and that u is a viscosity subsolution to (13) imply that \bar{u} is also a viscosity subsolution to

$$\min\{F(\nabla \bar{u}) - 1, -\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}\bar{u}\} = 0 \quad \text{in } \Omega_+.$$

For all $x_0 \in \Omega \setminus \Omega_+$, $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\gamma > 0$, we consider the function

$$g_{arepsilon,\gamma}(x) = (1+arepsilon)F^o(x-x_0) - \gamma(F^o(x-x_0))^2.$$

It belongs to $C^2(\Omega \setminus W_{\rho}(x_0))$ for every $\rho > 0$ and, if γ is small enough compared with ε , it verifies

$$\min\{F(\nabla g_{\varepsilon,\gamma})-1,-\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}g_{\varepsilon,\gamma}\}\geq 0 \qquad \text{in } \Omega_+.$$

Hence, the comparison principle in [80] hence implies that

$$m = \inf_{x \in \Omega_+} (g_{\varepsilon,\gamma}(x) - u(x)) = \inf_{x \in \partial \Omega_+} (g_{\varepsilon,\gamma}(x) - u(x)).$$
(125)

We show now that the minimum is reached on Ω . By (125) this means that we want to prove that

$$m = \inf_{x \in \Omega_+} (g_{\varepsilon,\gamma}(x) - u(x)) = \inf_{x \in \partial \Omega_+ \cap \Omega} (g_{\varepsilon,\gamma}(x) - u(x)) \ge 0.$$
(126)

We assume that there exists $\bar{x} \in \partial \Omega \cap \partial \Omega_+$ such that $g_{\varepsilon,\gamma}(\bar{x}) - u(\bar{x}) = m$. We get $g_{\varepsilon,\gamma}(x) - m$ as test function in (2.50), then, by construction for every $x \in \partial \Omega \cap \partial \Omega_+$ and $\gamma < \frac{\varepsilon}{2 \operatorname{diam}_F(\Omega)}$, it results that

$$egin{aligned} F(
abla g_{arepsilon,\gamma}(x)) &= 1 + arepsilon - 2\gamma F^o(x-x_0) > 1, \
abla F(
abla g_{arepsilon,\gamma}(x)) \cdot
u &= rac{x-x_0}{F^o(x-x_0)} \cdot
u > 0, \
-\mathcal{Q}_\infty g_{arepsilon,\gamma}(x) &= 2\gamma F^2(
abla g_{arepsilon,\gamma}(x)) > 0 \end{aligned}$$

which gives a contradiction to (2.50).

Hence (126) implies that

$$g_{arepsilon,\gamma}(x) \geq u(x) \quad orall \ x \in \overline{\Omega^+}$$
 , $orall \ x_0 \in \overline{\Omega^-}.$

Sending ε and γ go to zero we have that

$$F^o(x-x_0) \ge u(x) \quad \forall \ x \in \overline{\Omega^+} \ , \ \forall \ x_0 \in \overline{\Omega^-},$$

therefore

$$d_F^+ = \sup_{x \in \overline{\Omega_+}} d_F(x, \{u = 0\}) \ge \frac{1}{\Lambda}$$

Arguing in the same way we obtain

$$d_F^- = \sup_{x \in \overline{\Omega_-}} d_F(x, \{u=0\}) \ge \frac{1}{\Lambda}$$

Finally

$$\operatorname{diam}_F(\Omega) \geq d_F^+ + d_F^- \geq \frac{2}{\Lambda},$$

which concludes the proof of our proposition.

In conclusion, Theorem 2.54 and Proposition 2.56 leads to the main result.

Theorem 2.57. Let Ω be a smooth open bounded convex set in \mathbb{R}^n . Then a necessary condition for existence of nonconstant continuous solutions to (13) is

$$\Lambda \geq \Lambda_1(\infty, \Omega) = rac{2}{\operatorname{diam}_F(\Omega)}.$$

Problem (13) admits a Lipschitz solution when $\Lambda = \frac{2}{\operatorname{diam}_{F}(\Omega)}$.

One of most interesting consequences of this result is that, with the use of the isodiametric inequality (47), we can state an anisotropic version of a Szegö-Weinberger inequality.

Theorem 2.58. The Wulff shape $f \Omega^*$ maximizes the first nontrivial Neumann ∞ -eigenvalue among smooth open bounded convex sets Ω of fixed volume:

$$\Lambda_1(\infty,\Omega) \leq \Lambda_1(\infty,\Omega^\star)$$

2.4.3 Geometric properties of the first ∞-eigenvalue

A consequence of the main Theorem 2.57 is in showing that the first nontrivial Neumann ∞ -eigenvalue $\Lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)$ is never large than the first Dirichlet ∞ -eigenvalue $\lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)$. To prove this result, we first recall two preliminary Lemmas from [21, Lem. A.1, Lem. 2.2].

Lemma 2.59. Let $\ell > 0$ and $g : [-\ell, \ell] \to \mathbb{R}^+$ defined by

$$g(s) = \omega_{n-1} \left| \ell - s \right|^{n-1}.$$

Then, the problem

$$\eta := \inf_{v \in W^{1,p}((-\ell,\ell) \setminus \{0\}\}} \left\{ \frac{\int_{-\ell}^{\ell} |v'|^p g \, ds}{\int_{-\ell}^{\ell} |v|^p g \, ds} : \int_{-\ell}^{\ell} |v|^{p-2} vg \, ds = 0 \right\}.$$

admits a solution. Any optimizer f is a weak solution of

$$\begin{cases} -(g|f'|^{p-2}f')' = \eta g|f|^{p-2}f, & in \ (-\ell, \ell), \\ f'(-\ell) = f'(\ell) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Moreover, f vanishes at x = 0 only and thus is also a weak solution of

$$\begin{cases} -(g|f'|^{p-2}f')' = \eta g|f|^{p-2}f, & in \ (0,\ell), \\ f'(0) = f'(\ell) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Lemma 2.60. Let Ω be an open convex set, and let $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$. Then

$$(x-x_0)\cdot\nu(x)\leq 0$$
, for a.e. $x\in\mathbb{R}^n$,

where v is the outer unit normal to $\partial \Omega$ at the point x.

Now we give an important spectral Theorem that extends the result in [21, Theorem 3.1] to the anisotropic case.

Proposition 2.61. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be an open bounded convex set 1 . Then we have

$$\Lambda_1(p,\Omega) < \lambda_1(p,W) \left(\frac{\operatorname{diam}_F(W)}{\operatorname{diam}_F(\Omega)}\right)^p \tag{127}$$

where W is any n-dimensional Wulff shape.

Equality sign in (127) is never achieved but the inequality is sharp. More precisely, there exists a sequence $\{\Omega_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ of convex sets such that:

- diam_{*F*}(Ω_k) = d > 0 for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$;
- Ω_k converges to a segment of anisotropic lenght (that is the diameter) d in the Hausdorff topology;
- it holds

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \Lambda_1(p, \Omega_k) = \lambda_1(p, W_{\frac{d}{2}})$$
(128)

where $W_{\frac{d}{2}}$ is an *n*-dimensional Wulff shape of anisotropic radius $\frac{d}{2}$.

Proof. We split the proof into two parts: at the first we prove (127), then we construct the sequence $\{\Omega_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ verifying (128).

Step 1. Without loss of generality, since (127) is in scaling invariant form, we have only to prove that

$$\Lambda_1(p,\Omega) < \lambda_1(p,W)$$

where *W* is the Wulff shape centered in the origin such that $\operatorname{diam}_F(\Omega) = \operatorname{diam}_F(W)$. Let us take $u \in C^{1,\alpha}(\overline{W}) \cap C^{\infty}(W \setminus \{0\})$ the first Dirichlet eigenfunction for the Wulff shape *W* such that it is positive and normalized by the condition $||u||_{L^p(W)} = 1$. This function *u* is convexly symmetric in the sense of (35), i.e. $u(x) = u^*(x)$, and solves (see for examples [45])

$$\begin{cases} -\mathcal{Q}_p u = \lambda_1(p, W) u^{p-1} & \text{in } W, \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial W. \end{cases}$$
(129)

Now, we have two points $x_0, x_1 \in \partial \Omega$ such that $F^o(x_0 - x_1) = \text{diam}_F(\Omega)$ and we define the sets

$$\Omega_i = \left\{ x \in \Omega : F^o(x - x_i) < \frac{\operatorname{diam}_F(\Omega)}{2} \right\}, \quad i = 0, 1,$$

which are mutually disjoint. Then we consider the $W^{1,p}(\Omega)$ function

$$\varphi(x) = u(x-x_0)\chi_{\Omega_0}(x) - cu(x-x_0)\chi_{\Omega_1}(x)$$

where $c = \frac{\int_{\Omega_0} u(x-x_0)^{p-1} dx}{\int_{\Omega_1} u(x-x_1)^{p-1} dx}$, so that $\int_{\Omega} |\varphi|^{p-2} \varphi dx = 0$. By using this function in the Raylegh quotient, we have

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_{1}(p,\Omega) &= \min_{u \in W^{1,p}(\Omega)} \frac{\int_{\Omega} F^{p}(\nabla u) \, dx}{\int_{\Omega} |u|^{p} \, dx} \\ &\leq \frac{\int_{\Omega_{0}} F^{p}(\nabla u(x-x_{0})) \, dx + \int_{\Omega_{1}} F^{p}(\nabla u(x-x_{0})) \, dx}{\int_{\Omega_{0}} |u(x-x_{0})|^{p} \, dx + \int_{\Omega_{1}} |u(x-x_{0})|^{p} \, dx} \end{split}$$

Now we prove that this inequality is strict. In fact, by contradiction, if φ achieves the minimum $\Lambda_1(p, \Omega)$ of the Raylegh quotient, then φ solves $-Q_p u = \Lambda_1(p, \Omega)|u|^{p-2}u$ in Ω , in the weak sense. Let us take $y_0 \in \partial \Omega_0 \cap \Omega$, by picking a Wulff shape $W_{\rho}(y_0)$ with radius ρ sufficiently small so that $W_{\rho}(y_0) \subset \Omega \setminus \Omega_1$, we would obtain that φ is a nonnegative solution to the equation above in $W_{\rho}(y_0)$. Then, by Harnack's inequality (see [110]) we obtain

$$0<\max_{W_
ho(x_0)}arphi\leq\min_{W_
ho(x_0)}arphi=0$$
,

that is absurd. Hence

$$\Lambda_1(p,\Omega) < \frac{\int_{\Omega_0} F^p(\nabla u(x-x_0)) \, dx + \int_{\Omega_1} F^p(\nabla u(x-x_0)) \, dx}{\int_{\Omega_0} |u(x-x_0)|^p \, dx + \int_{\Omega_1} |u(x-x_0)|^p \, dx}$$

Let us observe that $u(x - x_i) = 0$ on $\partial \Omega_i \cap \Omega$ and therefore, by an integration by parts, by (31) and by (129), we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega_0} F(\nabla u(x-x_0))^p \, dx &= \int_{\Omega_0} F^{p-1}(\nabla u(x-x_0)) \nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla u(x-x_0)) \nabla u(x-x_0) \, dx = \\ &= \int_{\partial \Omega \cap \partial \Omega_0} F^{p-1}(\nabla u(x-x_0)) \nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla u(x-x_0)) \cdot v \, u(x-x_0) \, dx \\ &- \int_{\Omega_0} \operatorname{div}(F^{p-1}(\nabla u(x-x_0)) \nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla u(x-x_0)) u(x-x_0) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\partial \Omega \cap \partial \Omega_0} F^{p-1}(\nabla u(x-x_0)) \nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla u(x-x_0)) \cdot v \, u(x-x_0) \, dx \\ &+ \lambda_1(p, W) \int_{\Omega_0} u^p(x-x_0) \, dx. \end{split}$$

Since *u* is a convexly symmetric function, i.e. it coincides with its convex rearrangement (35), by (36)-(37)-(38) we have $\nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla u(x - x_0)) = \frac{x - x_0}{F^0(x - x_0)}$ and hence

$$\nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla u(x-x_0)) \cdot \nu = \frac{1}{F^o(x-x_0)} (x-x_0) \cdot \nu$$

that is negative by Lemma 2.60. An analogous computation holds on Ω_1 . Finally we obtain

$$\Lambda_1(p,\Omega) < \lambda_1(p,W) \frac{\int_{\Omega_0} |u(x-x_0)|^p \, dx + c^p \int_{\Omega_1} |u(x-x_1)|^p \, dx}{\int_{\Omega_0} |u(x-x_0)|^p \, dx + c^p \int_{\Omega_1} |u(x-x_1)|^p \, dx} = \lambda_1(p,W)$$

Step 2. Let $W_{\frac{d}{2}}$ a Wulff shape of radius $\frac{d}{2}$. Now we construct a sequence of convex sets $\{\Omega_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$, with diam_{*F*}(Ω_k) = *d* and such that

$$\lambda_1(p, W_{\frac{d}{2}}) \leq \liminf_{k \to \infty} \Lambda_1(p, \Omega_k).$$

As observed in (99), the diameter is invariant by rotation. Hence we can suppose that there exists a rotation $A \in SO(n)$ such that the anisotropic diameter is on the x_1 axis. Moreover we observe that, by the change of variables y = Ax and using (98), we have

$$\int_{\Omega} F^p(\nabla u(x)) \, dx = \int_{A\Omega} F^p_A(\nabla u(A^T y)) \, dy.$$

Therefore we can suppose that *A* is the identity matrix. By the properties of *F*, we observe that when we fix the direction e_1 of the x_1 axis, there exists a positive constant γ such that $\alpha \leq \gamma \leq \beta$ and

$$F^{o}(\xi) = \gamma |\xi|$$
 and $F(\xi) = \frac{1}{\gamma} |\xi|, \quad \forall \xi \in \text{Span}\{e_1\}.$ (130)

Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $k \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$, we denote by

$$C_k^-(s) = \{(x_1, x') \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{n-1} : (x_1 - s)_- > k |x'|\}$$

and

$$C_k^+(s) = \{ (x_1, x') \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{n-1} : (x_1 - s)_+ > k |x'| \}$$

the left and right circular infinite cone in \mathbb{R}^n whose axis is the x_1 -axis, having vertex in $(s, 0) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$, and whose opening angle is $\alpha = 2 \arctan \frac{1}{k}$. We set $\frac{d}{2\gamma} = \ell$

$$\Omega_k = C_k^-(\ell) \cap C_k^+(-\ell).$$

Let us observe that for *k* big enough, the points that realize the anisotropic diameter of Ω_k are $(-\ell, 0)$ and $(\ell, 0) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$. They have anisotropic distance that is $F^o(\ell + \ell, 0) = 2\gamma \ell = d$. Whenever $u \in W^{1,p}(\Omega_k)$, then $v(x_1, x') = u\left(x_1, \frac{x'}{k}\right)$ belong to $W^{1,p}(\Omega_1)$ and we have

$$\int_{\Omega_1} F^p \left(\frac{\partial v}{\partial x_1}, k \nabla_{x'} v \right) dx = k^{n-1} \int_{\Omega_k} F^p (\nabla u) dx,$$
$$\int_{\Omega_1} |v|^p = k^{n-1} \int_{\Omega_k} |u|^p dx,$$
$$\int_{\Omega_1} |v|^{p-2} v dx = k^{n-1} \int_{\Omega_k} |u|^{p-2} u dx = 0.$$

Thus we obtain

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_1(p,\Omega_k) &= \min_{u \in W^{1,p}(\Omega_k) \setminus \{0\}} \left\{ \frac{\int_{\Omega_k} F^p(\nabla u) \, dx}{\int_{\Omega_k} |u|^p \, dx} : \int_{\Omega_k} |u|^{p-2} u \, dx \right\} \\ &= \min_{v \in W^{1,p}(\Omega_1) \setminus \{0\}} \left\{ \frac{\int_{\Omega_1} F^p(\frac{\partial v}{\partial x_1}, k \nabla_{x'} v) \, dx}{\int_{\Omega_1} |v|^p \, dx} : \int_{\Omega_1} |v|^{p-2} u \, dx \right\} := \gamma_k(\Omega_1). \end{split}$$

n

Now we denote by u_k a function which minimizes the Raylegh quotient defining $\Lambda_1(p,\Omega_k)$ and and by $v_k(x_1,x') = u_k\left(x_1,\frac{x'}{k}\right)$ the corresponding function which minimizes the functional defining $\gamma_k(\Omega_1)$. Without loss of generality we can assume that $||v_k||_{L^p(\Omega_1)} = 1$. Inequality (127) implies that

$$\int_{\Omega_1} F^p\left(\frac{\partial v}{\partial x_1}, k\nabla_{x'}v\right) \, dx \le C_{n,p,d} \tag{131}$$

for all $k \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$, then there exists $w \in W^{1,p}(\Omega_1) \setminus \{0\}$ so that $v_k \rightharpoonup w$ in $W^{1,p}(\Omega_1)$ and strongly in $L^p(\Omega_1)$. So we have that $\int_{\Omega_1} |w|^{p-2}w \, dx = 0$ and the bound (131) implies that for every given $k_0 \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$, we have

$$k_0^p \alpha^p \int_{\Omega_1} |\nabla_{x'} w|^p \, dx \le \alpha^p \int_{\Omega_1} \left(\left| \frac{\partial w}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 + k_0^2 |\nabla_{x'} w|^2 \right)^{\frac{k}{2}} \, dx$$

$$\le \int_{\Omega_1} F^p \left(\frac{\partial w}{\partial x_1}, k_0 \nabla_{x'} w \right) \, dx \le \liminf_{k \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} F^p \left(\frac{\partial v_k}{\partial x_1}, k_0 \nabla_{x'} v_k \right) \, dx \le C_{n,p,d}$$

which gives $\nabla_{x'}w = 0$ by the arbitrariness of k_0 . Thus w does not depend on the x' variables and with an abuse of notation, we will write $w = w(x_1)$. For all $t \in [-\ell, \ell]$ we denote by Γ_t the section of Ω_1 which is ortogonal to the x_1 axis at $x_1 = t$ and we set $g(t) = \mathcal{H}^{n-1}(\Gamma_t)$. Also using (130), we get

$$\begin{split} & \liminf_{k \to \infty} \gamma_k(\Omega_1) = \liminf_{k \to \infty} \frac{\int_{\Omega_1} F^p(\frac{\partial v_k}{\partial x_1}, k \nabla_{x'} v_k) \, dx}{\int_{\Omega_1} |v_k|^p \, dx} \\ & \geq \frac{\int_{\Omega_1} F^p(w', 0, ..., 0) \, dx}{\int_{\Omega_1} |v|^p \, dx} = \frac{1}{\gamma^p} \frac{\int_{-\ell}^{\ell} |w'(t)|^p g(t) \, dt}{\int_{-\ell}^{\ell} |w(t)|^p g(t) \, dt} \\ & \geq \frac{1}{\gamma^p} \min_{\varphi \in W^{1, p}(-\ell, \ell)} \left\{ \frac{\int_{-\ell}^{\ell} |\varphi'(t)|^p g(t) \, dt}{\int_{-\ell}^{\ell} |\varphi(t)|^p g(t) \, dt}, \int_{-\ell}^{\ell} |\varphi(t)|^{p-2} \varphi(t) g(t) \, dt = 0 \right\} \end{split}$$

Let us denote by η the previous minimal value, then, by Lemma 2.59, a minimizer *f* exists and it is a solution to the following boundary value problem

$$\begin{cases} -(g(t)|f'(t)|^{p-2}f'(t))' = \eta g(t)|f(t)|^{p-2}f(t), \text{ in } (-\ell,\ell) \\ f'(-\ell) = f'(\ell) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Still by 2.59, we have that f(0) = 0 and hence solves

$$\begin{cases} -(g(t)|f'(t)|^{p-2}f'(t))' = \eta g(t)|f(t)|^{p-2}f(t), \text{ in } (0,\ell) \\ f'(0) = f'(\ell) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Finally, by remainding that $g(t) = \omega_{n-1}(\ell - t)^{n-1}$ for $t \in (-\ell, \ell)$, if we set $h(r) = f(\ell - r)$, then this solves

$$\begin{cases} -(r^{n-1}|h'(r)|^{p-2}h'(r))' = \eta r^{n-1}|h(r)|^{p-2}h(r), \text{ in } (0,\ell) \\ h'(0) = h'(\ell) = 0. \end{cases}$$

which means that the function $H(x) = h(F^o(x))$ is a Dirichlet eigenfunction of Q_p of on n-dimensional Wulff shape of anisotropic radius ℓ , namely W_ℓ . Hence $\eta \ge \lambda_1(p, W_\ell) = \lambda_1\left(p, W_{\frac{d}{2\gamma}}\right)$ and we get

$$\liminf_{k\to\infty}\Lambda_1(p,\Omega_k)=\liminf_{k\to\infty}\gamma_k(\Omega_1)\geq \frac{1}{\gamma^p}\eta\geq \frac{1}{\gamma^p}\lambda_1\left(p,W_{\frac{d}{2\gamma}}\right)=\lambda_1\left(p,W_{\frac{d}{2}}\right).$$

This concludes the proof.

From Proposition 2.61 follows the following.

Proposition 2.62. Let Ω be an open bounded convex set in \mathbb{R}^n , then

$$\Lambda_1(p,\Omega)) < \lambda_1(p,\Omega) \tag{132}$$

Proof. The proof follows by combining (127), the Faber-Krahn inequality [44, Th. 6.1] and the isodiametric inequality (47).

Now we are in position to give the following Theorem.

Theorem 2.63. Let Ω be an open convex set in \mathbb{R}^n , then the first positive Neumann eigenvalue $\Lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)$ is never larger than the first Dirichlet eigenvalue $\lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)$. Moreover $\Lambda_1(\infty, \Omega) = \lambda_1(\infty, \Omega^*)$ if and only if Ω is a Wulff shape.

Proof. By convergence result in [15, Lemma 3.1] for Dirichlet eigenvalues and in Lemma 2.49 for Neumann eigenvalues, the proof follows by getting $p \to \infty$ in (132). The second assertion follows immediately by definitions of $\lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)$ and $\Lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)$.

Moreover we observe that the main Theorem 2.57 has two other important consequences regarding the geometric properties of the eigenfunction. The first one show that closed nodal domain cannot exist in Ω .

Theorem 2.64. For convex Ω any Neumann eigenfunctions associated with $\Lambda_1(\infty, \Omega)$ cannot have a closed nodal domain inside Ω .

Proof. By contradiction, we assume that it exists a closed nodal line inside Ω . Since a Neumann eigenfunction u for the ∞ -Laplacian is continuous, this implies that it exists an open subset $\Omega' \subset \Omega$ such that u > 0 in Ω' and u = 0 in $\partial \Omega'$. Let us observe that u is also a Dirichlet eigenfunction on Ω' of the anisotropic ∞ -Laplacian problem, hence, recalling [15, eq. (3.2)], we get

$$rac{2}{\operatorname{diam}_F(\Omega)} = \Lambda_1(\infty,\Omega) = \lambda_1(\infty,\Omega') = rac{1}{i_F(\Omega')} \geq rac{2}{\operatorname{diam}_F(\Omega)}$$

where $i_F(\Omega')$ is the anisotropic inradius of Ω' . The last inequality is strict for all sets other than Wullf sets. This proves the corollary.

Finally we give a result related to the hot-spot conjecture (see [25]), that says that a first nontrivial Neumann eigenfunction for the linear Laplace operator on a convex domain should attain its maximum or minimum on the boundary of this domain.

Theorem 2.65. If Ω is convex and smooth, then any first nontrivial Neumann eigenfunction, *i.e.* any viscosity solution to (13) for $\Lambda = \Lambda_{\infty}$ attains both its maximum and minimum only on the boundary $\partial \Omega$. Moreover the extrema of *u* are located at points that have maximal anisotropic distance in $\overline{\Omega}$.

Proof. If we consider \overline{x} and \underline{x} , respectively, the maximum and the minimum point of u, we obtain that

$$d_F(\overline{x},\Omega_-) \geq rac{1}{\Lambda} \quad ext{and} \quad d_F(\underline{x},\Omega_+) \geq rac{1}{\Lambda}$$

so that diam_{*F*}(Ω) $\geq F^{o}(\overline{x} - \underline{x}) \geq \frac{2}{\Lambda}$. Since $\Lambda = \Lambda_{\infty}$, equality holds and the maximum and the minimum of *u* are attained in boundary points which have farthest anisotropic distance from each other.

3 NONLOCAL PROBLEMS

In this chapter we treats some nonlinear nonlocal anisotropic eigenvalue problems. In the first section we determine the shape that minimizes, among domains with given measure, the first eigenvalue of the anisotropic laplacian perturbed by an integral of the unknown function. Using also some properties related to the associated "twisted" problem, we show that, this problem displays a *saturation* phenomenon: the first eigenvalue increases with the weight up to a critical value and then remains constant. With the intent to give a generalization of some of this and related results, in Section 2, we firstly we analyze the behaviour of the euclidean case in one dimension of the Laplacian.

3.1 A NONLOCAL ANISOTROPIC EIGENVALUE PROBLEM

3.1.1 The first eigenvalue of the nonlocal problem

Now we recall some known results about the anisotropic local ($\alpha = 0$) eigenvalue problem.

Theorem 3.1. Let Ω be an open bounded set, then

$$\lambda(0,\Omega) \ge \lambda(0,\Omega^{\star}) = \frac{\kappa_n^{2/n} j_{n/2-1,1}}{|\Omega|^{2/n}}.$$
(133)

The details of the proof can be found in [12, Th. 3.3]. The computation of the first eigenvalue on Ω^* comes from the fact that the first eigenfunction $u(x) = u^*(x)$ in W_R satisfies (see also [99]):

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d^2}{d\rho^2} u^*(\kappa_n \rho^n) + \frac{n-1}{\rho} \frac{d}{d\rho} u^*(\kappa_n \rho^n) + \lambda u^*(\kappa_n \rho^n) = 0 & \text{in } \mathcal{W}_R \\ u^*(\kappa_n \rho^n) = 0 & \text{on } \partial \mathcal{W}_R, \end{cases}$$

where $\rho = F^{o}(x)$ and *R* is the radius of the set Ω^{\star} , which is a Wulff shape.

As a consequence of these and other related Theorems, we have:

Proposition 3.2. Let Ω be the union of two disjoint Wulff shapes of radii $R_1, R_2 \ge 0$.

- (a) If $R_1 < R_2$, then the first eigenvalue $\lambda(0, \Omega)$ coincides with the first eigenvalue on the larger Wulff shape. Hence, any associated eigenfunction is simple and identically zero on the smaller set and it does not change sign on the larger one.
- (b) If Ω is the union of two disjoint Wulff shapes of equal radii, then the first eigenvalue $\lambda(0, \Omega)$ is $\frac{2^{2/n} \kappa_n^{2/n} j_{n/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}}$. It is not simple and there exists an associated eigenfunction with zero average.

In this Section we collect some properties of problem (14), which will be fundamental in the proof of the main theorem.

Proposition 3.3. *Let* Ω *be an open bounded set, then the problem* (14) *admits a solution* $\forall \alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ *.*

Proof. The direct methods in the Calculus of Variation provide an existence proof for a minimizer of (14). In a bounded domain Ω , the existence of a first eigenfunction (and of the first eigenvalue) is established via a minimizing sequence u_k for the Raylegh quotient. By homogeneity, it is possible the normalization and, using the Rellich-Kondrachov imbedding theorem [9, Th. IX.16], we find a minimizer by the lower semicontinuity [77, Th. 4.5] of the functional.

Remark 3.4. Let us note that if $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ is a minimizer of problem (14), then it satisfies the associated Euler-Lagrange equation, that we can write as $L_{\alpha}u = \lambda u$, where

$$L_{\alpha}u := -\operatorname{div}(F(\nabla u)\nabla F(\nabla u)) + \alpha \int_{\Omega} u \, dx.$$
(134)

Proposition 3.5. Let Ω be a bounded open set which is union of two disjoint Wulff shapes $W_{R_1}(x_1)$ and $W_{R_2}(x_2)$, with $R_1, R_2 \ge 0$, and let L_{α} be the operator as in (134). Then:

- (a) if a real number λ is an eigenvalue of $L_{\alpha}u = \lambda u$ for some nonzero α , either there exists no other real value of α for which λ is an eigenvalue of L_{α} or λ is an eigenvalue of the local problem ($\alpha = 0$); in the last case λ is an eigenvalue of L_{α} for all real α .
- (b) λ is an eigenvalue of $L_{\alpha}u = \lambda u$ for all α if and only if it is an eigenvalue of the local problem having an eigenfunction with zero average in Ω .

Proof. We set $W_i = W_{R_i}(x_i)$, i = 1, 2. We assume that λ is an eigenvalue for two distinct parameters α_1 and α_2 and that u and v are the corresponding eigenfunctions. If we denote $u_i := u|_{W_i}$ and $v_i := v|_{W_i}$, i = 1, 2, then the functions u_i satisfy

$$-\operatorname{div}(F(\nabla u_i)\nabla F(\nabla u_i)) + \alpha_1\left(\int_{\Omega} u \, \mathrm{d}x\right) = \lambda u_i \quad \text{on } \mathcal{W}_i, \text{ for } i = 1, 2; \tag{135}$$

and the functions v_i satisfy

$$-\operatorname{div}(F(\nabla v_i)\nabla F(\nabla v_i)) + \alpha_2\left(\int_{\Omega} v \, \mathrm{d}x\right) = \lambda v_i \quad \text{on } \mathcal{W}_i, \text{ for } i = 1, 2.$$
(136)

We observe that $u_i(x) = u_i^*(\kappa_n(F^o(x - x_i))^n)$ and $v_i(x) = v_i^*(\kappa_n(F^o(x - x_i))^n)$, i = 1, 2. This means that, by (36), (37) and (38), we have

$$\int_{\mathcal{W}_{i}} F(\nabla u_{i}) \nabla F(\nabla u_{i}) \nabla v_{i} \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$= \int_{\mathcal{W}_{i}} -u_{i}^{*'} (\kappa_{n}(F^{o}(x-x_{i}))^{n}) n \kappa_{n}(F^{o}(x-x_{i}))^{n-1} \frac{x-x_{i}}{F^{o}(x-x_{i})} \cdot v_{i}^{*'} (\kappa_{n}(F^{o}(x-x_{i}))^{n}) n \kappa_{n}(F^{o}(x-x_{i}))^{n-1} \nabla F^{o}(x-x_{i}) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$= \int_{\mathcal{W}_{i}} F(\nabla v_{i}) \nabla F(\nabla v_{i}) \nabla u_{i} \, \mathrm{d}x.$$
(137)

for i = 1, 2. Now, we multiply the first equations of (135) and (136) respectively by v_1 and u_1 , the second ones by v_2 and u_2 and then we integrate the first equations on W_1 and the second ones on W_2 . By subtracting each one the equations integrated on W_1 and using (137), we get

$$\alpha_1 \int_{\mathcal{W}_1} v_1 \, \mathrm{d}x \int_{\Omega} u \, \mathrm{d}x - \alpha_2 \int_{\mathcal{W}_1} u_1 \, \mathrm{d}x \int_{\Omega} v \, \mathrm{d}x = 0, \tag{138}$$

in the same way we get also

$$\alpha_1 \int_{W_2} v_2 \, \mathrm{d}x \int_{\Omega} u \, \mathrm{d}x - \alpha_2 \int_{W_2} u_2 \, \mathrm{d}x \int_{\Omega} v \, \mathrm{d}x = 0. \tag{139}$$

Hence, the sum of (138) and (139) leads to

$$(\alpha_1 - \alpha_2) \int_{\Omega} u \, \mathrm{d}x \int_{\Omega} v \, \mathrm{d}x = 0.$$
(140)

The result (a) follows because, if α_1 and α_2 are distinct, either u_1 or u_2 must have zero average, and hence satisfy the local equation. Finally, if (140) is valid for all α_1 , α_2 , there is at least one eigenfunction with zero average and also (b) is proved.

Proposition 3.6. Let Ω be a connected bounded open set and $\alpha \leq 0$. Then the first eigenvalue of (14) is simple and the corresponding eigenfunction has constant sign in all Ω .

Proof. For any $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ we have $\mathscr{Q}_{\alpha}(u, \Omega) \ge \mathscr{Q}_{\alpha}(|u|, \Omega)$ with equality if and only if u = |u| or u = -|u|. From now on, without loss of generality, we can assume that $u \ge 0$. Let us observe that if u is a minimizer of (14), then it satisfies (134) with $\alpha \int_{\Omega} u \le 0$. Therefore u is strictly positive in Ω by a weak Harnack inequality (see [110, Th. 1.2]). Now, we give a proof of simplicity following the arguments of [12] and [14]. Let u and v be two positive eigenfunctions, then we can find a real constant c such that u and cv have the same integral:

$$\int_{\Omega} u \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} c \, v \, \mathrm{d}x. \tag{141}$$

We call *w* the function *cv*, which is again an eigenfunction and we set

$$\varphi = \left(\frac{u^2 + w^2}{2}\right)^{1/2}$$

which is an admissible function. A short calculation yields

$$\nabla \varphi = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} \frac{u \nabla u + w \nabla w}{(u^2 + w^2)^{1/2}}$$

and hence, by homogeneity, we have

$$F^{2}(\nabla\varphi) = \frac{u^{2} + w^{2}}{2}F^{2}\left(\frac{u\nabla u + w\nabla w}{u^{2} + w^{2}}\right)$$
$$= \frac{u^{2} + w^{2}}{2}F^{2}\left(\frac{u^{2}\nabla\log u + w^{2}\nabla\log w}{u^{2} + w^{2}}\right).$$

Because of the convexity of $F(\xi)$ and the fact that $u^2/(u^2 + w^2)$ and $w^2/(u^2 + w^2)$ add up to 1, we can use Jensen's inequality to obtain

$$F^{2}(\nabla\varphi) \leq \frac{u^{2} + w^{2}}{2} \left[\frac{u^{2}}{u^{2} + w^{2}} F^{2}(\nabla \log u) + \frac{w^{2}}{u^{2} + w^{2}} F^{2}(\nabla \log w) \right]$$

= $\frac{1}{2} F^{2}(\nabla u) + \frac{1}{2} F^{2}(\nabla w).$ (142)

On the other hand, we have

$$\left(\int_{\Omega} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x\right)^2 \ge \left(\int_{\Omega} \left(\frac{u}{2} + \frac{w}{2}\right) \, \mathrm{d}x\right)^2 = \frac{1}{2} \left(\int_{\Omega} u \, \mathrm{d}x\right)^2 + \frac{1}{2} \left(\int_{\Omega} w \, \mathrm{d}x\right)^2 \tag{143}$$
Hence, definition (14) and inequalities (142)-(143) yield the following inequality chain

$$\lambda(\alpha,\Omega) \leq \frac{\int_{\Omega} F^{2}(\nabla\varphi) \, \mathrm{d}x + \alpha \left(\int_{\Omega} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x\right)^{2}}{\int_{\Omega} \varphi^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x}$$

$$\leq \frac{\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} F^{2}(\nabla u) \, \mathrm{d}x + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} F^{2}(\nabla w) \, \mathrm{d}x + \frac{\alpha}{2} \left(\int_{\Omega} u \, \mathrm{d}x\right)^{2} + \frac{\alpha}{2} \left(\int_{\Omega} w \, \mathrm{d}x\right)^{2}}{\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} u^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} w^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x}$$

$$= \lambda(\alpha,\Omega).$$
(144)

Therefore, inequalities in (144) hold as equalities. This implies that $F^2(\nabla \varphi) = \frac{1}{2}F^2(\nabla u) + \frac{1}{2}F^2(\nabla w)$ almost everywhere. By (142), the strict convexity of the level sets of *H* gives that $\nabla \log u = \nabla \log w$ a.e.. This proves that *u* and *w* are constant multiples of each other and, in view of (141), we have u = w. Therefore *u* and *v* are proportional.

Proposition 3.7. Let Ω be a bounded open set, then:

- (a) the first eigenvalue of (14) $\lambda(\alpha, \Omega)$ is Lipschitz continuous and non-decreasing with respect to α (increasing when the eigenfunction relative to $\lambda(\alpha, \Omega)$ has nonzero average);
- (b) for nonnegative values of α , the first eigenvalue of (14) $\lambda(\alpha, \Omega)$ satisfies

$$\lambda(\alpha, \Omega) \ge \frac{\kappa_n^{2/n} j_{n/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}};$$
(145)

(c) for nonnegative values of α , if Ω is the union of two disjoint Wulff shapes of equal radii, the first eigenvalue of (14) $\lambda(\alpha, \Omega)$ is equal to $\frac{2^{2/n} \kappa_n^{2/n} j_{n/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}}$.

Proof.

(a) By simple computation we have the following inequalities

$$\mathscr{Q}_{\alpha}(u,\Omega) \leq \mathscr{Q}_{\alpha+\varepsilon}(u,\Omega) \leq \mathscr{Q}_{\alpha}(u,\Omega) + |\Omega|\varepsilon \quad \forall \ \varepsilon > 0.$$

Taking the minimum over all $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$, we obtain

$$\lambda(\alpha, \Omega) \leq \lambda(\alpha + \varepsilon, \Omega) \leq \lambda(\alpha, \Omega) + |\Omega| \varepsilon \quad \forall \ \varepsilon > 0,$$

and, in view of Proposition 3.5 (*a*)-(*b*), the claim follows.

- (b) By monotonicity of $\lambda(\alpha, \Omega)$ with respect to α , we have that $\lambda(\alpha, \Omega) \ge \lambda(0, \Omega)$; then, by (133), we obtain the (145).
- (c) By Proposition 3.2 (*b*), if Ω is the union of two disjoint Wulff shapes of equal radii, $\frac{2^{2/n}\kappa_n^{2/n}j_{n/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}}$ is the first eigenvalue of the local problem and it admits an eigenfunction with zero average. This implies that, by Proposition 3.5 (*b*), $\frac{2^{2/n}\kappa_n^{2/n}j_{n/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}}$ is an eigenvalue of L_{α} for all α .

In this Section we prove a Raylegh-Faber-Krahn type equation for the twisted eigenvalue problem

$$\lambda^{T}(\Omega) = \inf_{\substack{u \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega) \\ u \neq 0}} \mathscr{Q}^{T}(u, \Omega),$$
(146)

where

$$\mathscr{Q}^{T}(u,\Omega) = \left\{ \frac{\int_{\Omega} F^{2}(\nabla u) \, \mathrm{d}x}{\int_{\Omega} u^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x}, \int_{\Omega} u \, \mathrm{d}x = 0 \right\}$$

Let us denote by

$$\Omega_{+} = \{ x \in \Omega, u(x) > 0 \} \text{ and } \Omega_{-} = \{ x \in \Omega, u(x) < 0 \},$$
(147)

and by \mathcal{W}_+ and \mathcal{W}_- the Wulff shapes such that $|\mathcal{W}_{\pm}| = |\Omega_{\pm}|$.

Lemma 3.8.

$$\lambda^T(\Omega) \geq \lambda^T(\mathcal{W}_+ \cup \mathcal{W}_-)$$

Proof. Let us denote with u_+^* (resp. u_-^*) the decreasing convex rearrangement of $u|_{\Omega_+}$ (resp. $u|_{\Omega_-}$). The Pólya-Szegö principle (39) and properties of convex rearrangements provide

$$\lambda^{T}(\Omega) \geq \frac{\int_{\mathcal{W}_{+}} F^{2}(\nabla u_{+}^{\star}) \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_{\mathcal{W}_{-}} F^{2}(\nabla u_{-}^{\star}) \, \mathrm{d}s}{\int_{\mathcal{W}_{+}} (u_{+}^{\star})^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_{\mathcal{W}_{-}} (u_{-}^{\star})^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s}$$
(148)

and

$$\int_{\mathcal{W}_{+}} u_{+}^{\star} \, \mathrm{d}s - \int_{\mathcal{W}_{-}} u_{-}^{\star} \, \mathrm{d}s = \int_{\Omega^{+}} u \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega^{-}} u \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} u \, \mathrm{d}x = 0.$$
(149)

In view of (148) and (149), we have the following inequality:

$$\lambda^T(\Omega) \geq \lambda^* := \inf_{\substack{(f,g)\in H^1_0(\mathcal{W}_+) imes H^1_0(\mathcal{W}_-)\ \int_{\mathcal{W}_+} f \ \mathrm{d}s = \int_{\mathcal{W}_-} g \ \mathrm{d}s}} rac{\int_{\mathcal{W}_+} F^2(
abla f) \ \mathrm{d}s + \int_{\mathcal{W}_-} F^2(
abla g) \ \mathrm{d}s}{\int_{\mathcal{W}_+} f^2 \ \mathrm{d}s + \int_{\mathcal{W}_-} g^2 \ \mathrm{d}s}.$$

Using classical methods of calculus of variations, we can prove that this infimum is attained in (f,g). Now, following the ideas of [72, Sect. 3], the function

$$w = \begin{cases} f & \text{in } \mathcal{W}_+ \\ -g & \text{in } \mathcal{W}_- \end{cases}$$

satisfies

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(F(\nabla w)\nabla F(\nabla w)) = \lambda^* w - \frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\mathcal{W}_+ \cup \mathcal{W}_-} \operatorname{div}(F(\nabla w)\nabla F(\nabla w)) \, \mathrm{d}x & \text{in } \mathcal{W}_+ \cup \mathcal{W}_- \\ w = 0 & \text{on } \partial(\mathcal{W}_+ \cup \mathcal{W}_-). \end{cases}$$

This shows that λ^* is an eigenvalue of the twisted problem (146) on $\mathcal{W}_+ \cup \mathcal{W}_-$ and therefore, $\lambda^T(\Omega) \ge \lambda^* \ge \lambda^T(\mathcal{W}_+ \cup \mathcal{W}_-)$.

(150)

Throughout this Section, we investigate the first eigenvalue when Ω is the union of two disjoint Wulff shapes, of radii $R_1 \leq R_2$. Without loss of generality, we assume that the volume of Ω is such that

$$R_1^n + R_2^n = 1$$

and we denote by $\theta(R_1, R_2)$, the first positive root of equation

$$R_1^n \frac{J_{\frac{n}{2}+1}\left(\theta \ R_1\right)}{J_{\frac{n}{2}-1}\left(\theta \ R_1\right)} + R_2^n \frac{J_{\frac{n}{2}+1}\left(\theta \ R_2\right)}{J_{\frac{n}{2}-1}\left(\theta \ R_2\right)} = 0$$
(151)

Now we recall a result given in [72, Prop. 3.2].

Proposition 3.9. There exists a constant $c_n < 1$, depending on the dimension n, such that

(a) if
$$R_1/R_2 < c_n$$
, then $\lambda^T \left(\mathcal{W}_{R_1} \cup \mathcal{W}_{R_2} \right) = \left(\frac{j_{\frac{n}{2},1}}{R_2} \right)^2$;

(b) if $R_1/R_2 \ge c_n$, then $\lambda^T (\mathcal{W}_{R_1} \cup \mathcal{W}_{R_2}) = \theta^2(R_1, R_2)$.

Moreover, if we set $\theta^* = 2^{1/n} j_{\frac{n}{2}-1,1}$, we obtain the following

Proposition 3.10. The first positive root equation of $(151) \theta(R_1, R_2)$ satisfies

$$\theta(R_1, R_2) \geq \theta^*$$

for all $R_1, R_2 \ge 0$.

This result is proved in [72, Lemma 3.3] when Ω has the same measure as the unit ball, but it can be obtained for all sets of finite measure. Now, we show the following isoperimetric inequality.

Theorem 3.11. Let Ω be any bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^n . Then

$$\lambda^T(\Omega) \geq \lambda^T(\mathcal{W}_1 \cup \mathcal{W}_2)$$

where W_1 and W_2 are two disjoint Wulff shapes of measure $|\Omega|/2$. Equality holds if and only if $\Omega = W_1 \cup W_2$.

Proof. Thanks to Lemma 3.8, it remains to prove that the union of two disjoint Wulff shapes with the same measure gives the lowest possible value of $\lambda^T(\cdot)$ among unions of disjoint Wulff shapes with given measure $|\Omega|$. Hence, we compute the first twisted eigenvalue of the union Ω of the Wulff shapes $\mathcal{W}_{R_1}(x_1)$ and $\mathcal{W}_{R_2}(x_2)$, with $R_1 \leq R_2$. If we consider the eigenfunction that is zero on the smaller Wulff shape and coincides with the first eigenfunction on the larger one, we trivially have $\lambda_1^T(\mathcal{W}_{R_1}(x_1) \cup \mathcal{W}_{R_2}(x_2)) = \lambda_1^T(\mathcal{W}_{R_2}(x_2))$.

Now we study the case in which the eigenfunction u does not vanish on any of the two Wulff shapes. We denote by u_1 and u_2 the functions that express u respectively on $W_{R_1}(x_1)$ and $W_{R_2}(x_2)$. The proof of Lemma 3.8 shows that we can study only functions dependent on the radius of the Wulff shape in which are defined. Therefore, in an abuse of notation, we consider functions such that $u_j(x) = u_j(F^o(x - x_j))$, for j = 1, 2, and hence, instead of (150), we can solve equivalently (see [99])

$$\begin{cases} u_j''(\rho) + \frac{n-1}{\rho} u_j'(\rho) + \lambda^T u_j(\rho) = c, \ 0 < \rho < R_j \\ u_j'(0) = 0, \ u_j(R_j) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(152)

for j = 1, 2, where $c = \frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(F(\nabla u) \nabla_{\xi} F(\nabla u)) \, dx$. Therefore, the solution u of (152) can be written in the form:

$$u = \begin{cases} u_{1} = c_{1} \left((F^{o}(x - x_{1}))^{1 - \frac{n}{2}} J_{\frac{n}{2} - 1} \left(\sqrt{\lambda^{T}} F^{o}(x - x_{1}) \right) \\ -R_{1}^{1 - \frac{n}{2}} J_{\frac{n}{2} - 1} \left(\sqrt{\lambda^{T}} R_{1} \right) \right) \text{ in } \mathcal{W}_{R_{1}}(x_{1}) \\ u_{2} = -c_{2} \left((F^{o}(x - x_{2}))^{1 - \frac{n}{2}} J_{\frac{n}{2} - 1} \left(\sqrt{\lambda^{T}} F^{o}(x - x_{2}) \right) \\ -R_{2}^{1 - \frac{n}{2}} J_{\frac{n}{2} - 1} \left(\sqrt{\lambda^{T}} R_{2} \right) \right) \text{ in } \mathcal{W}_{R_{2}}(x_{2}) \end{cases}$$
(153)

Now we express the coupling condition $\int_{\Omega} u \, dx = 0$ as

$$0 = \int_{\mathcal{W}_{R_1}} u_1 \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\mathcal{W}_{R_2}} u_2 \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

and hence we obtain

$$0 = c_1 \left(\gamma_n \int_0^{R_1} J_{\frac{n}{2}-1} \left(\sqrt{\lambda^T} \, \rho \right) \rho^{\frac{n}{2}} \, \mathrm{d}\rho - \kappa_n R_1^{\frac{n}{2}+1} J_{\frac{n}{2}-1} \left(\sqrt{\lambda^T} \, R_1 \right) \right) - c_2 \left(\gamma_n \int_0^{R_2} J_{\frac{n}{2}-1} \left(\sqrt{\lambda^T} \, \rho \right) \rho^{\frac{n}{2}} \, \mathrm{d}\rho - \kappa_n R_2^{\frac{n}{2}+1} J_{\frac{n}{2}-1} \left(\sqrt{\lambda^T} \, R_2 \right) \right).$$

We use classical properties of Bessel functions [114], namely

$$\int_0^R J_{\frac{n}{2}-1}(kr) r^{\frac{n}{2}} dr = \frac{1}{k} R^{\frac{n}{2}} J_{\frac{n}{2}}(kr) \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{n}{kr} J_{\frac{n}{2}}(kr) - J_{\frac{n}{2}-1}(kr) = J_{\frac{n}{2}+1}(kr),$$

together with $\gamma_n = n\kappa_n$, where γ_n is the generalized perimeter of W, to get

$$c_1 R_1^{\frac{n}{2}+1} J_{\frac{n}{2}+1} \left(\sqrt{\lambda^T} R_1 \right) - c_2 R_2^{\frac{n}{2}+1} J_{\frac{n}{2}+1} \left(\sqrt{\lambda^T} R_2 \right) = 0.$$

Hence it is possible to take

$$c_1 = R_2^{\frac{n}{2}+1} J_{\frac{n}{2}+1} \left(\sqrt{\lambda^T} R_2 \right) \text{ and } c_2 = R_1^{\frac{n}{2}+1} J_{\frac{n}{2}+1} \left(\sqrt{\lambda^T} R_1 \right)$$
(154)

in (153).

Now we want that the constant *c* in (152) is the same for j = 1 and for j = 2. This automatically implies that this constant *c* coincides with the average of the anisotropic laplacian computed on *u*. Since

$$div(F(\nabla u_1)\nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla u_1)) = -c_1\lambda^T(F^o(x-x_1))^{1-\frac{n}{2}}J_{\frac{n}{2}-1}\left(\sqrt{\lambda^T} F^o(x-x_1)\right) div(F(\nabla u_2)\nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla u_2)) = c_2\lambda^T(F^o(x-x_2))^{1-\frac{n}{2}}J_{\frac{n}{2}-1}\left(\sqrt{\lambda^T} F^o(x-x_2)\right),$$

we have

$$c = \operatorname{div}(F(\nabla u_1)\nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla u_1)) + \lambda^T u_1 = -c_1\lambda^T R_1^{1-\frac{n}{2}} J_{\frac{n}{2}-1}\left(\sqrt{\lambda^T} R_1\right)$$

$$c = \operatorname{div}(F(\nabla u_2)\nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla u_2)) + \lambda^T u_1 = c_2\lambda^T R_2^{1-\frac{n}{2}} J_{\frac{n}{2}-1}\left(\sqrt{\lambda^T} R_2\right).$$

Comparing this two relations and taking in account (154), if we set $\lambda^T(W_{R_1}(x_1) \cup W_{R_2}(x_2)) = \theta^2$, the condition -c + c = 0 gives the equation (151). Now we observe that, in the case that $R_1/R_2 < c_n$, by Proposition 3.9 (*a*) and by the inequality $j_{\frac{n}{2},1} > 2^{1/n} j_{\frac{n}{2}-1,1}$ [72, Cor. A.2], we have

$$\lambda^{T}(\mathcal{W}_{R_{1}}(x_{1})\cup\mathcal{W}_{R_{2}}(x_{2}))\geq\left(\frac{j_{\frac{n}{2},1}}{R_{2}}\right)^{2}\geq\left(j_{\frac{n}{2},1}\right)^{2}>\left(2^{1/n}j_{\frac{n}{2}-1,1}\right)^{2}=\theta^{*2}.$$

If $R_1/R_2 \ge c_n$, by Proposition 3.9 (*b*) and Proposition 3.10, we have

$$\lambda^T(\mathcal{W}_{R_1}(x_1)\cup\mathcal{W}_{R_2}(x_2))=(\theta(R_1,R_2))^2\geq \theta^{*2}.$$

Therefore, in both case, we obtain that $\lambda^T(\mathcal{W}_{R_1}(x_1) \cup \mathcal{W}_{R_2}(x_2)) \ge \theta^{*2}$ and since θ^* is the value of $\lambda^T(\Omega)$ computed on two Wulff shapes with the same measure, this conclude the proof.

3.1.3 The Nonlocal Problem

The aim of this Section is to prove Theorem 3.16. We start by showing some preliminary results.

Theorem 3.12. Let Ω be an open bounded set in \mathbb{R}^n , then there exists a positive value of α such that the corresponding first eigenvalue $\lambda(\alpha, \Omega)$ is greater or equal than $\frac{2^{2/n} \kappa_n^{2/n} j_{n/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}}$.

Proof. We first observe that $\lambda(\alpha, \Omega)$ is bounded, indeed

$$\lim_{\alpha \to +\infty} \lambda(\alpha, \Omega) \leq \min_{\substack{u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \\ u \neq 0}} \left\{ \frac{\int_{\Omega} (F(\nabla u))^2 \, \mathrm{d}x}{\int_{\Omega} u^2 \, \mathrm{d}x}, \int_{\Omega} u \, \mathrm{d}x = 0 \right\} = \lambda^T(\Omega).$$

Compactness arguments show that there exists a sequence of eigenfunctions u_{α} , $\alpha \to +\infty$, with norm in $L^2(\Omega)$ equal to 1, weakly converging in $H_0^1(\Omega)$ and strongly in $L^2(\Omega)$ to a function u. Obviously $\int_{\Omega} u_{\alpha} dx \to \int_{\Omega} u dx = 0$, as $\alpha \to +\infty$ (this limit exists by compactness) and hence, by the lower semicontinuity [77, Th. 4.5]

$$\lim_{\alpha \to +\infty} \lambda(\alpha, \Omega) \ge \inf_{\substack{u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \\ u \neq 0}} \left\{ \frac{\int_{\Omega} (F(\nabla u))^2 \, \mathrm{d}x}{\int_{\Omega} u^2 \, \mathrm{d}x}, \int_{\Omega} u \, \mathrm{d}x = 0 \right\} = \lambda^T(\Omega).$$

In Theorem 3.11 we have proved that the last term is greater or equal than the first eigenvalue on two disjoint Wulff shapes of equal radii. Therefore, by Proposition 3.7 (*c*), the result follows.

Proposition 3.13. If $\alpha > 0$ and Ω is a bounded, open set in \mathbb{R}^n which is not union of two disjoint Wulff shapes. Then there exist \mathcal{W}_{R_1} and \mathcal{W}_{R_2} disjoint such that $|\mathcal{W}_{R_1} \cup \mathcal{W}_{R_2}| = |\Omega|$ and

$$\lambda(\alpha,\Omega) > \lambda(\alpha,\mathcal{W}_{R_1}\cup\mathcal{W}_{R_2}) = \min_{\substack{A=\mathcal{W}_{R_1}\cup\mathcal{W}_{R_2}\\|A|=|\Omega|}} \lambda(\alpha,A).$$

Proof. Let *u* be an eigenfunction of (14), Ω_{\pm} be defined as in (147), $u_{\pm} = u|_{\Omega_{\pm}}$ and Ω_{\pm}^{\star} be the Wulff shapes with the same measure as Ω_{\pm} . Using (39), it is easy to show that

$$\lambda(\alpha, \Omega) \ge \min_{\substack{A = \mathcal{W}_{R_1} \cup \mathcal{W}_{R_2} \\ |A| = |\Omega|}} \lambda(\alpha, A).$$
(155)

Indeed, we have

$$\begin{split} \lambda(\alpha,\Omega) &= \frac{\int_{\Omega} F^{2}(\nabla u) \, dx + \alpha \left(\int_{\Omega} u \, dx\right)^{2}}{\int_{\Omega} u^{2} \, dx} \\ &\geq \frac{\int_{\Omega^{\star}_{+}} F^{2}(\nabla(u_{+})^{\star}) \, ds + \int_{\Omega^{\star}_{-}} F^{2}(\nabla(u_{-})^{\star}) \, ds + \alpha \left(\int_{\Omega^{\star}_{+}} (u_{+})^{\star} \, ds - \int_{\Omega^{\star}_{-}} (u_{-})^{\star} \, ds\right)^{2}}{\int_{\Omega^{\star}_{+}} (u_{+})^{\star^{2}} \, ds + \int_{\Omega^{\star}_{-}} (u_{-})^{\star^{2}} \, ds} \\ &\geq \min_{\substack{(f,g) \in H^{0}_{1}(\Omega^{\star}_{+}) \times H^{0}_{1}(\Omega^{\star}_{+})} \frac{\int_{\Omega^{\star}_{+}} F^{2}(\nabla f) \, ds + \int_{\Omega^{\star}_{-}} F^{2}(\nabla g) \, ds + \alpha \left(\int_{\Omega^{\star}_{+}} f \, ds - \int_{\Omega^{\star}_{-}} g \, ds\right)^{2}}{\int_{\Omega^{\star}_{+}} f^{2} \, ds + \int_{\Omega^{\star}_{-}} g^{2} \, ds} \\ &= \lambda(\alpha, \Omega^{\star}_{+} \cup \Omega^{\star}_{-}) \\ &\geq \inf_{\substack{A = \mathcal{W}_{R_{1}} \cup \mathcal{W}_{R_{2}} \\ |A| = |\Omega|}} \lambda(\alpha, A) \end{split}$$
(156)

Let us prove that, actually, the inequality (155) is strict. Suppose, by contradiction that (155) holds as an equality. In particular, from (156) we have

$$\lambda(\alpha, \Omega) = \lambda(\alpha, \Omega_{+}^{\star} \cup \Omega_{-}^{\star}),$$

hence, by Theorem 1.20, we deduce that Ω^*_+ and Ω^*_- are Wulff shapes. Then, we may have two cases:

(i)
$$\Omega = \Omega^{\star}_{+} \cup \Omega^{\star}_{-}$$
,

(ii)
$$|\Omega_+| + |\Omega_-| < |\Omega|$$
.

In the first case, we have immediately a contradiction because, by hypothesis, Ω is not a union of two Wulff shapes.

In the second case, we observe that eigenfunction *u* vanishes on a set of positive measure and, by (15), it has zero average. Using the strict monotonicity of the Dirichlet eigenvalue with respect to homotheties, we again reach a contradiction since $\lambda(\alpha, \Omega_+^* \cup \Omega_-^*) > \inf_{A = \mathcal{W}_{R_1} \cup \mathcal{W}_{R_2}} \lambda(\alpha, A)$. Therefore, we have

$$|A| = |\Omega|$$

$$\lambda(\alpha, \Omega) > \inf_{\substack{A = \mathcal{W}_{R_1} \cup \mathcal{W}_{R_2} \ |A| = |\Omega|}} \lambda(\alpha, A).$$

Finally, the compactness of family of disjoint pair of Wulff shapes and the continuity of $\lambda(\alpha, \Omega)$ with respect to uniform convergence of the domains gives the existence of the set $A = W_{R_1} \cup W_{R_2}$ (see e.g. [23], [79]).

Remark 3.14. Before showing the next result, let us observe that when Ω reduces to the union of two Wulff shapes $W_{R_1} \cup W_{R_2}$, then problem (15) becomes

$$\begin{cases} -div(F(\nabla u)\nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla u)) + \alpha \left(\int_{\mathcal{W}_{R_{1}}} u \, dx + \int_{\mathcal{W}_{R_{2}}} v \, dx\right) = \lambda u \quad in \,\mathcal{W}_{R_{1}} \\ -div(F(\nabla v)\nabla_{\xi}F(\nabla v)) + \alpha \left(\int_{\mathcal{W}_{R_{1}}} u \, dx + \int_{\mathcal{W}_{R_{2}}} v \, dx\right) = \lambda v \quad in \,\mathcal{W}_{R_{2}} \\ u = 0 \quad on \,\partial\mathcal{W}_{R_{1}}, \quad v = 0 \quad on \,\partial\mathcal{W}_{R_{2}}. \end{cases}$$
(157)

Proposition 3.15. Let Ω be the union of two disjoint Wulff shapes W_{R_1} and W_{R_2} such that $\kappa_n(R_1^n + R_2^n) = |\Omega|$. Then, for every $\eta \in \left(\frac{\kappa_n^{2/n} j_{n/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}}, \frac{2^{2/n} \kappa_n^{2/n} j_{n/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}}\right)$ and for every $R_1, R_2 \ge 0$, there exists a unique value of α , denoted by α_η , given by

$$\frac{1}{\alpha_{\eta}} = \frac{\kappa_n (R_1^n + R_2^n)}{\eta} - \frac{n\kappa_n}{\eta^{3/2}} \left[R_1^{n-1} \frac{J_{n/2}(\sqrt{\eta}R_1)}{J_{n/2-1}(\sqrt{\eta}R_1)} + R_2^{n-1} \frac{J_{n/2}(\sqrt{\eta}R_2)}{J_{n/2-1}(\sqrt{\eta}R_2)} \right],$$
(158)

such that $\eta = \lambda(\alpha_{\eta}, \mathcal{W}_{R_1} \cup \mathcal{W}_{R_2}).$

Proof. In view of Proposition 3.13, problem (15) reduces to (157). Then, we easily verify that the functions

$$u = R_2^{1-\frac{n}{2}} J_{\frac{n}{2}-1} \left(\sqrt{\eta} R_2\right) \left[\left(F^o(x)\right)^{1-\frac{n}{2}} J_{\frac{n}{2}-1} \left(\sqrt{\eta} F^o(x)\right) - R_1^{1-\frac{n}{2}} J_{\frac{n}{2}-1} \left(\sqrt{\eta} R_1\right) \right]$$

and

$$v = R_1^{1-\frac{n}{2}} J_{\frac{n}{2}-1} \left(\sqrt{\eta} R_1 \right) \left[\left(F^o(x) \right)^{1-\frac{n}{2}} J_{\frac{n}{2}-1} \left(\sqrt{\eta} F^o(x) \right) - R_2^{1-\frac{n}{2}} J_{\frac{n}{2}-1} \left(\sqrt{\eta} R_2 \right) \right].$$

solve problem (157). Now, we show that, for all R_1 , R_2 and η as in the hypothesis, there exists at least one value of α such that problem (157) admits a non trivial solution. Indeed, the eigenvalue $\lambda(\alpha, W_{R_1} \cup W_{R_2})$ is clearly unbounded from below as $\alpha \to -\infty$ and, by Theorem 3.12, is larger than $\frac{2^{2/n} \kappa_n^{2/n} j_{\eta/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}}$ as $\alpha \to +\infty$. Hence the continuity and the monotonicity of $\lambda(\alpha, W_{R_1} \cup W_{R_2})$ with respect to α implies that when $\alpha = \alpha_{\eta}$, then η is the first eigenvalue of problem (157). This value of α is unique, indeed, arguing by contradiction, if for some η , there exists another value $\alpha \neq \alpha_{\eta}$ such that η is the first eigenvalue of problem (157). This value of α is unique, indeed, arguing by contradiction, if for some η , there exists another value $\alpha \neq \alpha_{\eta}$ such that η is the first eigenvalue of problem (157), then by Proposition 3.5, η is also an eigenvalue of the local problem and the corresponding eigenfunction has zero average in $W_{R_1} \cup W_{R_2}$. Hence, if these Wulff shapes have the same measure, then the eigenvalue η is, by Proposition 3.7 (*c*), equal to $\frac{2^{2/n} \kappa_n^{2/n} j_{n/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}}$ and this contradicts the fact that $\eta < \frac{2^{2/n} \kappa_n^{2/n} j_{n/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}}$. Otherwise, if the sets do not have the same measure, by Proposition 3.2 (*a*), the first eigenfunction is identically zero on the smaller set and it does not change sign on the larger one; this is in contradiction with the fact that the eigenfunction is not trivial and has zero average.

Theorem 3.16. For every $n \ge 2$, there exists a positive value

$$\alpha_{c} = \frac{2^{3/n} \kappa_{n}^{2/n} j_{n/2-1,1}^{3} J_{n/2-1,1}(2^{1/n} j_{n/2-1,1})}{2^{1/n} j_{n/2-1,1} J_{n/2-1}(2^{1/n} j_{n/2-1,1}) - n J_{n/2}(2^{1/n} j_{n/2-1,1})}$$

such that, for every bounded, open set Ω in \mathbb{R}^n and for every real number α , it holds

$$\lambda(\alpha,\Omega) \geq \begin{cases} \lambda(\alpha,\Omega^{\star}) & \text{if } \alpha |\Omega|^{1+2/n} \leq \alpha_c, \\ \frac{2^{2/n} \kappa_n^{2/n} j_{n/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}} & \text{if } \alpha |\Omega|^{1+2/n} \geq \alpha_c. \end{cases}$$

If equality sign holds when $\alpha |\Omega|^{1+2/n} < \alpha_c$ then Ω is a Wulff shape, while if inequality sign holds when $\alpha |\Omega|^{1+2/n} > \alpha_c$ then Ω is the union of two disjoint Wulff shapes of equal measure.

In Figure 1 we illustrate the transition between the two minimizers.



The continuous line represents the minimum of $\lambda(\alpha, \Omega)$, among the open bounded sets of measure κ_n , as a function of α .

Proof. Let us firstly analize the case of nonpositive α . Let *u* be an eigenfunction, by (39) we have

$$\lambda(\alpha, \Omega) = \mathscr{Q}_{\alpha}(u, \Omega) \ge \mathscr{Q}_{\alpha}(|u|, \Omega) \ge \mathscr{Q}_{\alpha}(u^{\star}, \Omega^{\star}) \ge \lambda(\alpha, \Omega^{\star}).$$

By Proposition 3.6, we can say that u is positive; therefore Ω coincides with the set $\{x \in \Omega : u(x) > 0\}$ that, by Theorem 1.20, is equivalent to a Wulff shape. Therefore the equality case is proved.

Now, we study the case of positive value of α . In view of Proposition 3.13 we can restrict our study to the case of two disjoint Wulff shapes, of radii R_1 and R_2 , whose union has the same measure of Ω . By Proposition 3.7 (*b*)-(*c*), the first eigenvalue is greater than $\frac{\kappa_n^{2/n}j_{n/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}}$ and is lower than the first eigenvalue computed on two Wulff shapes with the same measure, that is $\frac{2^{2/n}\kappa_n^{2/n}j_{n/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}}$. Hence, we can restrict our study to the eigenvalues in the range $\left(\frac{\kappa_n^{2/n}j_{n/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}}, \frac{2^{2/n}\kappa_n^{2/n}j_{n/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}}\right)$. Now, let us observe that if Ω is a Wulff shape and $\alpha = \alpha_c |\Omega|^{-1-2/n}$, then, from (158) with $R_2 = 0$, $\lambda(\alpha, \Omega^*) = \frac{2^{2/n}\kappa_n^{2/n}j_{n/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}}$. Therefore $\alpha = \alpha_c |\Omega|^{-1-2/n}$ is a critical value of α because the first eigenvalue on Ω^* coincides with the first eigenvalue on the union of two disjoint Wulff shapes of equal radii.

We firstly analyze the subcritical cases $(0 < \alpha < \alpha_c |\Omega|^{-1-2/n})$. Thanks to Proposition 3.13, it remains to prove that if Ω is union of two non negligible disjoint Wulff shapes, then $\lambda(\alpha, \Omega) > \lambda(\alpha, \Omega^*)$. Therefore, by Proposition 3.15, this is equivalent to say that, for any $\eta \in \left(\frac{\kappa_n^{2/n} j_{n/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}}, \frac{2^{2/n} \kappa_n^{2/n} j_{n/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}}\right)$, α_η attains its maximum if and only if R_1 or R_2 vanishes, with the constraint $\kappa_n(R_1^n + R_2^n) = |\Omega|$. This is proved in [19, Prop. 3.4] with κ_n instead of ω_n using Bessel function properties.

The continuity of $\lambda(\alpha, \Omega)$ with respect to α for subcritical values yields $\lambda(\alpha_c, \Omega) \ge \lambda(\alpha_c, \Omega^*)$. Hence, for supercritical values ($\alpha > \alpha_c |\Omega|^{-1-2/n}$), using the monotonicity of $\lambda(\alpha, \Omega)$ with respect to α , we have

$$\lambda(\alpha, \Omega) \ge \lambda(\alpha_c, \Omega) \ge \lambda(\alpha_c, \Omega^*) = \frac{2^{2/n} \kappa_n^{2/n} j_{n/2-1,1}^2}{|\Omega|^{2/n}}.$$
(159)

If the inequalities in (159) hold as equalities, then Ω is the union of two disjoint Wulff shapes of same measure. Indeed, by Proposition 3.7 (*a*), the first inequality is strict only

when the eigenfunction relative to $\lambda(\alpha, \Omega)$ has nonzero average, that is when the two Wulff shapes have different radii. Hence also the equality case follows and this conclude the proof of the Theorem 3.16.

3.2 A SATURATION PHENOMENON FOR A NONLINEAR NONLOCAL EIGENVALUE PROBLEM

3.2.1 Some properties of the first eigenvalue

We consider the following problem:

$$\lambda(\alpha,q) = \inf\left\{\mathcal{Q}[u,\alpha], \ u \in H^1_0(-1,1), \ u \neq 0\right\},\tag{160}$$

where $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $1 \le q \le 2$ and

$$\mathcal{Q}[u,\alpha] := \frac{\int_{-1}^{1} |u'|^2 dx + \alpha \left| \int_{-1}^{1} |u|^{q-1} u \, dx \right|^{\frac{2}{q}}}{\int_{-1}^{1} |u|^2 dx}$$

Let us observe that, for any $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, it holds that

$$\lambda(\alpha, q) \le \Lambda_q = \pi^2,\tag{161}$$

where

$$\Lambda_q := \min\left\{\frac{\int_{-1}^1 |u'|^2 dx}{\int_{-1}^1 |u|^2 dx}, \ u \in H_0^1(-1,1), \ \int_{-1}^1 |u|^{q-1} u \, dx = 0, \ u \neq 0\right\}.$$
 (162)

It is known that, when $q \in [1,2]$, then $\Lambda_q = \Lambda_1 = \pi^2$, and the minimizer of (162) is, up to a multiplicative constant, $y(x) = \sin \pi x$, $x \in [-1,1]$ (see for example [34]). Let us observe that if y is a minimizer in (160), then is not restrictive to suppose that $\int_{-1}^{1} |y|^{q-1}y \, dx \ge 0$. From now on, we assume that this condition is satisfied by the minimizers.

Proposition 3.17. *Let* $1 \le q \le 2$ *and* $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ *. The following properties of* $\lambda(\alpha, q)$ *hold.*

- (a) Problem (160) admits a minimizer.
- (b) Any minimizer y of (160) satisfies the following boundary value problem

$$\begin{cases} -y'' + \alpha \gamma |y|^{q-1} = \lambda(\alpha, q) y & in] - 1, 1[\\ y(-1) = y(1) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(163)

where

$$\gamma = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if both } q = 2 \text{ and } \int_{-1}^{1} y|y| \, dx = 0, \\ \left(\int_{-1}^{1} y|y|^{q-1} \, dx \right)^{\frac{2}{q}-1} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Moreover, $y \in C^2(-1, 1)$.

(c) For any $q \in [1,2]$, the function $\lambda(\cdot,q)$ is Lipschitz continuous and non-decreasing with respect to $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$.

(d) If $\alpha \leq 0$, the minimizers of (160) do not change sign in]-1,1[. In addition,

$$\lim_{\alpha\to-\infty}\lambda(\alpha,q)=-\infty.$$

(e) As $\alpha \to +\infty$, we have that

$$\lambda(\alpha, q) \to \Lambda_q = \pi^2.$$

Proof. The existence of a minimizer follows immediately by the standard methods of Calculus of Variations. Furthermore, any minimizer satisfies (163). In particular, let us explicitly observe that if $1 \le q \le 2$ and there exists a minimizer y of $\lambda(\alpha, q)$ such that $\int_{-1}^{1} |y|^{q-1}y \, dx = 0$, then it holds that $\gamma = 0$ in (163). Indeed, in such a case y is a minimizer also of the problem (162), whose Euler-Lagrange equation is (see [34])

$$\begin{cases} -y'' = \lambda(\alpha, q) y & \text{ in }] - 1, 1[, \\ y(-1) = y(1) = 0. \end{cases}$$

From (163) immediately follows that any minimizer y is $C^2(-1, 1)$. Hence (*a*)-(*b*) have been proved.

In order to get property (*c*), we stress that for all $\varepsilon > 0$, by Hölder inequality, it holds

$$\mathcal{Q}[u,\alpha+\varepsilon] \leq \mathcal{Q}[u,\alpha] + \varepsilon \frac{\left(\int_{-1}^{1} |u|^{q} dx\right)^{2/q}}{\int_{-1}^{1} u^{2} dx} \leq \mathcal{Q}[u,\alpha] + 2^{\frac{2-q}{q}}\varepsilon, \quad \forall \varepsilon > 0.$$

Therefore the following chain of inequalities

$$\mathcal{Q}[u,\alpha] \leq \mathcal{Q}[u,\alpha+\varepsilon] \leq \mathcal{Q}[u,\alpha] + 2^{\frac{2-q}{q}}\varepsilon, \quad \forall \ \varepsilon > 0,$$

implies, taking the minimum as $u \in H_0^1(-1, 1)$, that

$$\lambda(\alpha,q) \leq \lambda(\alpha+\varepsilon,q) \leq \lambda(\alpha,q) + 2^{\frac{2-q}{q}}\varepsilon, \quad \forall \ \varepsilon > 0,$$

that proves (c).

If $\alpha < 0$, then

$$\mathcal{Q}[u,\alpha] \geq \mathcal{Q}[|u|,\alpha],$$

with equality if and only if $u \ge 0$ or $u \le 0$. Hence any minimizer has constant sign in]-1,1[. Finally, it is clear from the definition that $\lim_{\alpha \to -\infty} \lambda(\alpha, q) = -\infty$. Indeed, by fixing a positive test function φ we get

$$\lambda(\alpha,q) \leq \mathcal{Q}[\varphi,\alpha].$$

Being $\varphi > 0$ in]-1,1[, then $\mathcal{Q}[\varphi,\alpha] \to -\infty$ as $\alpha \to -\infty$, and the proof of (*d*) is completed.

In order to show (*e*), we recall that $\lambda(\alpha, q) \leq \Lambda_q = \pi^2$.

Let $\alpha_k \ge 0$, $k_n \in \mathbb{N}$, be a positively divergent sequence. For any k, consider a minimizer $y_k \in W_0^{1,2}$ of (160) such that $\|y_k\|_{L^2} = 1$. We have that

$$\lambda(\alpha_k, q) = \int_{-1}^1 |y'_k|^2 \, dx + \alpha_k \left(\int_{-1}^1 y_k |y_k|^{q-1} \, dx \right)^{\frac{2}{q}} \leq \Lambda_q.$$

Then y_k converges (up to a subsequence) to a function $y \in H_0^1$, strongly in L^2 and weakly in H_0^1 . Moreover $||y||_{L^2} = 1$ and

$$\left(\int_{-1}^{1} y_k |y_k|^{q-1} dx\right)^{\frac{2}{q}} \le \frac{\Lambda_q}{\alpha_k} \to 0 \quad \text{as } k \to +\infty$$

which gives that $\int_{\Omega} y |y|^{q-1} dx = 0$. On the other hand the weak convergence in H_0^1 implies that

$$\int_{-1}^{1} |y'|^2 \, dx \le \liminf_{k \to \infty} \int_{-1}^{1} |y'_k|^2 \, dx. \tag{164}$$

By definitions of Λ_q and $\lambda(\alpha, q)$, and by (164) we have

$$egin{aligned} &\Lambda_q \leq \int_{-1}^1 |y'|^2 \; dx \leq \liminf_{k o \infty} \left[\int_{-1}^1 |y_k'|^2 \; dx + lpha_k \left(\int_{-1}^1 y_k |y_k|^{q-1} \; dx
ight)^{rac{2}{q}}
ight] \ &\leq \lim_{k o \infty} \lambda(lpha_k, q) \leq \Lambda_q. \end{aligned}$$

and the result follows.

Remark 3.18. *If* $\lambda(\alpha, q) = 0$ *, then*

$$-\alpha = \min_{w \in H_0^1(-1,1)} \frac{\int_{-1}^1 |w'|^2 dx}{\left(\int_{-1}^1 |w|^q dx\right)^{2/q}}.$$
(165)

Indeed, if $\lambda(\alpha, q) = 0$ then necessarily $\alpha < 0$ and the minimizers of (160) have constant sign. Let $y \ge 0$ be a minimizer of (160), by definition we have

$$0 = \lambda(\alpha, q) = \frac{\int_{-1}^{1} |y'|^2 dx + \alpha \left(\int_{-1}^{1} y^q dx\right)^{\frac{2}{q}}}{\int_{-1}^{1} \bar{u}^2 dx}$$

and hence

$$-\alpha = \frac{\int_{-1}^{1} |y'|^2 dx}{\left(\int_{-1}^{1} y^q \, dx\right)^{2/q}}.$$
(166)

If we denote by v a minimizer of problem (165), we have

$$0 \le \int_{-1}^{1} |v'|^2 dx + \alpha \left(\int_{-1}^{1} |v|^q dx \right)^{2/q}$$

and therefore

$$-\alpha \leq \frac{\int_{-1}^{1} |v'|^2 dx}{\left(\int_{-1}^{1} |v|^q dx\right)^{2/q}} = \min_{w \in H_0^1(-1,1)} \frac{\int_{-1}^{1} |w'|^2 dx}{\left(\int_{-1}^{1} |w|^q dx\right)^{2/q}}.$$

From (166) the result follows.

3.2.2 Changing-sign minimizers

We first analyze the behavior of the minimizers of (160), by assuming that they have to change sign in]-1,1[. In this case, by Proposition 3.17 (*d*), we may suppose that $\alpha > 0$. Moreover, due the homogeneity of the problem, in all the section we will assume also that

$$\max_{[-1,1]} y(x) = 1, \quad \min_{[-1,1]} y(x) = -\bar{m}, \quad \bar{m} \in]0,1].$$

It is always possible to reduce to this condition, by multiplying the solution by a constant if necessary.

We split the list of the main properties in two propositions.

Proposition 3.19. Let $1 \le q \le 2$ and suppose that, for some $\alpha > 0$, $\lambda(\alpha, q)$ admits a minimizer *y* that changes sign in [-1, 1]. Then the following properties hold.

- (a1) The minimizer y has in]-1,1[exactly one maximum point, η_M , with $y(\eta_M) = 1$, and exactly one minimum point, $\eta_{\bar{m}}$, with $y(\eta_{\bar{m}}) = -\bar{m}$.
- (b1) If $y_+ \ge 0$ and $y_- \le 0$ are, respectively, the positive and negative part of y, then y_+ and y_- are, respectively, symmetric about $x = \eta_M$ and $x = \eta_{\bar{m}}$.
- (c1) There exists a unique zero of y in]-1, 1[.
- (d1) In the minimum value \bar{m} of y, it holds that

$$\lambda(\alpha,q)=H(\bar{m},q)^2,$$

where H(m,q), $(m,q) \in [0,1] \times [1,2]$, is the function defined as

$$H(m,q) := \int_{-m}^{1} \frac{dy}{\sqrt{1 - z(m,q)(1 - |y|^{q-1}y) - y^2}} =$$
$$= \int_{0}^{1} \frac{dy}{\sqrt{1 - z(m,q)(1 - y^q) - y^2}} + \int_{0}^{1} \frac{mdy}{\sqrt{1 - z(m,q)(1 + m^q y^q) - m^2 y^2}}$$

and $z(m,q) = \frac{1-m^2}{1+m^q}$.

Proposition 3.20. Let us suppose that, for some $\alpha > 0$, $\lambda(\alpha, q)$ admits a minimizer y that changes sign in [-1,1]. Then the following properties holds.

(a2) If $1 \le q \le 2$, then

$$\lambda(\alpha,q)=\lambda^T=\pi^2.$$

(*b*₂) If $1 < q \leq 2$, then

$$\int_{-1}^{1} |y|^{q-1} y \, dx = 0. \tag{167}$$

(c2) If $1 \le q \le 2$ and (167) holds, then $y(x) = C \sin \pi x$, with $C \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$. Hence the only point in]-1,1[where y vanishes is $\overline{x} = 0$.

Proof of Proposition 3.19. First of all, if *y* is a minimizer of (160) which changes sign, let us consider η_M , $\eta_{\bar{m}}$ in] - 1, 1[such that $y(\eta_M) = 1 = \max_{[-1,1]} y$, and $y(\eta_{\bar{m}}) = -\bar{m} = \min_{[-1,1]} y$, with $\bar{m} \in]0, 1]$. For the sake of simplicity, we will write $\lambda = \lambda(\alpha, q)$. Multiplying the equation in (163) by y' and integrating we get

$$\frac{y^{\prime 2}}{2} + \lambda \frac{y^2}{2} = \frac{\alpha \gamma}{q} |y|^{q-1} y + c \qquad \text{in }] -1, 1[, \qquad (168)$$

for a suitable constant *c*. Being $y'(\eta_M) = 0$ and $y(\eta_M) = 1$, we have

$$c = \frac{\lambda}{2} - \frac{\alpha}{q}\gamma. \tag{169}$$

Moreover, $y'(\eta_{\bar{m}}) = 0$ and $y(\eta_{\bar{m}})$ give also that

$$c = \lambda \frac{\bar{m}^2}{2} + \frac{\alpha}{q} \bar{m}^q \gamma.$$
(170)

Joining (169) and (170), we obtain

$$\begin{cases} \gamma = \frac{q\lambda}{2\alpha} z(\bar{m}, q) \\ c = \frac{\lambda}{2} t(\bar{m}, q) \end{cases}$$
(171)

where

$$z(m,q) = \frac{1-m^2}{1+m^q}$$
 and $t(m,q) = \frac{m^2+m^q}{1+m^q} = 1-z(m,q).$

Then (168) can be written as

$$\frac{y'^2}{2} + \lambda \frac{y^2}{2} = \frac{\lambda}{2} z(\bar{m}, q) |y|^{q-1} y + \frac{\lambda}{2} t(\bar{m}, q) \qquad \text{in }] - 1, 1[.$$

Therefore we have

$$(y')^2 = \lambda [1 - z(\bar{m}, q)(1 - |y|^{q-1}y) - y^2]$$
 in $] - 1, 1[.$ (172)

First of all, it is easy to see that the number of zeros of *y* has to be finite. Let

$$-1 = \zeta_1 < \ldots < \zeta_j < \zeta_{j+1} < \ldots < \zeta_n = 1$$

be the zeros of *y*.

As observed in [34], it is easy to show that

$$y'(x) = 0 \iff y(x) = -\overline{m} \text{ or } y(x) = 1.$$
 (173)

This implies that *y* has no other local minima or maxima in]-1,1[, and in any interval $]\zeta_j, \zeta_{j+1}[$ where y > 0 there is a unique maximum point, and in any interval $]\zeta_j, \zeta_{j+1}[$ where y < 0 there is a unique minimum point.

To prove (173), let

$$g(Y) = 1 - z(\bar{m}, q)(1 - |Y|^{q-1}Y) - Y^2, \quad Y \in [-\bar{m}, 1]$$

So we have

$$(y')^2 = \lambda g(y). \tag{174}$$

Observe that $g(-\bar{m}) = g(1) = 0$. Being $q \le 2$, it holds that $g'(\bar{Y}) = 0$ implies $g(\bar{Y}) > 0$. Hence, g does not vanish in $] - \bar{m}, 1[$. By (174), it holds that $y'(x) \ne 0$ if $y(x) \ne 1$ and $y(x) \ne -\bar{m}$.

Now, adapting an argument contained in [40, Lemma 2.6], the following three claims below allow to complete the proof of (*a*1), (*b*1) and (*c*1).

- **CLAIM 1:** in any interval $]\zeta_j, \zeta_{j+1}[$ given by two subsequent zeros of y and in which $y = y^+ > 0$, has the same length; in any of such intervals, y^+ is symmetric about $x = \frac{\zeta_j + \zeta_{j+1}}{2};$
- **CLAIM 2:** in any interval $]\zeta_j, \zeta_{j+1}[$ given by two subsequent zeros of y and in which $y = y^- < 0$ has the same length; in any of such intervals, y^- is symmetric about $x = \frac{\zeta_j + \zeta_{j+1}}{2};$

CLAIM 3: there is a unique zero of y in] - 1, 1[.

Then, *y* admits a unique maximum point and a unique minimum point in]-1,1[, and the positive and negative parts are symmetric with respect to $x = \eta_M$ and $x = \eta_{\bar{m}}$, respectively.

In order to get claims 1 and 2, To fix the ideas, let us assume that y > 0 in $]\zeta_{2k-1}, \zeta_{2k}[$, and y < 0 in $]\zeta_{2k}, \zeta_{2k+1}[$. If this is not the case, the procedure is analogous.

Let us consider $y = y_+ > 0$ in $]\zeta_{2k-1}, \zeta_{2k}[$, and denote by η_{2k-1} the unique maximum point in such interval. Then by (172), integrating between ζ_{2k-1} and η_{2k-1} we have

$$\int_0^1 \frac{dy}{\sqrt{1 - z(\bar{m}, q)(1 - y^q) - y^2}} = (\eta_{2k-1} - \zeta_{2k-1})\sqrt{\lambda}.$$

Similarly, integrating between η_{2k-1} and ζ_{2k} , it holds

$$\int_0^1 \frac{dy}{\sqrt{1 - z(\bar{m}, q)(1 - y^q) - y^2}} = (\zeta_{2k} - \eta_{2k-1})\sqrt{\lambda}.$$

Hence

$$\zeta_{2k} - \zeta_{2k-1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \int_0^1 \frac{dy}{\sqrt{1 - z(\bar{m}, q)(1 - y^q) - y^2}}, \quad \text{and} \quad \eta_{2k-1} = \frac{\zeta_{2k-1} + \zeta_{2k}}{2}.$$

Similarly, consider that in $]\zeta_{2k}, \zeta_{2k+1}[$ it holds $y = y_- < 0$, and $y(\eta_{2k}) = -\overline{m}$. By (172), integrating between ζ_{2k} and η_{2k} we have

$$\int_0^{\bar{m}} \frac{dy}{\sqrt{1 - z(\bar{m}, q)(1 + y^q) - y^2}} = (\eta_{2k} - \zeta_{2k})\sqrt{\lambda},$$

and then between η_{2k} and ζ_{2k+1} , it holds

$$\int_0^{\bar{m}} \frac{dy}{\sqrt{1-z(\bar{m},q)(1+y^q)-y^2}} = (\zeta_{2k+1}-\eta_{2k})\sqrt{\lambda}.$$

Hence

$$\zeta_{2k+1} - \zeta_{2k} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \int_0^{\bar{m}} \frac{dy}{\sqrt{1 - z(\bar{m}, q)(1 + y^q) - y^2}}, \quad \text{and} \quad \eta_{2k} = \frac{\zeta_{2k} + \zeta_{2k+1}}{2}$$

Resuming, we have that any interval given by two subsequent zeros of y and in which $y = y_+ > 0$, has the same length. Similarly, any interval given by two subsequent zeros of y and in which $y = y_- < 0$, has the same length. Now, again from (172), if $x \in [\zeta_{2k-1}, \eta_{2k-1}]$ it holds

$$\int_{0}^{y(x)} \frac{dy}{\sqrt{1 - z(\bar{m}, q)(1 - y^{q}) - y^{2}}} = (x - \zeta_{2k-1})\sqrt{\lambda},\tag{175}$$

and, if $t \in]\eta_{2k-1}, \zeta_{2k}[$, then

$$-\int_0^{y(t)} \frac{dy}{\sqrt{1-z(\bar{m},q)(1-y^q)-y^2}} = (t-\zeta_{2k})\sqrt{\lambda}.$$

On the other hand, by choosing $t = \zeta_{2k-1} + \zeta_{2k} - x \in]\eta_{2k-1}, \zeta_{2k}[$ it holds

$$-(x-\zeta_{2k-1})\sqrt{\lambda} = (t-\zeta_{2k})\sqrt{\lambda} = -\int_0^{y(t)} \frac{dy}{\sqrt{1-z(\bar{m},q)(1-y^q)-y^2}}.$$

From (175) we deduce that y(x) = y(t), hence y is symmetric about $x = \eta_{2k-1}$ in the interval ζ_{2k-1}, ζ_{2k} .

In the same way, *y* is symmetric about $x = \eta_{2k}$ in the interval $]\zeta_{2k}, \zeta_{2k+1}[$. Now we show that the number of the zeros of *y* is odd. Let us observe that

$$A_+ := \int_{\zeta_{2k-1}}^{\zeta_{2k}} y^q dx \ge \int_{\zeta_{2k}}^{\zeta_{2k+1}} (-y)^q dx =: A_-$$

Indeed, multiplying (172) by $|y(x)|^{2q}$ and using the symmetry properties of *y* we have

$$\begin{aligned} A_{+} &= \frac{2}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \int_{\zeta_{2k-1}}^{\eta_{2k-1}} \frac{y^{q}}{\sqrt{1 - z(\bar{m}, q)(1 - y^{q}) - y^{2}}} y' dx = \\ &= \frac{2}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{y^{q}}{\sqrt{1 - z(\bar{m}, q)(1 - y^{q}) - y^{2}}} dy \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{split} A_{-} &= \frac{2}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \int_{\eta_{2k}}^{\zeta_{2k+1}} \frac{(-y)^{q}}{\sqrt{1 - z(\bar{m}, q)(1 + |y|^{q}) - y^{2}}} y' dx = \\ &= \frac{2}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\bar{m}^{q+1} y^{q}}{\sqrt{1 - z(\bar{m}, q)(1 + \bar{m}^{q} y^{q}) - \bar{m}^{2} y^{2}}} dy. \end{split}$$

If *y* has an even number *n* of zeros, two cases may occur. **Case 1:** $\bar{m} = 1$. Then z(1,q) = 0, and by (171) $\gamma = 0$. On the other hand, $A_+ = A_-$, and being *n* even, then $\gamma = A_+^{\frac{2}{q}-1}$ and this is absurd.

Case 2: $\bar{m} < 1$. Let us consider the function $\tilde{y} \in H_0^1(-1, 1)$ defined as

$$\tilde{y}(x) = \begin{cases} y(x) & \text{if } x \in [\zeta_0, \zeta_{n-1}] \\ -y(x) & \text{if } x \in [\zeta_{n-1}, 1]. \end{cases}$$

We have that

$$\begin{aligned} \int_{-1}^{1} (\tilde{y}')^2 dx &= \int_{-1}^{1} (y')^2 dx, \ \int_{-1}^{1} \tilde{y}^2 dx = \int_{-1}^{1} y^2 dx, \\ \left| \int_{-1}^{1} |\tilde{y}|^{q-1} \tilde{y} \, dx \right| &< \int_{-1}^{1} |y|^{q-1} y \, dx. \end{aligned}$$
(176)

The first two equalities in (176) are obvious. To show last inequality, we recall that y(x) is positive in $]-1, \zeta_2[$, hence if it has an even number of zeros, it is positive in $]\zeta_{n-1}, 1[$. Hence it is sufficient to observe that $A_+ > A_-$ and

$$\int_{-1}^{1} |y|^{q-1} y \, dx = \frac{n}{2} A_{+} - \frac{n-2}{2} A_{-}, \qquad \int_{-1}^{1} |\tilde{y}|^{q-1} \tilde{y} \, dx = \frac{n-2}{2} A_{+} - \frac{n}{2} A_{-}.$$

Then, (176) implies that $Q[\tilde{y}, \alpha] < Q[y, \alpha]$ and this contradicts the minimality of *y*. So, the number *n* of the zeros of *y* is odd.

Finally, we conclude that n = 3 (Claim 3). If not, by considering the function $w(x) = y\left(\frac{2(x+1)}{n-1} - 1\right)$, $x \in [-1, 1]$, we obtain that

$$\mathcal{Q}[w,\alpha] = \frac{\left(\frac{2}{n-1}\right)^2 \int_{-1}^1 |y'|^2 dx + \alpha \left|\int_{-1}^1 |y|^{q-1} y \, dx\right|^{\frac{2}{q}}}{\int_{-1}^1 |y|^2 dx} < \mathcal{Q}[y,\alpha],$$

that is absurd. Hence, the solution *y* has only one zero in] - 1, 1[, and also (*c*1) is proved.

Now denote by η_M and $\eta_{\bar{m}}$, respectively, the unique maximum and minimum point of *y*. It is not restrictive to suppose $\eta_M < \eta_{\bar{m}}$. They are such that $\eta_M - \eta_{\bar{m}} = 1$, with y' < 0 in $]\eta_M, \eta_{\bar{m}}[$. Then

$$\sqrt{\lambda(\alpha, q)} = \frac{-y'}{\sqrt{1 - z(\bar{m}, q)(1 - |y|^{q-1}y) - y^2}} \quad \text{in }]\eta_M, \eta_{\bar{m}}[$$

Integrating between η_M and $\eta_{\bar{m}}$, we have

$$\lambda(\alpha, q) = \left[\int_{-\bar{m}}^{1} \frac{dy}{\sqrt{1 - z(\bar{m}, q)(1 - |y|^{q-1}y) - y^2}} \right]^2 = H(\bar{m}, q),$$

and the proof of the Proposition is completed.

Remark 3.21. We stress that properties (a1) - (a3) can be also proved by using a symmetrization argument, by rearranging the functions y^+ and y^- and using the Pólya-Szégo inequality and the properties of rearrangements (see also, for example, [19] and [43]). For the convenience of the reader, we prefer to give an elementary proof without using the symmetrization technique.

Our aim now is to study the function *H* defined in Proposition 3.19.

Proposition 3.22. *For any* $m \in [0, 1]$ *and* $q \in [1, 2]$ *it holds that*

$$H(m,q) \ge H(m,1) = \pi$$

Moreover, if m < 1 *and* q > 1*, then*

$$H(m,q) > \pi$$

while

 $H(m, 1) = \pi, \quad \forall m \in [0, 1].$

Hence if $H(m,q) = \pi$ *and* $1 < q \leq 2$ *, then necessarily* m = 1*.*

Remark 3.23. Let us explicitly observe that in the case $\alpha \leq 0$, it holds that $\lambda(\alpha, q) \leq \frac{\pi^2}{4} < H(m, q)^2$ for any $m \in [0, 1]$ and $q \in [1, 2]$.

Remark 3.24. *The proof of Proposition* $_{3.22}$ *is based on the study of the integrand function that defines* H(m,q)*, that is*

$$h(m,q,y) := \frac{1}{\sqrt{1-z(m,q)(1-y^q)-y^2}} + \frac{m}{\sqrt{1-z(m,q)(1+m^qy^q)-m^2y^2}}.$$

Let us explicitly observe that if m = 1*, then* z(1,q) = 0 *and*

$$h(1,q,y)=\frac{2}{\sqrt{1-y^2}},$$

that is constant in q. Moreover, if y = 0, then

$$h(m,q,0) = \frac{1+m}{\sqrt{1-z(m,q)}}$$

that is strictly increasing in $q \in [1, 2]$. Furthermore, simple computations yield

$$\begin{cases} H(1,q) = \pi, & H(0,q) = \frac{\pi}{2-q} \ge \pi & (H(0,2) = +\infty), \\ H(m,1) = \pi, & H(m,2) = \frac{\pi}{2}\sqrt{\frac{1+m^2}{2}}\left(\frac{1}{m}+1\right) \ge \pi. \end{cases}$$

To prove Proposition 3.22, it is sufficient to show that *h* is monotone in *q*.

Lemma 3.25. For any fixed $y \in [0, 1[$ and $m \in]0, 1[$, the function $h(m, \cdot, y)$ is strictly increasing as $q \in [1, 2]$.

Proof. From the preceding observations, we may assume $m \in]0,1[$ and $y \in]0,1[$. Differentiating in q, we have that

$$\begin{split} \partial_q h &= -\frac{1}{2F_I^3} \big[-(1-y^q) \partial_q z + z \, y^q \log y \big] + \\ &- \frac{m}{2F_{II}^3} \big[-(1+m^q y^q) \partial_q z - z \, m^q y^q (\log m + \log y) \big], \end{split}$$

where

$$F_I(m,q,y) := \sqrt{1 - z(m,q)(1 - y^q) - y^2} \le \sqrt{1 - y^2},$$
(177)

and

$$F_{II}(m,q,y) := \sqrt{1 - z(m,q)(1 + m^q y^q) - m^2 y^2} \ge m\sqrt{1 - y^2}.$$
(178)

Being

$$z = \frac{1 - m^2}{1 + m^q}, \quad \partial_q z = -\frac{1 - m^2}{(1 + m^q)^2} m^q \log m,$$

we have that

$$\partial_{q}h = \frac{1}{2} \frac{1 - m^{2}}{(1 + m^{q})^{2}} \left\{ \underbrace{\left[-(1 - y^{q})m^{q}\log m - y^{q}(1 + m^{q})\log y \right]}_{h_{2}(m,q,y)} \frac{1}{F_{I}^{3}} + \underbrace{\left[-(1 + m^{q}y^{q})\log m + (1 + m^{q})y^{q}(\log m + \log y) \right]}_{h_{2}(m,q,y)} \frac{m^{q+1}}{F_{II}^{3}} \right\}.$$

Let us observe that $h_1(m, q, y) \ge 0$. Hence, in the set A of (q, m, y) such that $h_2(m, q, y)$ is nonnegative, we have that $\partial_q h(q, m, y) \ge 0$. Moreover, $h_1(q, m, y)$ cannot vanish (y < 1), then $\partial_q h > 0$ in A.

Hence, let us consider the set *B* where

$$h_2 = (y^q - 1)\log m + (1 + m^q)y^q \log y \le 0$$

(observe that in general A and B are nonempty). By (177) and (178) we have that

$$\begin{split} \partial_q h &\geq \frac{1}{2} \frac{1 - m^2}{(1 + m^q)^2} \bigg\{ \bigg[-(1 - y^q) m^q \log m - y^q (1 + m^q) \log y \bigg] \frac{1}{(1 - y^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}} + \\ &+ \bigg[(y^q - 1) \log m + (1 + m^q) y^q \log y \bigg] \frac{m^{q-2}}{(1 - y^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \bigg\}. \end{split}$$

Hence, to show that $\partial_q h > 0$ also in the set *B* it is sufficient to prove that

$$g(m,q,y) := \left[-(1-y^q)m^q \log m - y^q(1+m^q)\log y \right] + \left[(y^q - 1)\log m + (1+m^q)y^q \log y \right] m^{q-2} > 0 \quad (179)$$

when $m \in]0, 1[, q \in [1, 2] \text{ and } y \in]0, 1[.$

Claim 1. For any $q \in [1,2]$ and $m \in]0,1[$, the function $g(m,q,\cdot)$ is strictly decreasing for $y \in]0,1[$.

To prove the Claim 1, we differentiate g with respect to y, obtaining

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{y}g &= \left[qy^{q-1}m^{q}\log m - qy^{q-1}(1+m^{q})\log y - y^{q-1}(1+m^{q}) \right] + \\ &+ \left[qy^{q-1}\log m + (1+m^{q})(qy^{q-1}\log y + y^{q-1}) \right] m^{q-2} = \\ &= y^{q-1} \left[q(m^{q}+m^{q-2})\log m + q(1+m^{q})(m^{q-2}-1)\log y + (1+m^{q})(m^{q-2}-1) \right]. \end{aligned}$$

Then $\partial_y g < 0$ if and only if

$$(1+m^q)(m^{q-2}-1)(q\log y+1) < -q(m^q+m^{q-2})\log m.$$

The above inequality is true, as we will show that (recall that 0 < m < 1 and $1 \le q \le 2$)

$$\log y < -\frac{1}{q} + \frac{(m^q + m^{q-2})\log m}{(1 + m^q)(1 - m^{q-2})} =: -\frac{1}{q} + \ell(m, q).$$
(180)

If the the right-hand side of (180) is nonnegative, then for any $y \in]0,1[$ the inequality (180) holds.

Claim 2. *For any* $q \in [1, 2]$ *and* $m \in [0, 1[, \ell(m, q) > \frac{1}{q}]$.

We will show that

$$\ell(m,q)>1\geq \frac{1}{q}.$$

We have

$$\ell(m,q) = \frac{(m^q + m^{q-2})}{(1+m^q)(m^{q-2}-1)}\log\frac{1}{m} > 1$$

if and only if

$$\begin{split} \Lambda(m,q) &= (m^q + m^{q-2})\log\frac{1}{m} - (1+m^q)(m^{q-2}-1) = \\ &= (m^q + m^{q-2})\log\frac{1}{m} + 1 + m^q - m^{q-2} - m^{2q-2} = \\ &= m^q \left(\log\frac{1}{m} + 1\right) + m^{q-2} \left(\log\frac{1}{m} - 1\right) + 1 - m^{2q-2} > 0. \end{split}$$

Then for $m \in]0, 1[$ we have

$$\begin{split} \Lambda(m,q) &= m^q \left(\log \frac{1}{m} + 1 \right) + m^{q-2} \left(\log \frac{1}{m} - 1 \right) + 1 - m^{2q-2} \\ &\geq m^q \left(\log \frac{1}{m} + 1 \right) + m^{q-2} \left(\log \frac{1}{m} - 1 \right) = \\ &= m^{q-2} \left(m^2 \left(\log \frac{1}{m} + 1 \right) + \log \frac{1}{m} - 1 \right) > 0, \end{split}$$

and the Claim 2, and then the Claim 1, are proved. To conclude the proof of (179), it is sufficient to observe that

$$g(m,q,y) > g(m,q,1) = 0$$

when $m \in [0, 1[, q \in [1, 2] \text{ and } y \in]0, 1[.$

The Claim 1 gives that $\partial_q h(m, q, y) > 0$ when $m \in]0, 1[, q \in [1, 2] \text{ and } y \in]0, 1[$, and this conclude the proof.

Proof of Proposition 3.22. Using Lemma 3.25 and Remark 3.24, it holds that

 $H(m,q) \ge H(m,1) = \pi$

for $1 \le q \le 2$. In particular, if $q \in [1, 2]$, $m \in [0, 1]$ and $y \in [0, 1]$ then

$$h(m,q,y) > h(m,1,y),$$

hence for any $m \in [0, 1[$ and $q \in]1, 2]$ it holds

$$H(m,q) > H(m,1) = \pi.$$

Now we are in position to prove Proposition 3.20.

Proof of Proposition 3.20. Let *y* be a minimizer of $\lambda(\alpha, q)$ that changes sign in [-1, 1], with $\max_{x \in [-1,1]} y(x) = 1$. By (*d*1) of Proposition 3.19 and Proposition 3.22, the eigenvalue $\lambda(\alpha, q)$ has to satisfy the inequality

$$\lambda(\alpha,q) \geq \pi^2.$$

Hence, by (161) it follows that

$$\lambda(\alpha,q)=\pi^2,$$

that is property (*a*2). Assuming also $1 < q \le 2$, if $-\bar{m}$ is the minimum value of y, again by Proposition 3.22 and (*d*1) of Proposition 3.19, $\lambda(\alpha, q) = \pi^2$ if and only if $\bar{m} = 1$. Hence, z(1,q) = 0 and the first identity of (171) gives that

$$\int_{-1}^{1} y |y|^{q-1} dx = 0.$$

and hence (b2) follows.

To prove (c_2) , let us explicitly observe that, when (167) holds, y solves

$$\begin{cases} y'' + \pi^2 y = 0 & \text{in }]-1,1[\\ y(-1) = y(1) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Hence $y(x) = C \sin \pi x$, with $C \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$.

3.2.3 Proof of the main results

Now we are in position to prove the first main result.

Our main result is stated in Theorem 3.26 below. In particular, the nonlocal term affects the minimizer of problem (160) in the sense that it has constant sign up to a critical value of α and, for α larger than the critical value, it has to change sign, and a saturation effect occurs.

Theorem 3.26. Let $1 \le q \le 2$. There exists a positive number α_q such that:

1. *if* $\alpha < \alpha_q$, *then*

 $\lambda(\alpha,q) < \pi^2,$

and any minimizer *y* of $\lambda(\alpha, q)$ has constant sign in]-1, 1[.

2. If $\alpha \geq \alpha_q$, then

$$\lambda(\alpha,q)=\pi^2.$$

Moreover, if $\alpha > \alpha_q$, the function $y(x) = \sin \pi x$, $x \in [-1, 1]$, is the only minimizer, up to a multiplicative constant, of $\lambda(\alpha, q)$. Hence it is odd, $\int_{-1}^{1} |y(x)|^{q-1}y(x) dx = 0$, and $\overline{x} = 0$ is the only point in] - 1, 1[such that $y(\overline{x}) = 0$.

Some additional informations are given in the next result.

Theorem 3.27. The following facts hold.

- 1. For q = 1, then $\alpha_1 = \frac{\pi^2}{2}$. Moreover, if $\alpha = \alpha_1$, there exists a positive minimizer of $\lambda(\alpha_1, 1)$, and for any $\overline{x} \in]-1,1[$ there exists a minimizer y of $\lambda(\alpha_1, 1)$ which changes sign in \overline{x} , non-symmetric and with $\int_{-1}^{1} y(x) dx \neq 0$ when $\overline{x} \neq 0$.
- 2. If $1 < q \le 2$ and $\alpha = \alpha_q$, then $\lambda(\alpha_q, q)$ in [-1, 1] admits both a positive minimizer and the minimizer $y(x) = \sin \pi x$, up to a multiplicative constant. Hence, any minimizer has constant sign or it is odd.
- 3. If q = 2, then $\alpha_2 = \frac{3}{4}\pi^2$.

Proof of Theorem 3.26 and *Theorem* 3.27. We begin the proof with the following claim.

Claim. There exists a positive value of α such that the minimum problem

$$\lambda(\alpha,q) = \min_{u \in H_0^1([-1,1])} \frac{\int_{-1}^1 |u'|^2 \, dx + \alpha \left| \int_{-1}^1 u |u|^{q-1} \, dx \right|^{\frac{1}{2}}}{\int_{-1}^1 u^2 \, dx}$$

admits an eigenfunction y that satisfies $\int_{-1}^{1} y |y|^{q-1} dx = 0$ In such a case, $\lambda(\alpha, q) = \pi^2$ and, up to a multiplicative constant, $y = \sin \pi x$.

To prove the claim, let us consider the case $1 < q \leq 2$. By contradiction, we suppose that for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists a divergent sequence α_k , and a corresponding sequence of eigenfunctions $\{y_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ relative to $\lambda(\alpha_k, q)$ such that $\int_{-1}^{1} y_k |y_k|^{q-1} dx > 0$ and $\|y_k\|_{L^2(-1,1)} = 1$. By Proposition 3.20, these eigenfunctions do not change sign and, as we have already observed, $\lambda(\alpha_k, q) \leq \pi^2$. It holds that

$$\int_{-1}^{1} |y'_k|^2 \, dx + \alpha_k \left(\int_{-1}^{1} |y_k|^q \, dx \right)^{\frac{2}{q}} \le \pi^2. \tag{181}$$

Hence, y_k converges (up to a subsequence) to a function $y \in W_0^{1,2}(-1,1)$, strongly in $L^2(-1,1)$ and weakly in $H_0^1(-1,1)$. Moreover $\|y\|_{L^2(-1,1)} = 1$ and y is not identically zero. Hence $\|y\|_{L^q(-1,1)} > 0$. Therefore, letting $\alpha_k \to +\infty$ in (181) we have a contradiction and the claim is proved.

Now, we recall that for any $1 \le q \le 2$, $\lambda(\alpha, q)$ is a nondecreasing Lipschitz function in α , and for α sufficiently large, $\lambda(\alpha, q) = \pi^2$. Hence, using the Claim 1, we can define

$$\alpha_q = \min\{\alpha \in \mathbb{R} \colon \lambda(\alpha, q) = \pi^2\} = \sup\{\alpha \in \mathbb{R} \colon \lambda(\alpha, q) < \pi^2\}.$$

Obviously, $\alpha_q > 0$. If $\alpha < \alpha_q$, then the minimizers corresponding to $\lambda(\alpha, q)$ has constant sign, otherwise $\lambda(\alpha, q) = \pi^2$. If $\alpha > \alpha_q$, then any minimizer y corresponding to α is such that $\int_{-1}^{1} |y|^{q-1}y \, dx = 0$. Indeed, if we assume, by contradiction, that there exist $\bar{\alpha} > \alpha_q$ and \bar{y} such that $\int_{-1}^{1} |\bar{y}|^{q-1}\bar{y} \, dx > 0$, $||y||_{L^2} = 1$ and $\mathcal{Q}[\bar{\alpha}, \bar{y}] = \lambda(\bar{\alpha}, q)$, then

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Q}[\bar{\alpha}-\varepsilon,\bar{y}] &= \mathcal{Q}[\bar{\alpha},\bar{y}] - \varepsilon \left(\int_{-1}^{1} |\bar{y}|^{q-1}\bar{y}\,dx\right)^{\frac{q}{2}} \\ &= \lambda(\bar{\alpha},q) - \varepsilon \left(\int_{-1}^{1} |\bar{y}|^{q-1}\bar{y}\,dx\right)^{\frac{q}{2}} < \lambda(\bar{\alpha},q). \end{aligned}$$

Hence, for ε sufficiently small, $\pi^2 = \lambda(\alpha_q, q) \le \lambda(\bar{\alpha} - \varepsilon, q) < \lambda(\bar{\alpha}, q)$ and this is absurd. Finally, by (c2) of Proposition 3.20, the proof of Theorem 3.26 is completed. It is not difficult to see, by means of approximating sequences, that $\lambda(\alpha_q, q)$ admits both a nonnegative minimizer and a minimizer with vanishing *q*-average, that gives the thesis of Theorem 3.27, in the case $1 < q \le 2$. To conclude the proof of Theorem 3.27, we have to study the behavior of the solutions when q = 1 and q = 2. Despite its simplicity, the case q = 1 has a peculiar behavior. Let us recall that $\lambda(0, 1) = \frac{\pi^2}{4}$, and, being $\lambda(\alpha, 1)$ is Lipschitz, it assumes all the values in the interval $\left\lfloor \frac{\pi^2}{4}, \pi^2 \right\rfloor$ as α varies in $\left\lfloor 0, +\infty \right\rfloor$.

Suppose that $\frac{\pi^2}{4} < \lambda(\alpha, 1) < \pi^2$. Then $0 < \alpha < \alpha_1$, the corresponding minimizer *y* has constant sign in] - 1, 1[, and it is a solution of

$$\begin{cases} y'' + \lambda y = \alpha \gamma & \text{in }]-1,1[\\ y(-1) = y(1) = 0, \end{cases}$$

where $\lambda = \lambda(\alpha, 1)$ and $\gamma = \int_{-1}^{1} y(x) dx > 0$. Hence

$$y(x) = \frac{\gamma \alpha}{\lambda} \left(1 - \frac{\cos(\sqrt{\lambda}x)}{\cos\sqrt{\lambda}} \right), \quad x \in [-1, 1].$$

Integrating both sides in [-1, 1], we get

$$\alpha = \frac{\lambda\sqrt{\lambda}}{2\sqrt{\lambda} - 2\tan\sqrt{\lambda}},$$

and, letting $\lambda \to \pi^2$,

$$\alpha_1 = \frac{\pi^2}{2}$$

Finally, in the critical case $\alpha = \alpha_1 = \frac{\pi^2}{2}$, an immediate computation shows that the functions

$$y_A(x) = \frac{A}{2} (1 + \cos(\pi x)) - \sqrt{1 - A} \sin(\pi x),$$

with $A \in [0,1]$ have average $\gamma = A$ and y_A are minimizers of $\lambda(\alpha_1, 1) = \pi^2$. Moreover, when *A* varies in [0,1[, the root of y_A in] – 1,1[varies continuously in [0,1[.

It remains to consider the case q = 2. If $\alpha = \alpha_2$, the corresponding positive minimizer y is a solution of

$$\begin{cases} y'' + \pi^2 y = \alpha_2 y & \text{in }] - 1, 1[\\ y(-1) = y(1) = 0. \end{cases}$$

The positivity of the eigenfunction guarantees that

$$\alpha_2 - \pi^2 = \lambda(0, 2) = \frac{\pi^2}{4},$$

e $\alpha_2 = \frac{3}{2}\pi^2.$

hence $\alpha_2 = \frac{3}{4}\pi^2$.

Remark 3.28. When 1 < q < 2, it is possible to obtain the following lower bound on α_q :

$$\alpha_q \ge \frac{3}{2^{1+\frac{2}{q}}}\pi^2.$$
(182)

To get the estimate (182), *by choosing* $u(x) = \cos \frac{\pi}{2}x$ *as test function we get*

$$\pi^{2} = \lambda(\alpha_{q}, q) \leq \mathcal{Q}[u, \alpha_{q}] = \frac{\pi^{2}}{4} + \alpha_{q} \left(\int_{-1}^{1} u^{q} dx \right)^{2/q} \leq \frac{\pi^{2}}{4} + \alpha_{q} 2^{\frac{2}{q}-1}.$$

Remark 3.29. *If the interval of integration is*]a, b[*instead of*] - 1, 1[*, then*

$$\lambda(\alpha,q;]a,b[) = \left(\frac{2}{b-a}\right)^2 \cdot \lambda\left(\left(\frac{b-a}{2}\right)^{1+\frac{2}{q}}\alpha,q\right).$$

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- G. Acosta, R. G. Durán, An optimal Poincaré inequality in L¹ for convex domains, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 132(2004): 195-202.
- [2] W. Allegretto, A. Barabanova, Positivity of solutions of elliptic equations with nonlocal terms, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A 126 (1996): 643-663.
- [3] A. Alvino, V. Ferone, G. Trombetti. *On the properties of some nonlinear eigenvalues*. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 29 (1998): 437-451.
- [4] A. Alvino, V. Ferone, G. Trombetti, P.-L. Lions *Convex symmetrization and applications*. Ann. Ins. Henry Poincaré (C) Non Linear Analysis **14.2** (1997): 275-293.
- [5] A. Alvino, G. Trombetti, Sulle migliori costanti di maggiorazione per una classe di equazioni ellittiche. Ric. Mat. 27.2 (1978): 413-428.
- [6] M. Amar, G. Bellettini, A notion of total variation depending on a metric with discontinuous coefficients. Ann. Inst. Henry Poincaré. Analyse Nonlineaire 11 (1994): 91-133.
- [7] L. Ambrosio, N. Fusco, D. Pallara, *Functions of bounded variation and free discontinuity problems*. Oxford University Press, Oxford (2000).
- [8] G. Barles, J. Busca, *Existence and comparison results for fully nonlinear degenerate elliptic equations without zeroth order term*. Comm. PDE **26** (2001): 2323-2337.
- [9] Bebendorf M., A note on the Poincaré inequality for convex domains, Z. Anal. Anwendungen 22 (2003): 751-756.
- [10] G. Bellettini, M. Novaga, Approximation and comparison for non-smooth anisotropic motion by mean curvature in \mathbb{R}^N . Math. Mod. Meth. Appl. Sci. **10.01** (2000): 1-10.
- [11] G. Bellettini, M. Paolini, Anisotropic motion by mean curvature in the context of Finsler geometry. Hokk. Math. J. 25.3 (1996): 537-566.
- [12] M. Belloni, V. Ferone, B. Kawohl, Isoperimetric inequalities, Wulff shape and related questions for strongly nonlinear elliptic operators, Z. angew. Math. Phys. 54 (2003): 771-783.
- [13] M. Belloni, B. Kawohl, A symmetry problem related to Wirtinger's and Poincaré's inequality. J. Diff. Eq. 156.1 (1999): 211-218.
- [14] M. Belloni, B. Kawohl, A direct uniqueness proof for equations involving the p-Laplace operator. Manuscripta mathematica 109 (2002): 229-231.
- [15] M. Belloni, B. Kawohl, P. Juutinen. *The p-Laplace eigenvalue problem as* $p \rightarrow \infty$ *in a Finsler metric.* J. Eur. Math. Soc. 8 (2006): 123-138.
- [16] C. Bennett, R. C. Sharpley. Interpolation of operators. Pur. Appl. Math. 129 Academic press (1988).

- [17] B. Brandolini, F. Chiacchio, E. B. Dryden, J. J. Langford, *Sharp Poincaré inequalities in a class of non-convex sets*, Journal of Spectral Theory (to appear).
- [18] B. Brandolini, F. Della Pietra, C. Nitsch, C. Trombetti, Symmetry breaking in a constrained Cheeger type isoperimetric inequality. ESAIM Control Optim. Calc. Var. 21.2 (2015): 359-371.
- [19] B. Brandolini, P. Freitas, C. Nitsch, C. Trombetti, *Sharp estimates and saturation phenomena for a nonlocal eigenvalue problem*. Adv. Math. **228.4** (2011): 2352-2365.
- [20] L. Brasco, G. Franzina, *On the Hong-Krahn-Szego inequality for the p-Laplace operator*. Manuscripta mathematica **141.3-4** (2013): 537-557.
- [21] L. Brasco, C. Nitsch, C. Trombetti, *An inequality a la Szegö-Weinberger for the p-Laplacian on convex sets*. Comm. Cont. Math. (2015): 1-23.
- [22] J. E. Brothers, W. P. Ziemer, *Minimal rearrangements of Sobolev functions*, Act. Univ. Carol. Math. Phys. 28.2 (1987): 13-24.
- [23] D. Bucur, G. Buttazzo, "Variational Methods in Shape Optimization Problems,"Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and Applications, Vol. 65, Birkhäuser, Boston (2005).
- [24] Y. D. Burago, V. A. Zalgaller, Geometric inequalities. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg (1998).
- [25] K. Burdzy, *Neumann eigenfunctions and Brownian couplings*. Potential theory in Matsue, Adv. Stud. Pure Math. 44 Math. Soc. Japan, Tokyo (2006): 11-23.
- [26] H. Buseman, *The isoperimetric problem for Minkowski area*. Amer. J. Math. **71** (1949): 743-762.
- [27] A. P. Buslaev, V. A. Kondrat'ev, A. I. Nazarov, On a family of extremal problems and related properties of an integral, Mat. Zametki, 64 (1998), N6, 830-838 (Russian); English transl.: Math. Notes 64.5-6 (1998): 719-725.
- [28] G. Buttazzo, S. Guarino Lo Bianco, M. Marini. Sharp estimates for the anisotropic torsional rigidity and the principal frequency. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 457 (2018): 1153-1172.
- [29] L. Caffarelli, F. Lin, Nonlocal heat flows preserving the L² energy. Discr. Cont. Dyn. Syst. 23 (2009): 49-64.
- [30] S. S. Chern, Z. Shen, *Riemann-Finsler geometry*. Nankai Tracts Math. 6. World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd., Hackensack, NJ (2005).
- [31] K. M. Chong, N. M. Rice, *Equimeasurable rearrangements of functions*. Queen's papers in pure and applied mathematics **28** Queen's University, Ontario (1971).
- [32] M. G. Crandall, H. Ishii, P. L. Lions. *User's guide to viscosity solutions of second order partial differential equations*. Bull. Amer.i Math. Soc. **27.1** (1992): 1-67.
- [33] G. Crasta, A. Malusa, *The distance function from the boundary in a Minkowski space*. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **359** (2007): 5725-5759.

- [34] G. Croce, B. Dacorogna. *On a generalized Wirtinger inequality*. Discr. Contin. Dyn. Syst. **9.5** (2003): 1329-1341.
- [35] G. Croce, A. Henrot, G. Pisante, *An isoperimetric inequality for a nonlinear eigenvalue problem.* Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré (C) Non Linear Analysis **29** (2012): 21-34.
- [36] G. Croce, A. Henrot, G. Pisante, Corrigendum to "An isoperimetric inequality for a nonlinear eigenvalue problem". Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré (C) Non Linear Analysis 32 (2015): 485-487
- [37] M. Cuesta, D. De Figueiredo, J.-P. Gossez, *The beginning of the Fujik spectrum for the p-Laplacian J.* Diff. Eq. **159.1** (1999): 212-238.
- [38] M. Cuesta, D. De Figueiredo, J.-P. Gossez, *A nodal domain property for the p-Laplacian*. Compt. Rend. Ac. Sci. I-Math. **330.8** (2000): 669-673.
- [39] M. Cuesta, P. Takac, A strong comparison principle for positive solutions of degenerate elliptic equations. Diff. Int. Eq. **13.4-6** (2000): 721-746.
- [40] B. Dacorogna, W. Gangbo, N. Subía, Sur une généralisation de l'inégalité de Wirtinger. Ann. Inst. Henry Poincaré, Analyse non linéaire 9.1 (1992): 29-50.
- [41] B. Dacorogna, C. E. Pfister, Wulff theorem and best constant in Sobolev inequality. J. Math. Pur. Appl. 71.2 (1992): 97-118.
- [42] E. De Giorgi, Su una teoria generale della misura (r 1)-dimensionale in uno spazio a *r* dimensioni. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. **4.36** (1954): 191-213.
- [43] F. Della Pietra, Some remarks on a shape optimization problem. Kodai Math. J. 37 (2014): 608-619.
- [44] F. Della Pietra, N. Gavitone *Symmetrization for Neumann anisotropic problems and related questions*. Adv. Nonlinear Stud. **12.2** (2012): 219-235.
- [45] F. Della Pietra, N. Gavitone, *Anisotropic elliptic equations with general growth in the gradient and Hardy-type potentials*. J. Diff. Eq. **255** (2013): 3788-3810.
- [46] F. Della Pietra, N. Gavitone, Anisotropic elliptic equations with general growth in the gradient and Hardy-type potentials. Journal of Differential Equations 255.11 (2013): 3788-3810.
- [47] F. Della Pietra, N. Gavitone, Faber-Krahn Inequality for Anisotropic Eigenvalue Problems with Robin Boundary Conditions. Pot. An. 41.4 (2014): 1147-1166.
- [48] F. Della Pietra, N. Gavitone, Sharp bounds for the first eigenvalue and the torsional rigidity related to some anisotropic operators, Mathematische Nachrichten, Vol. 287, no.2-3 (2014), pp. 194-209.
- [49] F. Della Pietra, N. Gavitone, *Symmetrization with respect to the anisotropic perimeter and applications*. Math. Ann. **363** (2015): 953-971.
- [50] F. Della Pietra, N. Gavitone, *Sharp estimates and existence for anisotropic elliptic problems with general growth in the gradient*. J. Anal. Appl. (ZAA) **35** (2016): 61-80.

- [51] F. Della Pietra, N. Gavitone, G. Piscitelli, On the second Dirichlet eigenvalue of some nonlinear anisotropic elliptic operators. Preprint https://arxiv.org/pdf/1704. 00508.pdf.
- [52] F. Della Pietra, N. Gavitone, G. Piscitelli, A sharp weighted anisotropic Poincaré inequality for convex domains. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Ser. I 355.7 (2017): 748-752.
- [53] F. Della Pietra, G. Piscitelli, A saturation phenomenon for a nonlinear nonlocal eigenvalue problem. NoDEA Nonlinear differential equations and applications 23 6 (2016): 1-18.
- [54] A. Dinghas, Über einen geometrischen Satz von Wulff für die Gleichgewichtsform von Kristallen. Z. Krist. 105 (1944): 304-314.
- [55] Y. V. Egorov, On a Kondratiev problem. C.R.A.S. Paris Ser. I 324 (1997): 503-507.
- [56] Y. V. Egorov, V. A. Kondratjev, On a Lagrange problem. C.R.A.S. Paris Ser. I 317 (1993): 903-918.
- [57] L. Esposito, B. Kawohl, C. Nitsch, C. Trombetti *The Neumann eigenvalue problem for the ∞-Laplacian*. Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Lincei Mat. Appl. 26 (2015): 119-134.
- [58] L. Esposito, C. Nitsch, C. Trombetti, *Best constants in Poincaré inequalities for convex domains*. J. Conv. Anal. **20** (2013): 253-264.
- [59] L. Esposito, C. Trombetti, Convex symmetrization and Pólya-Szegö inequality. Nonlinear Analysis 56 (2004): 43-62.
- [60] L. C. Evans, R. F. Gariepy, *Lecture notes on measure theory and fine properties of functions*. CRC Press (1992).
- [61] G. Faber, Beweis, dass unter allen homogenen Membranen von gleicher Fläche und gleicher Spannung die kreisförmige den tiefsten Grundton gibt. Verlagd. Bayer. Akad. d. Wiss. (1923).
- [62] C. Farkas, J. Fodor, A. Kristaly, Anisotropic elliptic problems involving sublinear terms. SACI 2015 - 10th Jubilee IEEE International Symposium on Applied Computational Intelligence and Informatics Proceedings 7208187 (2015): 141-146.
- [63] H. Federer, Geometric measure theory. Springer, Berlin (1969).
- [64] A. Ferone, R. Volpicelli, *Convex rearrangement: Equality cases in the Pólya-Szegö Inequality.* Calc. Var. 21 (2004): 259-272.
- [65] V. Ferone, *Riordinamenti e applicazioni*. PhD Thesis, Universitá degli Studi di Napoli (1990).
- [66] V. Ferone, C. Nitsch, C. Trombetti, *A remark on optimal weighted Poincaré inequalities for convex domains*. Rend. Lincei Mat. Appl. **23** (2012): 467-475.
- [67] I. Fonseca, The Wulff theorem revisited. Proc. Roy. Soc. London 432.1884 (1991):125-145.
- [68] I. Fonseca, S. Müller, A uniqueness proof for the Wulff theorem. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh 119 (1991): 125-136.

- [69] G. Franzina, *Existence, uniqueness, optimization and stability for low eigenvalues of some nonlinear operators*. PhD thesis, Universitá degli Studi di Trento (2012).
- [70] P. Freitas, Nonlocal reaction-diffusion equations, Fields Institute Communications, Diff. Eq. Appl. Biol. (1997): 187-204.
- [71] P. Freitas, On Minimal Eigenvalues of Schrödinger Operators on Manifolds. Comm. Math. Phys. 217.2 (2001): 375-382.
- [72] P. Freitas, A. Henrot, On the First Twisted Dirichlet Eigenvalue. Comm. Anal. Geom. 12.5 (2004): 1083-1103.
- [73] N. Fusco, *The classical isoperimetric theorem*. Rend. Acc. Sci. Fis. Mat **71** (2004): 63-107.
- [74] J. Garcia-Azorero, J. J. Manfredi, I. Peral, J. D. Rossi, *The Neumann problem for the* ∞-Laplacian and the Monge-Kantorovich mass transfer problem. Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications 66.2 (2007): 349-66.
- [75] I. V. Gerasimov, A. I. Nazarov, Best constant in a three-parameter Poincaré inequality. Probl. Mat. Anal. 61 (2011): 69-86 (Russian); English transl.: J. Math. Sci. 179.1 (2011): 80-99.
- [76] E. Giusti, Minimal Surfaces and Functions of Bounded Variation. Birkhäuser, Basel (1984).
- [77] E. Giusti, *Direct methods in the calculus of variations*. World Scientific, Singapore (2003).
- [78] G. H. Hardy, J. E. Littlewood, G. Pólya, *Inequalities*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom (1964).
- [79] A. Henrot, M. Pierre, Variation and Optimization de formes. Math. Appl. 48, Springer, Berlin (2005).
- [80] R. Jensen, P. L. Lions, P. E. Souganidis, A uniqueness result for viscosity solutions of second order fully nonlinear partial differential equations. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 102.4 (1988): 975-978.
- [81] P. Juutinen, P. Lindqvist, On the higher eigenvalues for the ∞-eigenvalue problem. Calc. Var. 23 (2005): 169-192.
- [82] P. Juutinen, P. Lindqvist and J. Manfredi. *The ∞-eigenvalue problem*. Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal. **148** (1999): 89-105.
- [83] B. Kawohl, Rearrangements and Convexity of Level Sets in PDE. Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1150, Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1980).
- [84] B. Kawohl, M. Novaga, *The p-Laplace eigenvalue problem as* $p \rightarrow 1$ *and Cheeger sets in a Finsler metric.* J. Convex. Anal. **15** (2008): 623-634.
- [85] S. Kesavan, Symmetrization & applications 3. World Scientific (2006).
- [86] E. Krahn, Über eine von Rayleigh formulierte Minimaleigenschaft des Kreises. Mathematische Annalen 94.1 (1925): 97-100.

- [87] E. Krahn, Über Minimaleigenschaften der Kugel in drei und mehr Dimensionen. Mattiesen (1926).
- [88] O. A. Ladyzhenskaya, N. N. Ural'tseva, L. Ehrenpreis, *Linear and quasilinear elliptic equations*. (1968).
- [89] P. Lindqvist, On the equation $div(|\nabla u|^{p-2}\nabla u) + \lambda |u|^{p-2}u = 0$. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. **109** (1990): 157-164.
- [90] P. Lindqvist, On nonlinear Rayleigh quotient. Potential Anal. 2 (1993): 199-218.
- [91] P. Lindqvist, Some remarkable sine and cosine functions. Ric. Mat. 44 (1995): 269-290.
- [92] P. Lindqvist. *A nonlinear eigenvalue problem*. Topics in mathematical analysis **3** (2008): 175-203.
- [93] V. G. Maz'ja, Sobolev spaces. Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1985).
- [94] J. Mossino, Inégalités isopérimétriques et applications en physique. Hermann, Paris (1985).
- [95] A. I. Nazarov, On exact constant in the generalized Poincaré inequality, Probl. Mat. Anal. 24 (2002): 155-180 (Russian); English transl.: J. Math. Sci. 112.1 (2002): 4029-4047.
- [96] A. I. Nazarov, On symmetry and asymmetry in a problem of shape optimization, arXiv:1208:3640 (2012).
- [97] L. E. Payne, H. F. Weinberger, *An optimal Poincaré inequality for convex domains*. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 5 (1960): 286-292.
- [98] R. Pinsky, Spectral analysis of a class of non-local elliptic operators related to Brownian motion with random jumps. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **361** (2009): 5041-5060.
- [99] G. Piscitelli, *Convex Symmetrization for anisotropic elliptic equations with a lower order term*, Rend. Acc. Sc. Fis. Mat. Napoli LXXXI.2 (2014): 249-264.
- [100] G. Piscitelli, A nonlocal anisotropic eigenvalue problem. Diff. Int. Eq. **29.11/12** (2016): 1001-1020.
- [101] G. Piscitelli, *The anisotropic* ∞-*Laplacian eigenvalue problem with Neumann boundary conditions*, preprint https://arxiv.org/pdf/1707.00352.pdf.
- [102] G. Pölya, G. Szegö, *Isoperimetric inequalities in mathematical physics*. Ann. Math. Studies 27 Princeton University Press (1951).
- [103] R. T. Rockafellar *Convex Analysis*. Princeton landmarks in mathematics (1997).
- [104] J. D. Rossi, N. Saintier, On the first nontrivial eigenvalue of the ∞-Laplacian with Neumann boundary conditions. Houston J. Math. 42 (2016): 613-635.
- [105] R. P. Sperb, On an eigenvalue problem arising in chemistry. Z. angew. Math. Phys. 32.4.129 (1981): 265-280.
- [106] G. Szegö, *Inequalities for certain eigenvalues of a membrane of given area*. J. Rational Mech. Anal. 3 (1954): 343-356.

- [107] G. Talenti, Linear Elliptic P.D.E.'s: Level Sets, Rearrangements and a priori Estimates of Solutions. Boll. Un. Mat. It. B 6.4-B (1985): 917-949.
- [108] G. Talenti, G. *The standard isoperimetric theorem*. Handbook Conv. Geom. A, B (1993):73-123.
- [109] G. Talenti, *Inequalities in rearrangement invariant function spaces*. Nonlinear analysis, function spaces and applications 5 Proceedings of the spring school held in Prague, May 23-28, Prometheus Publishing House, Prague (1994): 177-230.
- [110] N. S. Trudinger, On Harnack type inequalities and their application to quasilinear elliptic equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. **20** (1967): 721-747.
- [111] D. Valtorta, Sharp estimate on the first eigenvalue of the p-Laplacian, Nonlinear Anal. 75 (2012): 4974-4994.
- [112] J. Van Schaftingen, Anisotropic symmetrization, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 23 (2006): 539-565.
- [113] G. Wang, C. Xia. An optimal anisotropic Poincaré inequality for convex domains. Pacific J. Math. 258 (2012): 305-326.
- [114] G. N. Watson, A treatise on the theory of Bessel functions. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1995).
- [115] H. F. Weinberger, An isoperimetric inequality for the N-dimensional free membrane problem J. Rational Mech. Anal. 3 (1956).
- [116] G. Wulff, Zür Frage der Geschwindigkeit des Wachstums und der Auflösung der Kristallfläschen. Z. Krist. 34 (1901): 449-530.
- [117] W. P. Ziemer, Weakly differentiable functions: Sobolev spaces and functions of bounded variation Springer Science & Business Media 120 (2012).